**NONLINEAR DYNAMICS & SYSTEMS THEORY** 

Volume

11,

No.

ψ

2011

NONLINEAR An Internati	DYNAMICS AND SYSTEM ional Journal of Research and	<b>MS THEORY</b> d Surveys
Volume 11	Number 3	2011
	CONTENTS	
PERSONAGE IN SCIEN Professor A.N. Golubent Ya.M. Grigor	JCE sev enko, V.B. Larin and A.A. Martyr	223 1yuk
Weak Solutions for Bour Fractional Differential In <i>M. Benchohrd</i>	ndary-Value Problems with Nonli Iclusions 1, J.R. Graef and FZ. Mostefai	inear 227
Quasilinearization Metho Riemann-Liouville Fract Z. Denton, P.	od Via Lower and Upper Solution ional Differential Equations W. Ng and A.S. Vatsala	as for 239
Adaptive Regulation with Integrator Triangular Sys <i>Y.M. Fu, M.Z.</i>	n Almost Disturbance Decoupling stems with Nonlinear Parametriza . <i>Hou, J. Hu and L. Niu</i>	g for Power ation 253
Exponentially Long Orbi Positive Interactions <i>W. Just and G</i>	ts in Boolean Networks with Exc <i>F.A. Enciso</i>	clusively 275
Positive Solutions to an <i>P</i> Problem on Time Scales <i>Ilkay Yaslan</i> P	Vth Order Multi-point Boundary Y Karaca	Value 285
A Common Fixed Point Cone Metric Spaces <i>Jianghua Liu</i>	Theorem for a Sequence of Self N and Xi Wen	Maps in 297
Cone Inequalities and Sta A.G. Mazko	ability of Dynamical Systems	303
Periodic and Subharmon Superquadratic Hamilton M. Timoumi	ic Solutions for a Class of Nonco ian Systems	ercive 

# Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory

# **An International Journal of Research and Surveys**

**EDITOR-IN-CHIEF A.A.MARTYNYUK** 

S.P.Timoshenko Institute of Mechanics National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine, Kiev, Ukraine

# **REGIONAL EDITORS**

P.BORNE, Lille, France *Europe* 

C.CORDUNEANU, Arlington, TX, USA C.CRUZ-HERNANDEZ, Ensenada, Mexico USA, Central and South America

PENG SHI, Pontypridd, United Kingdom China and South East Asia

K.L.TEO, Perth, Australia *Australia and New Zealand* 

H.I.FREEDMAN, Edmonton, Canada North America and Canada

# Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory

An International Journal of Research and Surveys

### EDITOR-IN-CHIEF A.A.MARTYNYUK

The S.P.Timoshenko Institute of Mechanics, National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine, Nesterov Str. 3, 03680 MSP, Kiev-57, UKRAINE / e-mail: anmart@stability.kiev.ua e-mail: amartynyuk@voliacable.com

### **HONORARY EDITORS**

T.A.BURTON, Port Angeles, WA, USA S.N.VASSILYEV, Moscow, Russia

### MANAGING EDITOR I.P.STAVROULAKIS

Department of Mathematics, University of Ioannina 451 10 Ioannina, HELLAS (GREECE) / e-mail: ipstav@cc.uoi.gr

### **REGIONAL EDITORS**

P.BORNE (France), e-mail: Pierre.Borne@ec-lille.fr C.CORDUNEANU (USA), e-mail: concord@uta.edu C. CRUZ-HERNANDEZ (Mexico), e-mail: ccruz@cicese.mx P.SHI (United Kingdom), e-mail: pshi@glam.ac.uk K.L.TEO (Australia), e-mail: K.L.Teo@curtin.edu.au H.I.FREEDMAN (Canada), e-mail: hfreedma@math.ualberta.ca

### **EDITORIAL BOARD**

Artstein, Z. (Israel) Bajodah, A.H. (Saudi Arabia) Bohner, M. (USA) Braiek, N.B. (Tunisia) Chang M.-H. (USA) Chen Ye-Hwa (USA) D'Anna, A. (Italy) Dauphin-Tanguy, G. (France) Dshalalow, J.H. (USA) Eke, F.O. (USA) Fabrizio, M. (Italy) Georgiou, G. (Cyprus) Guang-Ren Duan (China) Izobov, N.A. (Belarussia) Karimi, H.R. (Norway) Khusainov, D.Ya. (Ukraine) Kloeden, P. (Germany) Kokologiannaki, C. (Greece)

Larin, V.B. (Ukraine) Leela, S. (USA) Leitmann, G. (USA) Leonov, G.A. (Russia) Limarchenko, O.S. (Ukraine) Loccufier, M. (Belgium) Lopes-Gutieres, R.M. (Mexico) Michel, A.N. (USA) Nguang Sing Kiong (New Zealand) Prado, A.F.B.A. (Brazil) Rasmussen, M. (United Kingdom) Shi Yan (Japan) Siljak, D.D. (USA) Sira-Ramirez, H. (Mexico) Sree Hari Rao, V. (India) Stavrakakis, N.M. (Greece) Vatsala, A. (USA) Wuyi Yue (Japan)

### **ADVISORY EDITOR**

A.G.MAZKO, Kiev, Ukraine e-mail: mazko@imath.kiev.ua

### ADVISORY COMPUTER SCIENCE EDITORS A.N.CHERNIENKO and L.N.CHERNETSKAYA, Kiev, Ukraine

### **ADVISORY LINGUISTIC EDITOR** S.N.RASSHYVALOVA, Kiev, Ukraine

© 2011, InforMath Publishing Group, ISSN 1562-8353 print, ISSN 1813-7385 online, Printed in Ukraine No part of this Journal may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means without permission from InforMath Publishing Group.

# **INSTRUCTIONS FOR CONTRIBUTORS**

(1) General. Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory (ND&ST) is an international journal devoted to publishing peer-refereed, high quality, original papers, brief notes and review articles focusing on nonlinear dynamics and systems theory and their practical applications in engineering, physical and life sciences. Submission of a manuscript is a representation that the submission has been approved by all of the authors and by the institution where the work was carried out. It also represents that the manuscript has not been previously published, has not been copyrighted, is not being submitted for publication elsewhere, and that the authors have agreed that the copyright in the article shall be assigned exclusively to InforMath Publishing Group by signing a transfer of copyright form. Before submission, the authors should visit the website:

### http://www.e-ndst.kiev.ua

for information on the preparation of accepted manuscripts. Please download the archive Sample\_NDST.zip containing example of article file (you can edit only the file Samplefilename.tex).

(2) Manuscript and Correspondence. Manuscripts should be in English and must meet common standards of usage and grammar. To submit a paper, send by e-mail a file in PDF format directly to

*Professor A.A. Martynyuk*, Institute of Mechanics, Nesterov str.3, 03057, MSP 680, Kiev-57, Ukraine e-mail: anmart@stability.kiev.ua; center@inmech.kiev.ua

or to one of the Regional Editors or to a member of the Editorial Board. Final version of the manuscript must typeset using LaTex program which is prepared in accordance with the style file of the Journal. Manuscript texts should contain the title of the article, name(s) of the author(s) and complete affiliations. Each article requires an abstract not exceeding 150 words. Formulas and citations should not be included in the abstract. AMS subject classifications and key words must be included in all accepted papers. Each article requires a running head (abbreviated form of the title) of no more than 30 characters. The sizes for regular papers, survey articles, brief notes, letters to editors and book reviews are: (i) 10-14 pages for regular papers, (ii) up to 24 pages for survey articles, and (iii) 2-3 pages for brief notes, letters to the editor and book reviews.

(3) Tables, Graphs and Illustrations. Each figure must be of a quality suitable for direct reproduction and must include a caption. Drawings should include all relevant details and should be drawn professionally in black ink on plain white drawing paper. In addition to a hard copy of the artwork, it is necessary to attach the electronic file of the artwork (preferably in PCX format).

(4) **References.** References should be listed alphabetically and numbered, typed and punctuated according to the following examples. Each entry must be cited in the text in form of author(s) together with the number of the referred article or in the form of the number of the referred article alone.

Journal: [1] Poincare, H. Title of the article. *Title of the Journal* Vol. 1 (No.l), Year, Pages. [Language]

Book: [2] Liapunov, A.M. *Title of the book*. Name of the Publishers, Town, Year.

Proceeding: [3] Bellman, R. Title of the article. In: *Title of the book*. (Eds.). Name of the Publishers, Town, Year, Pages. [Language]

(5) **Proofs and Sample Copy.** Proofs sent to authors should be returned to the Editorial Office with corrections within three days after receipt. The corresponding author will receive a sample copy of the issue of the Journal for which his/her paper is published.

(6) Editorial Policy. Every submission will undergo a stringent peer review process. An editor will be assigned to handle the review process of the paper. He/she will secure at least two reviewers' reports. The decision on acceptance, rejection or acceptance subject to revision will be made based on these reviewers' reports and the editor's own reading of the paper.

# NONLINEAR DYNAMICS AND SYSTEMS THEORY

An International Journal of Research and Surveys Published by InforMath Publishing Group since 2001

Volume 11

# Number 3

2011

# CONTENTS

### PERSONAGE IN SCIENCE

Professor A.N. Golubentsev
Weak Solutions for Boundary-Value Problems with Nonlinear Fractional Differential Inclusions
Quasilinearization Method Via Lower and Upper Solutions for Riemann-Liouville Fractional Differential Equations
Adaptive Regulation with Almost Disturbance Decoupling for Power Integrator Triangular Systems with Nonlinear Parametrization 253 <i>Y.M. Fu, M.Z. Hou, J. Hu and L. Niu</i>
Exponentially Long Orbits in Boolean Networks with Exclusively Positive Interactions
Positive Solutions to an Nth Order Multi-point Boundary Value Problem on Time Scales
A Common Fixed Point Theorem for a Sequence of Self Maps in Cone Metric Spaces
Cone Inequalities and Stability of Dynamical Systems
Periodic and Subharmonic Solutions for a Class of Noncoercive Superquadratic Hamiltonian Systems

Founded by A.A. Martynyuk in 2001. Registered in Ukraine Number: KB 5267 / 04.07.2001.

# NONLINEAR DYNAMICS AND SYSTEMS THEORY

An International Journal of Research and Surveys

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory (ISSN 1562–8353 (Print), ISSN 1813–7385 (Online)) is an international journal published under the auspices of the S.P. Timoshenko Institute of Mechanics of National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine and Curtin University of Technology (Perth, Australia). It aims to publish high quality original scientific papers and surveys in areas of nonlinear dynamics and systems theory and their real world applications.

### AIMS AND SCOPE

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory is a multidisciplinary journal. It publishes papers focusing on proofs of important theorems as well as papers presenting new ideas and new theory, conjectures, numerical algorithms and physical experiments in areas related to nonlinear dynamics and systems theory. Papers that deal with theoretical aspects of nonlinear dynamics and/or systems theory should contain significant mathematical results with an indication of their possible applications. Papers that emphasize applications should contain new mathematical models of real world phenomena and/or description of engineering problems. They should include rigorous analysis of data used and results obtained. Papers that integrate and interrelate ideas and methods of nonlinear dynamics and systems theory will be particularly welcomed. This journal and the individual contributions published therein are protected under the copyright by International InforMath Publishing Group.

### PUBLICATION AND SUBSCRIPTION INFORMATION

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory will have 4 issues in 2011, printed in hard copy (ISSN 1562-8353) and available online (ISSN 1813-7385), by InforMath Publishing Group, Nesterov str., 3, Institute of Mechanics, Kiev, MSP 680, Ukraine, 03057. Subscription prices are available upon request from the Publisher (mailto:anmart@stability.kiev.ua), SWETS Information Services B.V. (mailto:Operation-Academic@nl.swets.com), EBSCO Information Services (mailto:journals@ebsco.com), or website of the Journal: http://e-ndst.kiev.ua. Subscriptions are accepted on a calendar year basis. Issues are sent by airmail to all countries of the world. Claims for missing issues should be made within six months of the date of dispatch.

## ABSTRACTING AND INDEXING SERVICES

Papers published in this journal are indexed or abstracted in: Mathematical Reviews / MathSciNet, Zentralblatt MATH / Mathematics Abstracts, PASCAL database (INIST-CNRS) and SCOPUS.

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory, 11 (3) (2011) 223-225



## PERSONAGE IN SCIENCE



# Professor A.N. Golubentsev

(On the occasion of his 95th Birthday)

Ya.M. Grigorenko, V.B. Larin and A.A. Martynyuk\*

S.P. Timoshenko Institute of Mechanics National Academy of Science of Ukraine, Nesterov Str. 3, Kiev, 03057, Ukraine

March 29, 2011 marked the 95th Birthday of the well-known scientist in the area of general mechanics, Professor A.N. Golubentsev who was born to the family of a railway worker in Raskatikha railway station of Tomsk railway (Russia).

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author: mailto:center@inmech.kiev.ua

<sup>© 2011</sup> InforMath Publishing Group/1562-8353 (print)/1813-7385 (online)/http://e-ndst.kiev.ua 223

#### PROFESSOR A.N. GOLUBENTSEV

He started working at a very early age. He became a mechanic's assistant at a locomotive depot in the Topki railway station of Tomsk railway when he was just 13. After finishing a factory-and-workshop training course he entered the Kemerov Mining Secondary School. Later on, he graduated with distinction from Tomsk Industrial Institute.

In 1941 Golubentsev married Valentina Grigorievna Pozhidayeva and lived with her until his death in 1971. The Golubentsev had two children — daughter Eleonora (1942 – 2008) and son Aleksander (1945 – 2008), granddaughter Helen and three grand grand-children.

From 1933 to 1953, Golubentsev was employed at several enterprises of coil mining industry in the former USSR. He was a master mechanic and a chief mechanic of coal mining enterprises in Kuzbass (Russia) and Donbass (Ukraine).

In 1953 he defended his candidate thesis (Ph.D.) on the problems of electric drive of a winder and in 1956 he received his doctoral degree (Habilitation Degree) defending his thesis "Dynamics of machines with elastic constraints". From 1955 to 1958 Golubentsev was the Head of the Department at Gostekhnika of USSR (Moscow) and then he became a deputy chairman of the State Scientific and Technical Committee of the Council of Ministers of Ukrainian SSR.

Starting from 1959, A.N. Golubentsev sank into scientific and scientific-organizational activities at the Institute of Building Mechanics of the Academy of Sciences of UkrSSR (now the S.P.Timoshenko Institute of Mechanics of the National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine). When he was a deputy director of the Institute, he proposed a program reorganizing areas of research conducted at the Institute. As a result, the Institute of Structural Mechanics of AN of UkrSSR was renamed the "Institute of Mechanics of AN of UkrSSR" and the research fellows of the Institute became involved in modern analysis of continuum mechanics, mechanics of composite materials and general mechanics with the applications to rocket science and other applied areas. In view of the significance of new investigations and due to Golubentsev's efforts the research team of the Institute was granted a BESM-2M computer which was the first one in the Ukrainian SSR. This fact was of great importance for the fulfillment of current tasks of national economy and the defense industry. In 1959 - 1965, Golubentsev chaired the Department of Motion Dynamics and Stability of the Institute. He upheld the development of new perspective areas, but he was not always supported by a number of scholars who adhered to the traditional directions of investigations. In 1965, the Department of Motion Dynamics and Stability was integrated into the Institute of Hydrodynamics of AN of UkrSSR at which the problem of motion stability of ekranoplans, i.e. ram wing surface effect vehicles serving for the military, was tackled at that time. Later on, Golubentsev, together with the corresponding member of the Academy of Sciences of UkrSSR S.N. Kozhevnikov founded the Sector of Mechanics of Machines at the Institute of Geotechnical Mechanics of AN UkrSSR.

Golubentsev's intense scientific research gave rise to the development of the theory of transitional processes in machines with elastic links and yielded new significant results on optimization of processes in the parameter space of the machines. These results have been presented in a series of his monographs [1 - 4].

Golubentsev's keen sense of responsibility for all the matters he dealt with, including his analysis of the model of the socialist system at that time, motivated him to make an attempt to improve the economy in the former USSR on a strictly mathematical basis. It is clear that such an unveiled intention was fruitless, since many advocates of a more conservative model of socialism did not share his enthusiasm. Nevertheless, these attempts resulted in development of a new direction in mathematical economics — the econo-thermodynamics. The prime postulate of this theory is the well-known statement of Karl Marx that the economic epochs do not differ by what is produced but by how (i.e. with what means) it is produced. The theory of econo-thermodynamics developed by Golubentsev is laid out in his monograph [5].

Alongside his research activity, Golubentsev spent much time nurturing his postgraduate students. He produced a total of 18 people with Ph.D. and 2 people with Habilitation degrees in the areas of mechanics of machines and theoretical mechanics.

Golubentsev's merits were recognized with seven prestigious Government awards.

Golubentsev suddenly died on October 11, 1971 due to a heart failure.

He always upheld new ideas of important problems in mechanics and encouraged young researchers striving to develop appropriate methods of their solutions. His talks presented at seminars and conferences were always well-spoken, while sometimes irrespective of ranks and positions of the people he referred to. In these cases he was guided by only his scientific conscious and wisdom.

Golubentsev was a good-hearted and benevolent person. He was a true patriot of his country being totally dedicated to its service. He made a significant contribution to the development of his country. His scientific discoveries will always belong to the treasures of world science and remain in demand by young researches in mechanics and mathematical economics.

#### The list of principle publications by A.N. Golubentsev:

1. A.N. Golubentsev. *Start of Asynchronous Engine of a Winder*. Kiev, GITTL UkrSSR, 1959.

2. A.N. Golubentsev. Dynamics of Transient Processes in Machines with Many Masses. Moscow, GNTI, 1959.

3. A.N. Golubentsev. Integral Methods in Dynamics. Kiev, Tekhnika, 1967.

4. A.N. Golubentsev. Generalized Input in Dynamics. Kiev, Tekhnika, 1971.

5. A.N. Golubentsev. Thermodynamics of Production Process. Kiev, Tekhnika, 1969.

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory, 11 (3) (2011) 227-237



# Weak Solutions for Boundary-Value Problems with Nonlinear Fractional Differential Inclusions

M. Benchohra<sup>1</sup>, J. R. Graef<sup>2\*</sup> and F.-Z. Mostefai<sup>3</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> Laboratoire de Mathématiques, Université de Sidi Bel-Abbès, BP 89, 22000 Sidi Bel-Abbès, Algérie
 <sup>2</sup> Department of Mathematics, University of Tennessee at Chattanooga, Chattanooga, TN 37403, USA
 <sup>3</sup> Département de Mathématiques, Université de Saida, BP 138 Cité Ennasr, 20000 Saida, Algérie

Received: December 22, 2010; Revised: July 20, 2011

**Abstract:** This paper deals with the existence of solutions, under the Pettis integrability assumption, for a class of boundary value problems for fractional differential inclusions involving nonlinear integral conditions. Our results are based on the technique of measures of weak noncompactness and a fixed point theorem of Mönch type.

**Keywords:** boundary value problem; differential inclusion; Caputo fractional derivative; measure of weak noncompactness; Pettis integrals; weak solution.

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 26A33, 34A60, 34B15, 34G20.

### 1 Introduction

This note is concerned with the existence of solutions of the boundary value problem with fractional order differential inclusions and nonlinear integral conditions of the form

$${}^{c}D^{\alpha}x(t) \in F(t, x(t)), \text{ for a.e. } t \in J = [0, T], \ 1 < \alpha \le 2,$$
 (1)

$$x(0) - x'(0) = \int_0^T g(s, x(s)) ds,$$
(2)

$$x(T) + x'(T) = \int_0^T h(s, x(s)) ds,$$
(3)

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author: mailto:John-Graef@utc.edu

<sup>© 2011</sup> InforMath Publishing Group/1562-8353 (print)/1813-7385 (online)/http://e-ndst.kiev.ua 227

where  ${}^{c}D^{\alpha}$ ,  $1 < \alpha \leq 2$ , is the Caputo fractional derivative,  $F : J \times E \to P(E)$  is a multivalued map, E is a Banach space with the norm  $\|\cdot\|$ , P(E) is the family of all nonempty subsets of E, and g,  $h : J \times E \to E$  are given functions satisfying some assumptions that will be specified later.

Differential equations of fractional order have recently proved to be valuable tools in the modeling of many phenomena in various fields of science and engineering. Indeed, we can find numerous applications in viscoelasticity, electrochemistry, control theory, porous media, electromagnetism, etc. (see [18, 24, 30]). There has been a significant development in the study of fractional differential equations and inclusions in recent years; see the monographs of Kilbas *et al.* [21], Lakshmikantham *et al.* [23], Podlubny [30], and the papers [2, 3, 11, 17, 28].

Boundary value problems with integral boundary conditions constitute a very interesting and important class of problems. They include two, three, multi-point, and nonlocal boundary value problems as special cases. Integral boundary conditions are often encountered in various applications; it is worthwhile mentioning the applications of those conditions in the study of population dynamics [13] and cellular systems [1]. Moreover, boundary value problems with integral boundary conditions have been studied by a number of authors such as Arara and Benchohra [4], Benchohra *et al.* [10], Infante [20], and the references therein.

In our investigation we apply the method associated with the technique of measures of weak noncompactness and a fixed point theorem of Mönch type. This technique was mainly initiated in the monograph of Bana's and Goebel [6] and subsequently developed and used in many papers; see, for example, Bana's *et al.* [7], Guo *et al.* [19], Krzyska and Kubiaczyk [22], Lakshmikantham and Leela [23], Mönch [25], O'Regan [26, 27], Szufla [32], Szufla and Szukala [33], and the references therein. In [8, 12] Benchohra *et al.* considered some classes of boundary value problems for fractional order differential equations in Banach space by means of the strong measure of noncompactness. As far as we know, they are very few results devoted to weak solutions of boundary value problems for nonlinear fractional differential equations [9]. The present results complement and extend those considered with the strong measure of noncompactness [8, 12].

### 2 Preliminaries

We will briefly recall some basic definitions and facts from multivalued analysis that we will use in the sequel. Let E be the real Banach space with norm  $\|\cdot\|$  and dual space  $E^*$ , and let  $(E, w) = (E, \sigma(E, E^*))$  denote the space E with its weak topology. Here, C(J, E) is the Banach space of all continuous functions  $x : J \to E$  with the usual supremum norm

$$||x||_{\infty} = \sup\{||x(t)|| : t \in J\}.$$

We let  $L^1(J, E)$  denote the Banach space of functions  $x : J \to E$  that are Lebesgue integrable with norm

$$\|x\|_{L^1} = \int_0^T \|x(t)\| dt$$

and  $L^\infty(J,E)$  denote the Banach space of bounded measurable functions  $x:J\to E$  equipped with the norm

$$||x||_{L^{\infty}} = \inf\{c > 0 : ||x(t)|| \le c \ a.e. \ t \in J\}.$$

Also,  $AC^1(J, E)$  will denote the space of functions  $x : J \to E$  that are absolutely continuous and whose first derivative, x', is absolutely continuous.

Let  $(E, \|\cdot\|)$  be a Banach space and let  $P_{cl}(E) = \{Y \in P(E) : Y \text{ is closed}\}, P_b(E) = \{Y \in P(E) : Y \text{ is bounded}\}, P_{cp}(E) = \{Y \in P(E) : Y \text{ is compact}\}, \text{ and } P_{cp,cv}(E) = \{Y \in P(E) : Y \text{ is compact and convex}\}. A multivalued map <math>F : E \to P(E)$  is convex (closed) valued if F(x) is convex (closed) for all  $x \in E$ . We say that F is bounded on bounded sets if  $F(B) = \bigcup_{x \in B} F(x)$  is bounded in E for all  $B \in P_b(E)$  (i.e.,  $\sup_{x \in B} \{\sup\{\|y\| : y \in F(x)\}\} < \infty$ ). The mapping F is called upper semi-continuous (u.s.c.) on E if for each  $x_0 \in E$ , the set  $F(x_0)$  is a nonempty closed subset of E, and for each open set N of E containing  $F(x_0)$ , there exists an open neighborhood  $N_0$  of  $x_0$  such that  $F(N_0) \subseteq N$ . The mapping F has a fixed point if there is  $x \in E$  such that  $x \in F(x)$ .

For more details on multivalued maps see the books of Aubin and Frankowska [5] and Deimling [15]. We will need the following definitions in the sequel.

**Definition 2.1** A function  $h: E \to E$  is said to be weakly sequentially continuous if h takes each weakly convergent sequence in E to a weakly convergent sequence in E (i.e., for any  $(x_n)_n$  in E with  $x_n(t) \to x(t)$  in (E, w) for each  $t \in J$ , we have  $h(x_n(t)) \to h(x(t))$  in (E, w) for each  $t \in J$ ).

**Definition 2.2** A function  $F: Q \to P_{cl,cv}(Q)$  has a weakly sequentially closed graph if for any sequence  $(x_n, y_n)_1^{\infty} \in Q \times Q$ ,  $y_n \in F(x_n)$  for  $n \in \{1, 2, ...\}$  with  $x_n(t) \to x(t)$ in  $(E, \omega)$  for each  $t \in J$  and  $y_n(t) \to y(t)$  in  $(E, \omega)$  for each  $t \in J$ , then  $y \in F(x)$ .

**Definition 2.3** [29] The function  $x : J \to E$  is said to be Pettis integrable on J if and only if there is an element  $x_I \in E$  corresponding to each  $I \subset J$  such that  $\varphi(x_I) = \int_I \varphi(x(s)) ds$  for all  $\varphi \in E^*$  where the integral on the right is assumed to exist in the sense of Lebesgue. By definition,  $x_I = \int_I x(s) ds$ .

Let P(J, E) be the space of all *E*-valued Pettis integrable functions in the interval *J*.

**Proposition 2.1** [16, 29] If  $x(\cdot)$  is Pettis integrable and  $h(\cdot)$  is a measurable and essentially bounded real-valued function, then  $x(\cdot)h(\cdot)$  is Pettis integrable.

**Definition 2.4** [14] Let *E* be a Banach space,  $\Omega_E$  be the bounded subsets of *E*, and  $B_1$  be the unit ball in *E*. The De Blasi measure of weak noncompactness is the map  $\beta : \Omega_E \to [0, \infty]$  defined by

 $\beta(X) = \inf\{\epsilon > 0 : \text{there exists a weakly compact subset } \Omega \text{ of } E \text{ such that } X \subset \epsilon B_1 + \Omega \}.$ 

**Properties:** The De Blasi measure of noncompactness satisfies the following properties:

- (a)  $A \subset B \implies \beta(A) \leq \beta(B);$
- (b)  $\beta(A) = 0 \iff A$  is relatively compact;
- (c)  $\beta(A \cup B) = \max\{\beta(A), \beta(B)\};$
- (d)  $\beta(\overline{A}^{\omega}) = \beta(A)$ , where  $\overline{A}^{\omega}$  denotes the weak closure of A;
- (e)  $\beta(A+B) \leq \beta(A) + \beta(B);$
- (f)  $\beta(\lambda A) = |\lambda|\beta(A);$

- (g)  $\beta(conv(A)) = \beta(A);$
- (h)  $\beta(\bigcup_{|\lambda| \le h} \lambda A) = h\beta(A).$

The following result follows directly from the Hahn–Banach theorem.

**Proposition 2.2** Let E be a normed space with  $x_0 \neq 0$ . Then there exists  $\varphi \in E^*$  with  $\|\varphi\| = 1$  and  $\varphi(x_0) = \|x_0\|$ .

For completeness, we recall the definitions of the Pettis-integral and the Caputo derivative of fractional order.

**Definition 2.5** ([31]) Let  $h: J \to E$  be a function. The fractional Pettis integral of the function h of order  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}_+$  is defined by

$$I^{\alpha}h(t) = \int_0^t \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} h(s) ds,$$

where the sign " $\int$ " denotes the Pettis integral and  $\Gamma$  is the Gamma function.

**Definition 2.6** ([21]) For a function  $h: I \to E$ , the Caputo fractional-order derivative of h is defined by

$${}^{c}D^{\alpha}h(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \int_{0}^{t} \frac{h^{(n)}(s)ds}{(t-s)^{1-n+\alpha}},$$

where  $n = [\alpha] + 1$  and  $[\alpha]$  denotes the integer part of  $\alpha$ .

The following theorem will be used to prove our main result.

**Theorem 2.1** Let E be a Banach space with Q a nonempty, bounded, closed, convex, equicontinuous subset of C([0,T], E). Suppose  $F : Q \to P_{cl,cv}(Q)$  has a weakly sequentially closed graph. If the implication

$$\overline{V} = \overline{conv}(\{0\} \cup F(V)) \Longrightarrow V \quad is \ relatively \ weakly \ compact \tag{4}$$

holds for every subset  $V \subset Q$ , then the operator inclusion  $x \in F(x)$  has a solution in Q.

### 3 Existence of Solutions

Let us start by defining what we mean by a solution of the problem (1)-(3).

**Definition 3.1** A function  $x \in AC^1(J, E)$  is said to be a solution of (1)–(3), if there exists a function  $v \in L^1(J, E)$  with  $v(t) \in F(t, x(t))$  for a.e.  $t \in J$ , such that

$$^{c}D^{\alpha}x(t) = v(t)$$
 a.e.  $t \in J, 1 < \alpha \leq 2,$ 

and the function x satisfies the boundary conditions (2) and (3).

For any  $x \in C(J, E)$ , we define the set

$$S_{F,x} = \{ v \in L^1(J, E) : v(t) \in F(t, x(t)) \text{ for a.e. } t \in J \}.$$

This is known as the set of *selection functions*.

For the existence of solutions to the problem (1)-(3), we need the following auxiliary lemmas.

**Lemma 3.1** [34] Let  $\alpha > 0$ ; then the differential equation  ${}^{c}D^{\alpha}h(t) = 0$  has the solutions  $h(t) = c_0 + c_1t + c_2t^2 + \ldots + c_{n-1}t^{n-1}$ , where  $c_i \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $i = 0, 1, 2, \ldots, n-1$ , and  $n = [\alpha] + 1$ .

**Lemma 3.2** [34] Let  $\alpha > 0$ ; then  $I^{\alpha c}D^{\alpha}h(t) = h(t) + c_0 + c_1t + c_2t^2 + \ldots + c_{n-1}t^{n-1}$ for some  $c_i \in \mathbb{R}, i = 0, 1, 2, \ldots, n-1$ , where  $n = \lceil \alpha \rceil + 1$ .

As a consequence of Lemmas 3.1 and 3.2, we have the following result which will be useful in the remainder of the paper.

**Lemma 3.3** Let  $1 < \alpha \leq 2$  and let  $\sigma, \sigma_1, \sigma_2 : J \to E$  be continuous. A function x is a solution of the fractional integral equation

$$x(t) = P(t) + \int_0^T G(t,s)\sigma(s)ds$$
(5)

with

$$P(t) = \frac{(T+1-t)}{T+2} \int_0^T \sigma_1(s) ds + \frac{(t+1)}{T+2} \int_0^T \sigma_2(s) ds$$
(6)

and

$$G(t,s) = \begin{cases} \frac{(t-s)^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} - \frac{(1+t)(T-s)^{\alpha-1}}{(T+2)\Gamma(\alpha)} - \frac{(1+t)(T-s)^{\alpha-2}}{(T+2)\Gamma(\alpha-1)}, & 0 \le s \le t, \\ -\frac{(1+t)(T-s)^{\alpha-1}}{(T+2)\Gamma(\alpha)} - \frac{(1+t)(T-s)^{\alpha-2}}{(T+2)\Gamma(\alpha-1)}, & t \le s < T, \end{cases}$$
(7)

if and only if x is a solution of the fractional boundary value problem

$${}^{c}D^{\alpha}x(t) = \sigma(t), \quad t \in J,$$
  
 $x(0) - x'(0) = \int_{0}^{T} \sigma_{1}(s)ds, \quad x(T) + x'(T) = \int_{0}^{T} \sigma_{2}(s)ds.$ 

Let

$$\tilde{G} = \sup\left\{\int_0^T |G(t,s)| ds, \ t \in J\right\}.$$

We are now in a position to state and prove our existence result for the problem (1)-(3). We first list the following hypotheses:

(H1)  $F: J \times E \to P_{cp,cl,cv}(E)$  has weakly sequentially closed graph.

- (H2) For each  $t \in J$ ,  $g(t, \cdot)$  and  $h(t, \cdot)$  are weakly sequentially continuous.
- (H3) For each continuous  $x: J \to E$ , there exists a scalarly measurable function  $v: J \to E$  with  $v(t) \in F(t, x(t))$  a.e. on J and v is Pettis integrable on J.
- (H4) For each  $x \in C(J, E)$ ,  $g(\cdot, x(\cdot))$  and  $h(\cdot, x(\cdot))$  are Pettis integrable on J.
- (H5) There exist  $p \in L^{\infty}(J, \mathbb{R}^+)$  and a continuous nondecreasing function  $\psi : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$  such that

$$||F(t,x)|| = \sup\{|v| : v \in F(t,x)\} \le p(t)\psi(||x||).$$

(H6) There exist  $\phi_g \in L^1(J, \mathbb{R}^+)$  and a continuous nondecreasing function  $\psi^* : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$  such that

$$||g(t,x)|| \le \phi_g(t)\psi^*(||x||).$$

(H7) There exist  $\phi_h \in L^1(J, \mathbb{R}^+)$  and a continuous nondecreasing function  $\bar{\psi} : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$  such that

$$||h(t,x)|| \le \phi_h(t)\psi(||x||).$$

(H8) there exists a number R > 0 such that

$$\frac{R}{a\psi^*(R) + b\bar{\psi}(R) + c\tilde{G}\psi(R)} > 1,$$
(8)

where

$$a = \frac{T+1}{T+2} \int_0^T \phi_g(s) ds, \quad b = \frac{T+1}{T+2} \int_0^T \phi_h(s) ds, \text{ and } c = \|p\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$

(H9) For each bounded set  $Q \subset E$  and each  $t \in J$ ,

$$\beta(F(t,Q)) \le p(t)\beta(Q),\tag{9}$$

$$\beta(g(t,Q)) \le \phi_g(t)\beta(Q),\tag{10}$$

$$\beta(h(t,Q)) \le \phi_h(t)\beta(Q). \tag{11}$$

**Theorem 3.1** Let E be a Banach space. Assume that hypotheses (H1)–(H9) hold. If

$$\frac{T+1}{T+2} \int_0^T [\phi_g(s) + \phi_h(s)] ds + \tilde{G} \|p\|_{L^{\infty}} < 1,$$
(12)

then the problem (1)-(3) has at least one solution.

**Proof** We transform the problem (1)–(3) into fixed point problem by considering the multivalued operator  $N: C(J, E) \to P_{cl,cv}(C(J, E))$  defined by

$$N(y) = \left\{ h \in C(J, E) : h(t) = P_x(t) + \int_0^T G(t, s) \upsilon(s) ds, \upsilon \in S_{F, x} \right\},$$
 (13)

where

$$P_x(t) = \frac{T+1-t}{T+2} \int_0^T g(s, x(s))ds + \frac{t+1}{T+2} \int_0^T h(s, x(s))ds$$

and the function  $G(\cdot, \cdot)$  is given by (7). Clearly, from Lemma 3.3, the fixed points of N are solutions of the problem (1)–(3). We first show that (13) makes sense. To see this, let  $x \in C(J, E)$ ; by (H3) there exists a Pettis integrable function  $v : J \to E$  such that  $v(t) \in F(t, x(t))$  for a.e.  $t \in J$ . Since  $G(t, \cdot) \in L^{\infty}(J)$ , then  $G(t, \cdot)v(\cdot)$  is Pettis integrable and thus N is well defined.

Let  $R \in \mathbb{R}^*_+$ , and consider the set

$$Q = \left\{ x \in C(J, E) : \|x\|_{\infty} \le R \text{ and } \|x(t_1) - x(t_2)\| \le \frac{|t_1 - t_2|}{T + 2} \psi^*(R) \int_0^T \phi_g(s) ds + \frac{|t_1 - t_2|}{T + 2} \bar{\psi}(R) \int_0^T \phi_h(s) ds + \|p\|_{L^{\infty}} \psi(R) \int_0^T \|G(t_2, s) - G(t_1, s)\| ds \text{ for } t_1, t_2 \in J \right\}.$$

Notice that Q is a closed, convex, bounded and equicontinuous subset of C(J, E). We shall show that N satisfies the assumptions of Theorem 2.1.

**Step 1:** N(x) is convex for each  $x \in Q$ .

Indeed, if  $h_1$  and  $h_2$  belong to N(x), then there exists Pettis integrable functions  $v_1(t), v_2(t) \in F(t, x(t))$  such that, for all  $t \in J$ , we have:

$$h_i(t) = P_x(t) + \int_0^T G(t,s)v_i(s)ds, \ i = 1, 2.$$

Let  $0 \leq \lambda \leq 1$ ; then, for each  $t \in J$ , we have:

$$(\lambda h_1 + (1 - \lambda)h_2)(t) = P_y(t) + \int_0^T G(t, s)[\lambda v_1(s) - (1 - \lambda)v_2(s)]ds.$$

Since F has convex values,  $(\lambda v_1 + (1-\lambda)v_2)(t) \in F(t, x(t))$ , and we have  $\lambda h_1 + (1-\lambda)h_2 \in N(x)$ .

Step 2: N maps Q into Q.

To see this, take  $u \in NQ$ . Then there exists  $x \in Q$  with  $u \in N(x)$  and there exists a Pettis integrable function  $v : J \to E$  with  $v(t) \in F(t, x(t))$  for a.e.  $t \in J$ . Without loss of generality, we assume  $u(s) \neq 0$  for all  $s \in J$ . Then, there exists  $\varphi_s \in E^*$  with  $\|\varphi_s\| = 1$  and  $\varphi_s(u(s)) = \|u(s)\|$ . Hence, for each fixed  $t \in J$ , we have:

$$\begin{aligned} \|u(t)\| &= \varphi_t(u(t)) \\ &= \varphi_t\left(P_x(t) + \int_0^T G(t,s)v(s)ds\right) \\ &\leq \varphi_t(P_x(t)) + \varphi_t\left(\int_0^T G(t,s)v(s)ds\right) \\ &\leq \|P_x(t)\| + \int_0^T \|G(t,s)\|\varphi_t(v(s))ds \\ &\leq \frac{T+1}{T+2}\psi^*(\|x\|_{\infty})\int_0^T \phi_g(s)ds + \frac{T+1}{T+2}\bar{\psi}(\|x\|_{\infty})\int_0^T \phi_h(s)ds \\ &+ \tilde{G}\psi(\|x\|_{\infty})\|p\|_{L^{\infty}}. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, by (H8),

$$\|u\|_{\infty} \leq \frac{T+1}{T+2}\psi^{*}(R)\int_{0}^{T}\phi_{g}(s)ds + \frac{T+1}{T+2}\bar{\psi}(R)\int_{0}^{T}\phi_{h}(s)ds + \tilde{G}\psi(R)\|p\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq R.$$

Next suppose  $u \in NQ$  and  $t_1, t_2 \in J$  with  $t_1 < t_2$  so that  $u(t_2) - u(t_1) \neq 0$ . Then, there exist  $\varphi \in E^*$  such that  $||u(t_2) - u(t_1)|| = \varphi(u(t_2) - u(t_1))$ . Thus,

$$\begin{split} \|u(t_2) - u(t_1)\| &= \varphi \left( P_x(t_2) - P_x(t_1) + \int_0^T (G(t_2, s) - G(t_1, s))v(s)ds \right) \\ &\leq \varphi(P_x(t_2) - P_x(t_1)) + \varphi \left( \int_0^T (G(t_2, s) - G(t_1, s))v(s)ds \right) \\ &\leq \|P_x(t_2) - P_x(t_1)\| + \int_0^T \|G(t_2, s) - G(t_1, s)\| \|v(s)\| ds \\ &\leq \frac{(t_2 - t_1)}{T + 2} \psi^*(R) \int_0^T \phi_g(s)ds + \frac{(t_2 - t_1)}{T + 2} \bar{\psi}(R) \int_0^T \phi_h(s)ds \\ &+ \psi(R) \|p\|_{L^{\infty}} \int_0^T \|G(t_2, s) - G(t_1, s)\| ds. \end{split}$$

Therefore,  $u \in Q$ .

**Step 3:** *N* has a weakly sequentially closed graph.

Let  $(x_n, y_n)_1^\infty$  be a sequence in  $Q \times Q$  with  $x_n(t) \to x(t)$  in  $(E, \omega)$  for each  $t \in J$ ,  $y_n(t) \to y(t)$  in  $(E, \omega)$  for each  $t \in J$ , and  $y_n \in N(x_n)$  for  $n \in \{1, 2, ...\}$ . We shall show that  $y \in Nx$ . By the relation  $y_n \in N(x_n)$ , we mean that there exists  $v_n \in S_{F,x_n}$  such that

$$y_n(t) = P_{x_n}(t) + \int_0^T G(t, s)v_n(s)ds.$$

We must show that there exists  $v \in S_{F,x}$  such that, for each  $t \in J$ ,

$$y(t) = P_x(t) + \int_0^T G(t,s)\upsilon(s)ds.$$

Since  $F(\cdot, \cdot)$  has compact values, there exists a subsequence  $v_{n_m}$  such that

$$v_{n_m}(\cdot) \to v(\cdot)$$
 in  $(E, \omega)$  as  $m \to \infty$ 

and

$$v_{n_m}(t) \in F(t, x_n(t))$$
 a.e.  $t \in J$ .

Since  $F(t, \cdot)$  has a weakly sequentially closed graph,  $v \in F(t, x)$ . The Lebesgue Dominated Convergence Theorem for the Pettis integral then implies that for each  $\varphi \in E^*$ ,

$$\varphi(y_n(t)) = \varphi\left(P_{x_n}(t) + \int_0^T G(t,s)v_n(s)ds\right) \to \varphi\left(P_x(t) + \int_0^T G(t,s)v(s)ds\right)$$

i.e.,  $y_n(t) \to Nx(t)$  in  $(E, \omega)$ . We can repeat this for each  $t \in J$ , so  $y(t) \in Nx(t)$ .

**Step 4:** The implication (4) holds.

Now let V be a subset of Q such that  $V = \overline{conv}(N(V) \cup \{0\})$ . Clearly,  $V(t) \subset \overline{conv}(N(V) \cup \{0\})$  for all  $t \in J$ . Also,  $NV(t) \subset NQ(t)$ , for each  $t \in J$ , and is bounded in

P(E). By (H9) and the properties of the measure  $\beta$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \beta(NV(t)) &= \beta \left\{ P_x(t) + \int_0^T G(t,s)v(s)ds : v \in S_{F,x}, \ x \in V, \ t \in J \right\} \\ &\leq \beta \left\{ P_x(t) : \ x \in V, \ t \in J \right\} \\ &+ \beta \left\{ \int_0^T G(t,s)v(s)ds : v \in S_{F,x}, \ x \in V, \ t \in J \right\} \\ &\leq \beta \left\{ \frac{T+1-t}{T+2} \int_0^T g(s,x(s))ds + \frac{t+1}{T+2} \int_0^T h(s,x(s))ds : x \in V \right\} \\ &+ \beta \left\{ \int_0^T G(t,s)v(s)ds : v(t) \in F(t,x(t)), \ x \in V, \ t \in J \right\} \\ &\leq \int_0^T \frac{T+1-t}{T+2} \phi_g(s)\beta(V(s))ds + \int_0^T \frac{t+1}{T+2} \phi_h(s)\beta(V(s))ds \\ &+ \int_0^T \|G(t,s)\|p(s)\beta(V(s))ds + \frac{T+1}{T+2} \int_0^T \phi_h(s)\beta(V(s))ds \\ &+ \int_0^T \|G(t,s)\|p(s)\beta(V(s))ds \end{split}$$

for each  $t \in J$ . This means that

$$\|v\|_{\infty} \le \|v\|_{\infty} \left[ \frac{T+1}{T+2} \int_{0}^{T} (\phi_{g}(s) + \phi_{h}(s)) ds + \tilde{G} \int_{0}^{T} p(s) ds \right]$$

i.e.,

$$\|v\|_{\infty} \left[1 - \frac{T+1}{T+2} \int_0^T (\phi_g(s) + \phi_h(s)) ds + \tilde{G} \|p\|_{\infty}\right] \le 0.$$

By (12) it follows that  $||v||_{\infty} = 0$ . Thus, V is weakly relatively compact. Applying Theorem 2.1, we conclude that N has a fixed point that is a solution of the problem (1)-(3).  $\Box$ 

### References

- Adomian, G. and Adomian, G. E. Cellular systems and aging models, Comput. Math. Appl. 11 (1985) 283–291.
- [2] Agarwal, R. P., Benchohra, M. and Hamani, S. A survey on existence result of boundary value problems of nonlinear fractional differential equations and inclusions. *Acta Appl. Math.* **109** (2010) 973–1033.
- [3] Ahmad, B. and Nieto, J. J. Existence results of nonlinear boundary value problems of fractional integrodifferential equations with integral boundary conditions. *Bound. Value. Probl.* (2009) Article ID708576, 11 pages.
- [4] Arara, A. and Benchohra, M. Fuzzy solutions for boundary value problems with integral boundary conditions. Acta Math. Univ. Comenianae LXXV (2006) 119–126.

- [5] Aubin, J. P. and Frankowska, H. Set-Valued Analysis. Birkhauser, Boston, 1990.
- [6] Banaš, J. and Goebel, K. Measures of Noncompactness in Banach Spaces. Marcel Dekker, New York, 1980.
- [7] Banas, J. and Sadarangani, K. On some measures of noncompactness in the space of continuous functions. Nonlinear Anal. 68 (2008) 377–383.
- [8] Benchohra, M., Cabada, A. and Seba, D. An existence result for nonlinear fractional differential equations on Banach spaces. *Bound. Value Probl.* 2009, Art. ID 628916, 11 pages.
- [9] Benchohra, M., Graef, J. R. and Mostefai, F. Weak solutions for nonlinear fractional differential equations on reflexive Banach spaces. *Electron. J. Qual. Theory Differ. Equ.* 2010 (54) 10 pages.
- [10] Benchohra, M., Hamani, S. and Henderson, J. Functional differential inclusions with integral boundary conditions. *Eletron. J. Qual. Theory Differ. Equ.* 2007 (15) 13 pages.
- [11] Benchohra, M., Henderson, J., Ntouyas, S. K. and Ouahab, A. Existence results for fractional functional differential inclusions with infinite delay and applications to control theory. *Fract. Calc. Appl. Anal.* **11** (2008) 35–56.
- [12] Benchohra, M., Henderson, J. and Seba, D. Measure of noncompactness and fractional differential equations in Banach spaces. *Commun. Appl. Anal.* 12 (2008) 419–427.
- [13] Blayneh, K. W. Analysis of age structured host-parasitoid model. Far East J. Dyn. Syst. 4 (2002) 125–145.
- [14] De Blasi, F. S. On the property of the unit sphere in a Banach space. Bull. Math. Soc. Sci. Math. Roumanie (N.S.) 21 (1977) 259–262.
- [15] Deimling, K. Multivalued Differential Equations. De Gruyter, Berlin-New York, 1992.
- [16] Diestel, J. and Uhl Jr., J. J. Vector Measures. In: Math. Surveys, vol. 15, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1977.
- [17] El-Sayed, A. M. A. and Ibrahim, A. G. Multivalued fractional differential equations, Appl. Math. Comput. 68 (1995) 15–25.
- [18] Glockle, W. G. and Nonnenmacher, T. F. A fractional calculus approach of self-similar protein dynamics. *Biophys. J.* 68 (1995) 46–53.
- [19] Guo, D., Lakshmikantham, V. and Liu, X. Nonlinear Integral Equations in Abstract Spaces. Mathematics and its Applications. Kluwer, Dordrecht, 1996.
- [20] Infante, G. Eigenvalues and positive solutions of ODEs involving integral boundary conditions. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. (2005) suppl. 436–442.
- [21] Kilbas, A. A., Srivastava, H. M. and Trujillo, J. J. Theory and Applications of Fractional Differential Equations. North Holland Mathematics Studies, 204, Elsevier, Amsterdam, 2006.
- [22] Krzyska, S. and Kubiaczyk, I. On bounded pseudo and weak solutions of a nonlinear differential equation in Banach spaces. *Demonstratio Math.* **32** (1999) 323–330.
- [23] Lakshmikantham, V., Leela, S. and Vasundhara, J. *Theory of Fractional Dynamic Systems*. Cambridge Scientific Publishers, Cambridge, 2009.
- [24] Metzler, F., Schick, W., Kilian, H. G. and Nonnenmacher, T. F. Relaxation in filled polymers: A fractional calculus approach. J. Chem. Phys. 103 (1995) 7180–7186.
- [25] Mönch, H. Boundary value problems for nonlinear ordinary differential equations of second order in Banach spaces. *Nonlinear Anal.* 4 (1980) 985–999.
- [26] O'Regan, D. Fixed point theory for weakly sequentially continuous mapping. Math. Comput. Model. 27 (1998) 1–14.

- [27] O'Regan, D. Weak solutions of ordinary differential equations in Banach spaces, Appl. Math. Lett. 12 (1999) 101–105.
- [28] Ouahab, A. Some results for fractional boundary value problems of differential inclusions, Nonlinear Anal. 69 (2008) 3877–3896.
- [29] Pettis, B. J. On integration in vector spaces. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 44 (1938) 277–304.
- [30] Podlubny, I. Fractional Differential Equations. Academics Press, San Diego, 1999.
- [31] Salem, H. A. H., El-Sayed, A. M. A. and Moustafa, O. L. A note on the fractional calculus in Banach spaces. *Studia Sci. Math. Hungar.* 42 (2005) 115–130.
- [32] Szufla, S. On the application of measure of noncompactness to existence theorems. Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Padova 75 (1986) 1–14.
- [33] Szufla, S. and Szukala, A. Existence theorems for weak solutions of *n*th order differential equations in Banach spaces. *Funct. Approx. Comment. Math.* **26** (1998) 313–319.
- [34] Zhang, S. Positive solutions for boundary-value problems of nonlinear fractional differential equations. *Electron. J. Differential Equations* (2006) (36) 12 pages.

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory, 11 (3) (2011) 239-251



# Quasilinearization Method Via Lower and Upper Solutions for Riemann–Liouville Fractional Differential Equations

Z. Denton, P.W. Ng and A.S. Vatsala\*

Department of Mathematics, University of Louisiana Lafayette, Lafayette, LA 70504 USA

Received: February 18, 2011; Revised: July 20, 2011

**Abstract:** Existence and comparison results of the linear and nonlinear Riemann– Liouville fractional differential equations of order q, 0 < q < 1, are recalled and modified where necessary. Generalized quasilinearization method is developed for nonlinear fractional differential equations of order q, using upper and lower solutions. Quadratic convergence to the unique solution is proved via weighted sequences.

**Keywords:** fractional differential equations; lower and upper solutions; quasilinearization method.

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 34A34, 34A45.

### 1 Introduction

Fractional differential equations have various applications in widespread fields of science, such as in engineering [9], chemistry [10, 17, 18], physics [3, 4, 11], and others [12, 13]. In the majority of the literature existence results for Riemann–Liouville fractional differential equations are proven by a fixed point method. Initially we will recall existence by lower and upper solution method, which is more comparable to our main results. Despite there being a number of existence theorems for nonlinear fractional differential equations, much as in the integer order case, this does not necessarily imply that calculating a solution explicitly will be routine, or even possible. Therefore, it may be necessary to employ an iterative technique to numerically approximate a solution to a needed solution. In this paper we construct such a method.

The iterative technique we manufacture is the method of quasilinearization for nonlinear Riemann–Liouville fractional differential equations of order q, 0 < q < 1. This

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author: mailto:vatsala@louisiana.edu

<sup>© 2011</sup> InforMath Publishing Group/1562-8353 (print)/1813-7385 (online)/http://e-ndst.kiev.ua 239

method was first developed in [1, 2, 16], the method we construct is more closely related to those found in [15], that is a generalized quasilinearization method via lower and upper solutions. This particular method is much like the monotone method in that we construct monotone sequences from lower and upper solutions of the original equation. Further, each iterate is the solution of the linear fractional differential equation, but unlike in the monotone method, these iterates are not of the form with constant coefficients. In the case of the Riemann–Liouville fractional derivative, the variable coefficient case complicates our method. Therefore, we will recall existence, comparison, and inequality results for this case, including a generalized Gronwall type inequality, which will be paramount to our main result. Further, we will present modifications to these results where pertinent to our work.

Further, in the construction of the quasilinearization method we require a much stronger hypothesis than the monotone iterative technique. We still require the existence of lower and upper solutions v, w such that  $v \leq w$ , but specifically we require the nonlinear function f(t, x) to be convex (or concave) in x. Though this requirement may initially seem superfluous, with its application we are able to prove that the sequences we construct converge quadratically. Therefore, the sequences we construct may be more unwieldy, and the requirements more strict, than with the monotone method, but with this method the convergence is far faster. Further, with the assumption that f is convex automatically ensures that our solution is unique, which is not necessarily the case with the monotone method.

We note that this method has been studied in [8], but the authors have considered differential equations of the Caputo case. However the Caputo derivative only exists for  $C^1$  functions. We do not make this assumption with the Riemann-Liouville derivative. In fact, the functions we consider generally have a singularity at the left-most endpoint, therefore they are only  $C^0$  on a half open interval, with a special  $C_p$  property we will define below. One consequence of using the Riemann-Liouville derivative is that, in general, the sequences we construct,  $\{\alpha_n\}, \{\beta_n\}$  do not converge uniformly to the unique solution, but the weighted sequences  $\{t^p\alpha_n\}, \{t^p\beta_n\}$  converge uniformly and quadratically to  $t^px$ , where x is the unique solution of the original equation and p = 1 - q.

Finally, we consider the case when f is not convex (nor concave), but there exists a function  $\phi$  such that  $f + \phi$  is convex. We construct the quasilinearization for this case and note that a function  $\phi$  will always exist, therefore extending this method to any nonlinear fractional differential equation, provided f is  $C^2$  in x. For more information on the method of quasilinearization via lower and upper solutions as it relates to ordinary differential equations, see [15].

### 2 Preliminary Results

In this section we consider results regarding the Riemann-Liouville (R-L) differential equations of order q, 0 < q < 1. Specifically we recall existence and comparison results which will be used in our main result. In the next section we will apply these preliminary results to developing quasilinearization method for R-L fractional differential equations of order q. Note, for simplicity we only consider results on the interval J = (0, T], where T > 0. Further, we will let  $J_0 = [0, T]$ , that is  $J_0 = \overline{J}$ .

**Definition 2.1** Let p = 1 - q, a function  $\phi(t) \in C(J, \mathbb{R})$  is a  $C_p$  function if  $t^p \phi(t) \in C(J_0, \mathbb{R})$ . The set of  $C_p$  functions is denoted  $C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$ . Further, given a function  $\phi(t) \in C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$  we call the function  $t^p \phi(t)$  the continuous extension of  $\phi(t)$ .

**Remark 2.1** By the definition of  $C_p$  continuity and the properties of continuous functions it can be shown that the uniform limit of  $C_p$  functions is  $C_p$ , also  $C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$  has a completeness property in that any uniformly Cauchy sequence of  $C_p$  functions converges uniformly to a  $C_p$  function. Further  $C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$  is closed under continuous products, that is, if  $x \in C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$  and  $y \in C(J_0, \mathbb{R})$  then  $xy \in C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$ .

Now we define the R-L integral and derivative of order q on the interval J.

**Definition 2.2** Let  $\phi \in C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$ , then  $D_t^q \phi(t)$  is the q-th R-L derivative of  $\phi$  with respect to  $t \in J$  defined as

$$D_t^q \phi(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(p)} \frac{d}{dt} \int_0^t (t-s)^{-q} \phi(s) ds,$$

and  $I_t^q \phi(t)$  is the q-th R-L integral of  $\phi$  with respect to  $t \in J$  defined as

$$I_t^q \phi(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(q)} \int_0^t (t-s)^{q-1} \phi(s) ds.$$

Note that in cases where the initial value may be different, or ambiguous, we will write out the definition explicitly. The next definition is related to the solution of linear R-L fractional differential equation and is also of great importance in the study of the R-L derivative.

**Definition 2.3** The Mittag–Leffler function with parameters  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ , denoted  $E_{\alpha,\beta}$ , is defined as

$$E_{\alpha,\beta}(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^k}{\Gamma(\alpha k + \beta)},$$

which is entire for  $\alpha, \beta > 0$ .

**Remark 2.2** We note that the  $C_p$  weighted Mittag–Leffler function

$$t^{q-1}E_{q,q}(\lambda t^q) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^k t^{kq+q-1}}{\Gamma(kq+q)},$$

where  $\lambda$  is a constant, converges uniformly on J. This can be shown by using the fact that  $E_{q,q}$  is entire and noting that there exists an N > 0 such that nq + q - 1 > 0 for all  $n \ge N$ . From here one can show that the sequence of partial sums of the above series is uniformly Cauchy.

The next result gives us that the q-th R-L integral of a  $C_p$  continuous function is also a  $C_p$  continuous function. This result will give us that the solutions of R-L differential equations are also  $C_p$  continuous.

**Lemma 2.1** Let  $f \in C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$ , then  $I_t^q f(t) \in C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$ , i.e. the q-th integral of a  $C_p$  continuous function is  $C_p$  continuous.

Note the proof of this theorem for  $q \in \mathbb{R}^+$  can be found in [7]. Now we consider results for the nonhomogeneous linear R-L differential equation

$$D_t^q x(t) = y(t)x(t) + z(t)$$
(1)

with initial condition  $\Gamma(q)t^p x(t)|_{t=0} = x^0$ , where  $x^0$  is a constant,  $y \in C(J_0, \mathbb{R})$ , and  $z \in C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$ .

**Theorem 2.1** If  $y \in C(J_0, \mathbb{R})$  and  $z \in C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$  then equation (1) has a unique solution  $x \in C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$ , given explicitly by

$$x(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{x^0}{\Gamma(q)} T_y^k \left[ t^{q-1} \right] + T_y^k \left[ I_t^q z(t) \right],$$

which converges uniformly on J and where  $T_{\boldsymbol{y}}$  is the operator defined by

$$T_u\phi(t) = I_t^q y(t)\phi(t).$$

**Proof** The proof of the homogeneous case, and that  $t^p x(t)$  converges uniformly on  $J_0$  can be found in [6], the refinement that x(t) converges uniformly on J can be found in [5]. Note the nonhomogeneous case follows in exactly the same way as in [6]. Further in [5] it was assumed that  $z \in C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$  such that  $I_t^q z \in C(J_0, \mathbb{R})$ , here we have relaxed this condition. The proof follows along the same lines as in [5] with appropriate modifications. That is, using that  $z \in C_p$ , and the fact that  $E_{q,q}$  is entire, we can show the partial sums of the series x are uniformly Cauchy on J. That  $x \in C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$  follows from applying Remark 2.1 and Lemma 2.1. Note that if z(t) = 0 for all  $t \in J$  then we get that

$$x(t) = \frac{x^0}{\Gamma(q)} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} T_y^k \left[ t^{q-1} \right].$$

In many cases we may have an explicit form of y that may prove too unwieldy to place in a subscript. In this case we will use the following notation

$$\mathcal{E}(y,f) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} T_y^k \big[ f \big],$$

and since the case where  $f = t^{q-1}$  occurs so often we will define  $\mathcal{E}$  with a single parameter to be this case. That is  $\mathcal{E}(y) = \mathcal{E}(y, t^{q-1})$ . Therefore the solution of (1) can be written as

$$x(t) = \frac{x^0}{\Gamma(q)} \mathcal{E}(y) + \mathcal{E}(y, I_t^q z).$$
<sup>(2)</sup>

Further, if y is identically a constant, say  $\lambda$ , it can be shown that (2) can be expressed as

$$x(t) = x^{0} t^{q-1} E_{q,q}(\lambda t^{q}) + \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)^{q-1} E_{q,q}(\lambda (t-s)^{q}) z(s) \, ds.$$

This is the result discussed in [14], hence Theorem 2.1 generalizes the constant coefficient case, as expected.

Next we recall a comparison result we will utilize in our following results. Note this result is similar to the well known comparison result found in literature, as in [14], but we do not require the function to be Hölder continuous of order  $\lambda > q$ . We weaken this requirement because in our main result we will construct sequences from the solutions of linear R-L differential equations. As previously mentioned the solution to the linear equation with constant coefficient can be rewritten as

$$x(t) = \frac{x^0}{\Gamma(q)} t^{q-1} + x^0 \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^k t^{qk+q-1}}{\Gamma(qk+q)} + \int_0^t (t-s)^{q-1} E_{q,q}(\lambda(t-s)^q) f(s) ds,$$

which is not Hölder continuous of any order due to the term containing  $t^{q-1}$ . Therefore we utilize the following result which weakens the Hölder continuity requirement, so that we can incorporate it in our main results.

**Lemma 2.2** Let  $m \in C_p(J, R)$  be such that for some  $t_1 \in J$  we have  $m(t_1) = 0$  and  $m(t) \leq 0$  for  $t \in (0, t_1]$ . Then

$$D_t^q m(t)\big|_{t=t_1} \ge 0.$$

The proof of this lemma can be found in [7], along with further discussion as to why and how we weaken the Hölder continuous requirement of this known comparison result. We use this Lemma in the proof of the later main comparison result which will be paramount in the construction of the quasilinearization method. First we recall the nonlinear R-L fractional differential equation.

$$D_t^q x = f(t, x), \tag{3}$$
  

$$\Gamma(q) t^p x(t) \big|_{t=0} = x^0,$$

where  $f \in C(J_0 \times \mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ . Note that a solution  $x \in C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$  of (3) also satisfies the equivalent R-L integral equation

$$x(t) = \frac{x^0}{\Gamma(q)} t^{q-1} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(q)} \int_0^t (t-s)^{q-1} f(s, x(s)) ds.$$
(4)

Thus if  $f \in C(J_0 \times \mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$  then (3) is equivalent to (4). See [12, 14] for details. Now we will recall a Peano type existence theorem for equation (3).

**Theorem 2.2** Suppose  $f \in C(R_0, \mathbb{R})$  and  $|f(t, x)| \leq M$  on  $R_0$ , where

$$R_0 = \{ (t, x) : |t^p x(t) - x^0| \le \eta, t \in J_0 \}.$$

Then the solution of (3) exists on J.

This result is presented in [14], and in [7] it was proven that the solution can be extended to all of J, and the set  $R_0$  was modified for our succeeding results regarding existence by method of upper and lower solutions. In the direction of this result we will consider the following comparison result, which will in turn yield a general Gronwall type inequality.

**Theorem 2.3** Let  $f \in C(J_0 \times \mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$  and let  $v, w \in C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$  be lower and upper solutions of (3), i.e.

$$\begin{aligned} D_t^q v &\leq f(t, v), \\ \Gamma(q) t^p v(t) \big|_{t=0} = v^0 \leq x^0, \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{split} D_t^q & w \geq f(t,w), \\ \Gamma(q) t^p & w(t) \big|_{t=0} = w^0 \geq x^0. \end{split}$$

If f satisfies the following Lipschitz condition

$$f(t,x) - f(t,y) \le L(x-y), \text{ when } x \ge y,$$

where L > 0, then  $v(t) \le w(t)$  on J.

The proof follows as in [14] with appropriate modifications, specifically we use Lemma 2.2 and do not require local Hölder continuity of order  $\lambda > q$ . Next we present a Gronwall type inequality for R-L fractional differential equations. A similar result in terms of fractional integral equations can be found in [6].

**Theorem 2.4** Let  $v, z \in C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$  and  $y \in C(J_0, \mathbb{R}^+)$ , and suppose that

$$D_t^q v \le y(t)v(t) + z(t).$$

Then

$$v(t) \le \frac{v^0}{\Gamma(q)} \mathcal{E}(y) + \mathcal{E}(y, I_t^q z)$$

The proof follows directly from Theorem 2.1 and Theorem 2.3. That is, since  $y \ge 0$ , f(t,x) = yx + z satisfies the Lipschitz condition of Theorem 2.3 and letting x be the solution of (1) with  $x^0 = v^0$  we obtain  $v \le x$ . When y is identically a constant  $\lambda \ge 0$ , then we get the following Corollary.

**Corollary 2.1** Let  $v, z \in C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$  and let  $\lambda \geq 0$  be a constant, and suppose that

$$D_t^q v \le \lambda v(t) + z(t).$$

Then

$$v(t) \le v^0 t^{q-1} E_{q,q}(\lambda t^q) + \int_0^t (t-s)^{q-1} E_{q,q}(\lambda (t-s)^q) z(s) \, ds.$$

Now we will recall a result that gives us existence of a solution to (3) via lower and upper solutions.

**Theorem 2.5** Let  $v, w \in C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$  be lower and upper solutions of (3) such that  $v(t) \leq w(t)$  on J and let  $f \in C(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$ , where  $\Omega$  is defined as

$$\Omega = \{(t, y) : t^p v(t) \le y \le t^p w(t), t \in J_0\}.$$

Then there exists a solution  $x \in C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$  of (3) such that  $v(t) \leq x(t) \leq w(t)$  on J.

The proof of this theorem can be found in [7]. We also note a final uniqueness result which is comparable to the analogous result for ordinary differential equations. As one might expect, if f satisfies the Lipschitz condition found in Theorem 2.3, then the solution x of (3) is unique. Further this result is proved in much the same way as in the case of ordinary differential equations, see [14] for more details. We mention this result here since it will be necessary in the construction of the quasilinearization method.

#### 3 Method of Quasilinearization

In this section we develop the method of quasilinearization via lower and upper solutions. We consider three different cases, when the forcing function f is convex, concave in x, and can be made convex by the addition function  $\phi$ . We construct monotone sequences such that the sequences of continuous extensions converge uniformly and monotonically to the continuous extension of the unique solution x of (3). Further, the rate convergence is quadratic.

**Theorem 3.1** Assume that

- (A1)  $\alpha_0, \beta_0 \in C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$  are lower and upper solutions of (3) respectively such that  $\alpha_0(t) \leq \beta_0(t)$  on J.
- (A2)  $f \in C(\Omega, \mathbb{R}), f_x(t, x) \geq 0, f_{xx}(t, x) \geq 0$  exist and are continuous on  $\Omega$ , where

$$\Omega = \{ (t, y) : \alpha_0(t) \le y \le \beta_0(t), t \in J_0 \}.$$

Then there exist monotone sequences  $\{\alpha_n\}$  and  $\{\beta_n\}$  in  $C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$  such that  $t^p \alpha_n$ , and  $t^p \beta_n$  both converge uniformly and quadratically to  $t^p x$  on  $J_0$ , where x is the unique solution of (3) on J.

**Proof** First, by (A2) we have that f and  $f_x$  are nondecreasing in x on  $J_0$ , Lipschitz with respect to x on  $J_0$ , and

$$f(t,x) \ge f(t,y) + f_x(t,y)(x-y)$$

for any  $(t, y) \in \Omega$ . Further the function

$$g(t, x, y) = f(t, y) + f_x(t, y)(x - y)$$

is linear in x on  $J_0$ . Now we will construct the sequences  $\{\alpha_n\}$  and  $\{\beta_n\}$ . Let  $\alpha_{n+1}$  be the unique solution of the Riemann–Liouville differential equation

$$D_t^q \alpha_{n+1} = f(t, \alpha_n) + f_x(t, \alpha_n)(\alpha_{n+1} - \alpha_n),$$
(5)  

$$\Gamma(q)t^p \alpha_{n+1}(t)\big|_{t=0} = x^0,$$

for all  $n \ge 0$ , and where  $\alpha_0$  is the lower solution of (3) given in the hypothesis. Note that the above equation is of the form (1), therefore it has a unique solution by Theorem 2.1 provided  $(t, \alpha_n) \in \Omega$ , and therefore our sequence is well defined. Similarly, let  $\beta_{n+1}$  be the unique solution of

$$D_t^q \beta_{n+1} = f(t, \beta_n) + f_x(t, \alpha_n)(\beta_{n+1} - \beta_n),$$

$$\Gamma(q) t^p \beta_{n+1}(t)|_{t=0} = x^0.$$
(6)

Now we will show that  $\alpha_n \leq \beta_n$  for all  $n \geq 0$ . To do this first note that by hypothesis we have that  $\alpha_0 \leq \beta_0$  on J, so letting this be our basis step, suppose that  $\alpha_k \leq \beta_k$  is true up to some  $k \geq 0$ . Then we have

$$D_t^q \alpha_{k+1} = f(t, \alpha_k) + f_x(t, \alpha_k)(\alpha_{k+1} - \alpha_k),$$

and by the consequences of (A2) we have that

$$D_t^q \beta_{k+1} \ge f(t, \alpha_k) + f_x(t, \alpha_k)(\beta_{k+1} - \alpha_k),$$

which by Theorem 2.3 gives us that  $\alpha_{k+1} \leq \beta_{k+1}$  on J and thus by induction proves the claim.

Now we wish to show that that  $\{\beta_n\}$  is monotone. To do so consider that

$$D_t^q \beta_1 \le f(t, \beta_0) + f_x(t, \beta_0)(\beta_1 - \beta_0) \le f(t, \beta_1),$$

which again, by Theorem 2.3 gives us that  $\beta_1 \leq \beta_0$  on J. Now suppose  $\beta_k \leq \beta_{k-1}$  up to some  $k \geq 1$ , then letting  $\omega = \beta_{k+1} - \beta_k$ , with  $\omega^0 = 0$ , by the consequences of (A2) and that  $\alpha_n \leq \beta_n$  for all  $n \geq 0$ , we obtain

$$D_t^q \omega \le [f_x(t,\beta_k) - f_x(t,\alpha_{k-1})](\beta_k - \beta_{k-1}) + f_x(t,\alpha_k)\omega \le f_x(t,\alpha_k)\omega.$$

This implies by Theorem 2.4 that

$$\beta_{k+1} - \beta_k \le \frac{\omega^0}{\Gamma(q)} \mathcal{E}(f_x(t, \alpha_k)) = 0,$$

thus proving, by induction, that  $\{\beta_n\}$  is monotone. The proof that  $\{\alpha_n\}$  is monotone follows by arguments similar to either of the previous induction proofs.

We now prove that

$$t^p \alpha_n \to t^p x$$
 and  $t^p \beta_n \to t^p x$ ,

uniformly on  $J_0$ , and where x is the unique solution of (3). This result follows from an application of the Arzelà–Ascoli Theorem since for all  $n \ge 0$  we have that

$$|t^{p}\alpha_{n}| \le t^{p}|\alpha_{n} - \alpha_{0}| + t^{p}|\alpha_{0}| \le t^{p}|\beta_{0} - \alpha_{0}| + t^{p}|\alpha_{0}|,$$

implying that  $\{t^p \alpha_n\}$  is uniformly bounded on  $J_0$ . That this sequence is equicontinuous is proved in a similar fashion to that found in [19]. We can prove a similar result for  $\{t^p \beta_n\}$  as well. To show that both sequences converge to  $t^p x$ , suppose that  $t^p \alpha_n$  instead converges uniformly to  $t^p \alpha$ , which gives us that  $\alpha_n$  converges to  $\alpha$  pointwise on J. Now consider the continuous extension of the integral form of  $\alpha_{n+1}$ ,

$$t^{p}\alpha_{n+1} = \frac{x^{0}}{\Gamma(q)} + \frac{t^{p}}{\Gamma(q)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)^{q-1} \big( f(s,\alpha_{n}) + f_{x}(s,\alpha_{n})(\alpha_{n+1}-\alpha_{n}) \big) ds.$$

Applying the convergence properties outlined above we can show that the limit  $\alpha$  satisfies

$$\alpha = \frac{x^0}{\Gamma(q)}t^{q-1} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(q)}\int_0^t (t-s)^{q-1}f(s,\alpha)ds$$

on J. Implying that  $\alpha = x$ , since x is the unique solution of (3). We note that  $\{t^p\beta_n\}$  satisfies an analogous property.

Now we will prove that the sequences of continuous extensions  $\{t^p\alpha_n\}$  and  $\{t^p\beta_n\}$  converge quadratically. First we note that, since f is continuous on  $J_0$ , there exists a function F such that  $f(t,x) = F(t,t^px)$ . Then we have that  $f_{xx}(t,x) = t^{2p}F_{xx}(t,t^px)$ . Using this result, along with the mean value theorem we obtain

$$D_t^q(x - \alpha_{n+1}) = f(t, x) - f(t, \alpha_n) - f_x(t, \alpha_n)(\alpha_{n+1} - \alpha_n)$$
  

$$= f_x(t, \xi)(x - \alpha_n) - f_x(t, \alpha_n)(\alpha_{n+1} - \alpha_n)$$
  

$$\leq f_x(t, x)(x - \alpha_n) - f_x(t, \alpha_n)(\alpha_{n+1} - \alpha_n)$$
  

$$= [f_x(t, x) - f_x(t, \alpha_n)](x - \alpha_n) + f_x(t, \alpha_n)(x - \alpha_{n+1})$$
  

$$= f_{xx}(t, \eta)(x - \alpha_n)^2 + f_x(t, \alpha_n)(x - \alpha_{n+1})$$
  

$$= F_{xx}(t, t^p \eta)t^{2p}(x - \alpha_n)^2 + f_x(t, \alpha_n)(x - \alpha_{n+1})$$
  

$$\leq Nt^{2p}(x - \alpha_n)^2 + M(x - \alpha_{n+1}).$$

Here  $\alpha_n \leq \xi, \eta \leq x$  on J, and N and M are bounds of  $F_{xx}$  and  $f_x$  respectively. Now by Corollary 2.1 and Remark 2.2 we have that

$$t^{p}(x - \alpha_{n+1}) \leq t^{p} \int_{0}^{t} (t - s)^{q-1} E_{q,q}(M(t - s)^{q}) N s^{2p}(x - \alpha_{n})^{2} ds$$
  
$$\leq t^{p} N \| t^{p}(x - \alpha_{n}) \|^{2} \int_{0}^{t} (t - s)^{q-1} E_{q,q}(M(t - s)^{q}) ds$$
  
$$= t^{p} N \| t^{p}(x - \alpha_{n}) \|^{2} \int_{0}^{t} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{M^{k}(t - s)^{kq+q-1}}{\Gamma(qk+q)} ds$$
  
$$= t^{p} N \| t^{p}(x - \alpha_{n}) \|^{2} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{M^{k} t^{kq+q}}{\Gamma(qk+q+1)}$$
  
$$\leq \frac{t^{p} N}{M} E_{q,1}(Mt^{q}) \| t^{p}(x - \alpha_{n}) \|^{2}.$$

Here  $\|\cdot\|$  is the uniform norm on  $C(J_0, \mathbb{R})$ . Giving us that

$$||t^{p}(x - \alpha_{n+1})|| \le K ||t^{p}(x - \alpha_{n})||^{2},$$

where  $K = \frac{T^p N}{M} E_{q,1}(MT^q)$ . Now, letting  $\rho_n = x - \alpha_n$  and  $\omega_n = \beta_n - x$ , showing that  $\{t^p \beta_n\}$  converges quadratically follows with a similar argument, but in this case we get

 $D_t^q \omega_{n+1} \le F_{xx}(t,\sigma) t^{2p} [\omega_n + \rho_n] \omega_n + f_x(t,\alpha_n) (\omega_{n+1}) \le (N/2) t^{2p} (3\omega_n^2 + \rho_n^2) + M\omega_{n+1}.$ 

Then from Corollary 2.1 we get

$$t^{p}\omega_{n+1} \leq \frac{Nt^{p}}{2M}E_{q,1}(Mt^{q}) \| t^{2p}(3\omega_{n}^{2} + \rho_{n}^{2}) \|,$$

which finally implies that

$$\|\beta_{n+1} - x\| \le \frac{3K}{2} \|t^p(\beta_n - x)\|^2 + \frac{K}{2} \|t^p(x - \alpha_n)\|^2.$$

This concludes the proof.

A natural query is whether the results of Theorem 3.1 will still hold if f is concave as opposed to convex. The answer is affirmative, and we state the result below without the details of the proof.

**Theorem 3.2** Suppose (A1) of Theorem 3.1 holds. Further suppose that  $f \in$  $C(\Omega,\mathbb{R}), f_x(t,x) \leq 0, f_{xx}(t,x) \leq 0$  exist and are continuous on  $\Omega$ . Then there exist monotone sequences  $\{\alpha_n\}$  and  $\{\beta_n\}$  in  $C_p(J,\mathbb{R})$  such that  $t^p\alpha_n$ , and  $t^p\beta_n$  both converge uniformly and quadratically to  $t^p x$  on  $J_0$ , where x is the unique solution of (3) on J.

We note that the proof of this theorem follows in the same lines as that of Theorem 3.1. The next case we consider is whether it is possible to construct the quasilinearization method when  $f \in C^{0,2}(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$  is neither convex nor concave. As we will show, it is indeed possible provided we can find a function  $\phi \in C^{0,2}(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$  such that  $f + \phi$  is convex. We present this case as our final theorem.

#### Z. DENTON, P.W. NG AND A.S. VATSALA

### **Theorem 3.3** Assume that

- (B1)  $\alpha_0, \beta_0 \in C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$  are lower and upper solutions of (3) respectively, such that  $\alpha_0 \leq \beta_0$  on J.
- (B2)  $f, \phi \in C^{0,2}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}), f_{xx} + \phi_{xx} \geq 0$  and  $\phi_{xx} > 0$  on  $\Omega$ , where  $\Omega$  is defined as in Theorem 3.1.

Then there exist monotone sequences  $\{\alpha_n\}$  and  $\{\beta_n\}$  in  $C_p(J, \mathbb{R})$  such that  $t^p \alpha_n$  and  $t^p \beta_n$  both converge uniformly and quadratically to  $t^p x$  on  $J_0$ , where x is the unique solution of (3) on J.

**Proof** Firstly, by consequences of (B2) we have that f is Lipschitz with respect to x. Further, since  $f + \phi$  is convex we have that

$$F(t,x) \ge F(t,y) + F_x(t,y)(x-y),$$
(7)

where  $F(t, x) = f(t, x) + \phi(t, x)$ .

We construct the monotone sequences by letting  $\alpha_{n+1}$  and  $\beta_{n+1}$  be the unique solutions of the linear R-L fractional differential equations,

$$D_{t}^{q} \alpha_{n+1} = f(t, \alpha_{n}) + (F_{x}(t, \alpha_{n}) - \phi_{x}(t, \beta_{n}))(\alpha_{n+1} - \alpha_{n}),$$
(8)  

$$\Gamma(q)t^{p} \alpha_{n+1}(t)|_{t=0} = x^{0},$$

and

$$D_{t}^{q}\beta_{n+1} = f(t,\beta_{n}) + (F_{x}(t,\alpha_{n}) - \phi_{x}(t,\beta_{n}))(\beta_{n+1} - \beta_{n}),$$
(9)  

$$\Gamma(q)t^{p}\beta_{n+1}(t)\big|_{t=0} = x^{0},$$

for all  $n \ge 0$  and for  $(t, \alpha_n), (t, \beta_n) \in \Omega$ . Now we wish to show that  $\alpha_n \le \alpha_{n+1} \le \beta_{n+1} \le \beta_n$  for all  $n \ge 0$ . First we will show that  $\alpha_0 \le \alpha_1$ , to do so notice that

$$D_t^q \alpha_0 \le f(t, \alpha_0) + (F_x(t, \alpha_0) - \phi_x(t, \beta_0))(\alpha_0 - \alpha_0).$$

Therefore by Theorem 2.3 we have that  $\alpha_0 \leq \alpha_1$  on J since  $\alpha_0^0 \leq x^0$ , and by a similar argument we also have that  $\beta_1 \leq \beta_0$ . Now we will show that  $\alpha_1 \leq \beta_1$  on J. Note by consequences of (B2), that is (7), that  $\phi_x$  is increasing in x, and by the application of the mean value theorem we can show that

$$D_{t}^{q}\beta_{1} \geq f(t,\alpha_{0}) + F_{x}(t,\alpha_{0})(\beta_{0} - \alpha_{0}) - [\phi(t,\beta_{0}) - \phi(t,\alpha_{0})] \\ + (F_{x}(t,\alpha_{0}) - \phi_{x}(t,\beta_{0}))(\beta_{1} - \beta_{0}) \\ = f(t,\alpha_{0}) + F_{x}(\alpha_{0})(\beta_{0} - \alpha_{0}) - \phi_{x}(t,\xi)(\beta_{0} - \alpha_{0}) \\ + (F_{x}(t,\alpha_{0}) - \phi_{x}(t,\beta_{0}))(\beta_{1} - \beta_{0}) \\ \geq f(t,\alpha_{0}) + (F_{x}(t,\alpha_{0}) - \phi_{x}(t,\beta_{0}))(\beta_{1} - \alpha_{0}),$$

where  $\alpha_0 \leq \xi \leq \beta_0$ . Therefore by Theorem 2.3 we have  $\alpha_0 \leq \alpha_1 \leq \beta_1 \leq \beta_0$  on J. Letting this be our basis step suppose  $\alpha_{k-1} \leq \alpha_k \leq \beta_k \leq \beta_{k-1}$  on J up to some  $k \geq 1$ , then by

a similar process as when showing  $\alpha_1 \leq \beta_1$  we have that,

$$D_{t}^{q}\alpha_{k+1} \geq f(t,\alpha_{k}) + (F_{x}(t,\alpha_{k-1}) - \phi_{x}(t,\beta_{k-1}))(\alpha_{k+1} - \alpha_{k})$$
  

$$\geq f(t,\alpha_{k-1}) - [\phi(t,\alpha_{k}) - \phi(t,\alpha_{k-1})] + F_{x}(t,\alpha_{k-1})(\alpha_{k} - \alpha_{k-1}) + (F_{x}(t,\alpha_{k-1}) - \phi_{x}(t,\beta_{k-1}))(\alpha_{k+1} - \alpha_{k})$$
  

$$= f(t,\alpha_{k-1}) - \phi_{x}(t,\xi)(\alpha_{k} - \alpha_{k-1}) + F_{x}(t,\alpha_{k-1})(\alpha_{k} - \alpha_{k-1}) + (F_{x}(t,\alpha_{k-1}) - \phi_{x}(t,\beta_{k-1}))(\alpha_{k+1} - \alpha_{k})$$
  

$$\geq f(t,\alpha_{k-1}) + (F_{x}(t,\alpha_{k-1}) - \phi_{x}(t,\beta_{k-1}))(\alpha_{k+1} - \alpha_{k-1}).$$

Therefore by Theorem 2.3 we have that  $\alpha_k \leq \alpha_{k+1}$  on J, and by similar arguments we can show that  $\alpha_k \leq \alpha_{k+1} \leq \beta_{k+1} \leq \beta_k$ , which by induction implies that  $\{\alpha_n\}$  and  $\{\beta_n\}$  are monotone and  $\alpha_n \leq \beta_n$  for all  $n \geq 0$ . That  $t^p \alpha_n$  and  $t^p \beta_n$  converge uniformly to  $t^p x$ , where x is the unique solution of (3), is done in the same way as in Theorem 3.1. Now we will show that the sequences of continuous extensions converge quadratically on  $J_0$ . To do so, first note, as in Theorem 3.1 that there exist functions  $G, \Phi \in C^{0,2}(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$  such that  $G(t, t^p x) = F(t, x)$ , and  $\Phi(t, t^p x) = \phi(t, x)$ , thus giving us that

$$F_{xx}(t,x) = t^{2p} G_{xx}(t,t^p x)$$
 and  $\phi_{xx}(t,x) = t^{2p} \Phi_{xx}(t,t^p x).$ 

Now letting  $\rho_{n+1} = x - \alpha_{n+1}$  and  $\omega_{n+1} = \beta_{n+1} - x$ , we have that

$$\begin{split} D_t^q \rho_{n+1} &= f(t,x) - [f(t,\alpha_n) + (F_x(t,\alpha_n) - \phi_x(t,\beta_n))(\alpha_{n+1} - \alpha_n)] \\ &= F(t,x) - F(t,\alpha_n) - (F_x(t,\alpha_n) - \phi_x(t,\beta_n))(\alpha_{n+1} - \alpha_n) \\ &- [\phi(t,x) - \phi(t,\alpha_n)] \\ &= F_x(t,\xi_1)\rho_n - (F_x(t,\alpha_n) - \phi_x(t,\beta_n))(\alpha_{n+1} - \alpha_n)) - \phi_x(t,\xi_2)\rho_n \\ &\leq [F_x(t,x) - F_x(t,\alpha_n)]\rho_n + (F_x(t,\alpha_n) - \phi_x(t,\beta_n))\rho_{n+1} \\ &+ [\phi_x(t,\beta_n) - \phi_x(t,\alpha_n)]\rho_n \\ &\leq F_{xx}(t,\eta_1)\rho_n^2 + f_x(t,\alpha_n)\rho_{n+1} + \phi_{xx}(t,\eta_2)(\omega_n + \rho_n)\rho_n \\ &= G_{xx}(t,t^p\eta_1)t^{2p}\rho_n^2 + f_x(t,\alpha_n)\rho_{n+1} + \Phi_{xx}(t,t^p\eta_2)t^{2p}(\omega_n + \rho_n)\rho_n \\ &\leq Nt^{2p}\rho_n^2 + M\rho_{n+1} + (L/2)t^{2p}(3\rho_n^2 + \omega_n^2), \end{split}$$

Where  $\alpha_n \leq \xi_1, \xi_2, \eta_1 \leq x, \alpha_n \leq \eta_2 \leq x$ , and where N, M, and L are bounds on  $G_{xx}$ ,  $f_x$ , and  $\Phi_{xx}$  respectively. Then by Corollary 2.1 and Remark 2.2 we have that

$$t^{p}\rho_{n+1} \leq t^{p} \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)^{q-1} E_{q,q} (M(t-s)^{q}) s^{2p} \left[ (N+3L/2)\rho_{n}^{2} + (L/2)\omega_{n}^{2} \right] ds$$
$$\leq \frac{t^{p}}{M} E_{q,1} (Mt^{q}) \left[ (N+3L/2) \left\| t^{p}\rho_{n} \right\|^{2} + (L/2) \left\| t^{p}\omega_{n} \right\|^{2} \right].$$

Which finally gives us that

$$\left\|t^{p}(x-\alpha_{n+1})\right\| \leq \frac{K}{2}(2N+3L)\left\|t^{p}(x-\alpha_{n})\right\|^{2} + \frac{KL}{2}\left\|t^{p}(\beta_{n}-x)\right\|^{2},$$

where  $K = \frac{T^p}{M} E_{q,1}(MT^q)$ . Similarly, we can show that

$$\left\|t^{p}(\beta_{n+1}-x)\right\| \leq \frac{K}{2}(3N+2L)\left\|t^{p}(\beta_{n}-x)\right\|^{2} + \frac{KN}{2}\left\|t^{p}(x-\alpha_{n})\right\|^{2},$$

which finishes the proof.

This final case greatly extends the potential of the quasilinearization method. This is because for any function  $f \in C^{0,2}(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$  we can always find a function  $\phi \in C^{0,2}(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$  such that  $f_{xx} + \phi_{xx} \ge 0$ , and  $\phi_{xx} > 0$ . To show why this is true, suppose that f is not convex, then we can choose A > 0 such that

$$\min_{\Omega} \left\{ f_{xx}(t,x) \right\} = -A < 0.$$

Then we need only choose  $\phi(t, x) = At^{2p}x^2$ , to satisfy (B2). Further, since we can always find such a function we need not consider the case where f can be made concave by the sum of another function.

**Remark 3.1** If we use lower and upper solutions one can extend the method of quasilinearization to forcing functions which are the sum of convex and concave functions as in [15]. This generalization will include all our results as special cases. However, this involves the study of linear fractional systems with variable coefficients. We will investigate this result elsewhere.

### Acknowledgment

The work was partially supported by the U.S. Army research grant no. W911NF-10-1-0396.

### References

- [1] Bellman, R. Methods of Nonlinear Analysis, volume II. Academic Press, New York, 1973.
- [2] Bellman, R. and Kalaba, R. Quasilinearization and Nonlinear Boundary Value Problems. American Elsevier, New York, 1965.
- [3] Caputo, M. Linear models of dissipation whose Q is almost independent, II. Geophy. J. Roy. Astronom 13 (1967) 529–539.
- [4] Chowdhury, A. and Christov, C.I. Memory effects for the heat conductivity of random suspensions of spheres. Proc. R. Soc. A 466 (2010) 3253–3273.
- [5] Denton, Z. and Vatsala, A.S. Fractional differential equations and numerical approximations. In: *Proceedings of Neural, Parallel, and Scientific Computations* (G.S. Ladde, N.G. Medhin, C. Peng and M. Sambandham, eds.). Atlanta, GA, 2010. Dynamic Publishers, 4 119–123.
- [6] Denton, Z. and Vatsala, A.S. Fractional integral inequalities and applications. Computers and Mathematics with Applications 59 (2010) 1087–1094.
- [7] Denton, Z. and Vatsala, A.S. Monotone iterative technique for finite systems of nonlinear Riemann–Liouville fractional differential equations. *Opuscula Mathematica* **31** (3) (2011) 327-339.
- [8] Devi, J.V. and Suseela, C.H. Quasilinearization for fractional differential equations. Communications in Applied Analysis 12 (4) (2008) 407–418.
- [9] Diethelm, K. and Freed, A.D. On the solution of nonlinear fractional differential equations used in the modeling of viscoplasticity. In: Scientific Computing in Chemical Engineering II: Computational Fluid Dynamics, Reaction Engineering, and Molecular Properties (F. Keil, W. Mackens, H. Vob and J. Werther, eds.). Heidelberg, Springer, 1999, 217–224.

- [10] Glöckle, W.G. and Nonnenmacher, T.F. A fractional calculus approach to self similar protein dynamics. *Biophy. J.* 68 (1995) 46–53.
- [11] Hilfer, R. (editor). Applications of Fractional Calculus in Physics. World Scientific Publishing, Germany, 2000.
- [12] Kilbas, A.A., Srivastava, H.M. and Trujillo, J.J. Theory and Applications of Fractional Differential Equations. Elsevier, North Holland, 2006.
- [13] Kiryakova, V. Generalized fractional calculus and applications. Pitman Res. Notes Math. Ser., vol. 301. Longman-Wiley, New York, 1994.
- [14] Lakshmikantham, V., Leela, S. and Vasundhara, D.J. Theory of Fractional Dynamic Systems. Cambridge Scientific Publishers, 2009.
- [15] Lakshmikantham, V. and Vatsala, A.S. Generalized Quasilinearization for Nonlinear Problems. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Netherlands, 2010.
- [16] Lee, E.S. Quasilinearization and Invariant Imbedding. Academic Press, New York, 1968.
- [17] Metzler, R., Schick, W., Kilian, H.G. and Nonnenmacher, T.F. Relaxation in filled polymers: A fractional calculus approach. J. Chem. Phy. 103 (1995) 7180–7186.
- [18] Oldham, B. andSpanier, J. The Fractional Calculus. Academic Press, New York–London, 2002.
- [19] Ramirez, J.D. and Vatsala, A.S. Monotone iterative technique for fractional differential equations with periodic boundary conditions. *Opuscula Mathematica* **29** (3) (2009) 289-304.

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory, 11 (3) (2011) 253-274



# Adaptive Regulation with Almost Disturbance Decoupling for Power Integrator Triangular Systems with Nonlinear Parametrization

# Y. M. Fu\*, M. Z. Hou, J. Hu and L. Niu

### Center for Control Theory and Guidance Technology, Harbin Institute of Technology, Harbin 150001, P. R. China

Received: September 25, 2009; Revised: July 22, 2011

**Abstract:** The problem of almost disturbance decoupling for a class of nonlinear systems is considered. The controlled systems consist of a chain of power integrators perturbed by a lower-triangular vector field with nonlinear parametrization. By using the tool of adding a power integrator combined with the parameter separation technique, under a set of growth conditions a smooth adaptive controller is explicitly constructed to attenuate the influence of the disturbance on the output with an arbitrary degree of accuracy. The designed adaptive controller is in its minimum-order property, since the order of the dynamic compensator is equal to one. An illustrative example is given to verify the effectiveness of the proposed approach.

**Keywords:** almost disturbance decoupling; smooth adaptive controller; adding a power integrator; nonlinear parametrization; parameter separation.

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 93C10, 93C40.

### 1 Introduction

One of the main objectives in control theory is to suppress unknown disturbances. It will be ideal if the influence of disturbances on the output can be eliminated completely, or in other words, the disturbances are decoupled from the output. Unfortunately, in most practical situations it is impossible to achieve the exact disturbance decoupling. In this case, it is reasonable to aim at almost disturbance decoupling (ADD), which means that the influence of the disturbance on the output is attenuated to an arbitrary degree of accuracy via feedback control design. More precisely, the problem of ADD can be stated

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author: mailto:fuyanming@hit.edu.cn

<sup>© 2011</sup> InforMath Publishing Group/1562-8353 (print)/1813-7385 (online)/http://e-ndst.kiev.ua 253

as: given a system and a prescribed positive scalar, find a feedback control law such that the resultant closed-loop system is stable and the gain between the exogenous input and the regulated output is less than or equal to the prescribed positive number. The start point of the problem of ADD on nonlinear systems is associated with the papers [1], [2]in the late 1980s. The performance of the ADD in [2] is characterized in terms of the  $L_{\infty}$ -induced norm from the disturbance to the outputs, and the solution of the problem of ADD is explicitly constructed by applying singular perturbation methods. However, a drawback of the result in [2] is that internal stability, which is crucial for a meaningful application or a practical implementation, is not taken into account. Therefore, the internal stability of the closed-loop systems cannot be guaranteed even in the absence of the disturbance. This problem is solved later in [3]. By applying a recursive design technique, a global solution to the ADD problem with internal stability was presented for a chain of integrators perturbed by a lower triangular vector field. The result in [3] was later generalized to a larger class of nonlinear minimum phase systems in [4]. These two results in [3] and [4] were further extended to a class of nonminimum-phase nonlinear systems in [5]. The proposed approach in [5] required that the unstable part of the zero-dynamics was not affected by the disturbance. Such a restriction was relaxed in the results of [6] and [7]. The construction of control law in [7] is based on a recursive Lyapunov-based design approach. In the case of systems with vector relative degree  $[1, 1, \dots, 1]$ , the ADD problem was tackled in [8] for a general minimum phase system subject to parameter uncertainty and with a controlled output that may be affected by the disturbance. In addition, the problem of ADD for general affine nonlinear systems was addressed in [9] for the case of state feedback and the solution was converted into the solution of the so-called Hamilton-Jacobi-Isaacs equation (HJIE). The global inverse  $L_2$ -gain design for a chain of integrators perturbed by lower triangular vector field was reported in [10]. For a class of multi-input multi-output nonlinear systems, the ADD problem was addressed in [11] for the systems with nested lower triangular structure, and the controller was explicitly constructed by applying the backstepping design technique.

If only the output information is available for the feedback design, only a few results are devoted to the ADD problem via output feedback in the existing literature. In [12], the problem of ADD via output feedback for general affine nonlinear systems was converted into the solution of Hamilton-Jacobi-Isaacs equation. In [13], a systematic design procedure to output feedback controller with the function of ADD was given for a class of systems with the nonlinear terms depending only on the output. For the nonlinear systems in the so-called output feedback form, in [14] the polynomial gain disturbance attenuation property was achieved via output feedback. For a class of nonlinear systems satisfying linear growth conditions, in [15] a linear dynamic output compensator attenuating the influence of the disturbance on the output was explicitly constructed by the feedback domination design. In the above-mentioned literature on the ADD problem, most of the considered nonlinear systems are feedback (partial) linearizable and/or linear in control input. Recently, the ADD problem was addressed in [16] for a class of inherently nonlinear systems. The class of the systems is in the form of a chain of power integrators perturbed by a lower-triangular vector field. Different from some previous results, the ADD problem is formulated in terms of  $L_2 - L_{2p}$  gain for the inherently nonlinear systems, rather than the standard  $L_2$ -gain. The controller was explicitly constructed by applying the so-called technique of adding a power integrator developed in [17].

It is well-known that adaptive control is one of the effective ways to deal with control
systems with parametric uncertainty [18]. When the ADD problem for nonlinear systems with unknown parameters is investigated, a natural idea is to design an adaptive control law to solve this problem. However, only a few results on adaptive regulation with almost adaptive decoupling for nonlinear systems are available in the existing literature. In [19], [20] and [21], adaptive controllers are designed to guarantee arbitrary disturbance attenuation on the output tracking error for smooth reference signals for uncertain systems with output depending nonlinearities. In [19] and [20], the disturbance enters linearly in the state space equation, while in [21] the disturbance enters nonlinearly. Very recently, in [22] the ADD problem was discussed for power integrator lower triangular nonlinear systems. The function of disturbance attenuation is characterized by  $L_{2m} - L_{2mp}$ gain. The adaptive control law was explicitly constructed by employing the adaptive adding a power integrator technique proposed in [23]. However, the result in [22] is only applicable to the case where the unknown parameter enters linearly in the state space equation. In this paper we will deal with the almost disturbance decoupling problem for power integrator triangular systems with nonlinear parametrization. With the help of the parameter separation technique proposed in [24], a constructive solution that solves the ADD problem is derived by using the adaptive adding one power integrator. A key feature of our proposed adaptive controller with the function of disturbance attenuation is its minimum-order property, since the order of the dynamic compensator is equal to one.

It should be pointed out that some other problems have been investigated for nonlinear systems. In [25], by using a constructed Lyapunov function, the conditions of ultimate boundedness of solutions for a class of nonlinear systems were given. In [26], an original practical criterion of global stability analysis of nonlinear polynomial systems was proposed. In [27], as a generalization of Gronwalls inequality, generalized dynamic inequalities were introduced to the time scales scene. Then, linear systems with linear and nonlinear perturbations and their stability characteristics versus the unperturbed system were investigated.

For simplicity, throughout this paper we use I[m, n] to denote the set  $\{m, m+1, \dots, n\}$  for two integers m < n. For a group of scalars  $x_i, i \in I[1, j]$ , we use  $x_{[j]}$  to denote the vector  $\begin{bmatrix} x_1 & x_2 & \cdots & x_j \end{bmatrix}^T$ .  $\|\cdot\|$  is used to denote the Euclidean norm of a vector.

# 2 Problem Formulation

We consider the following single-input single-output power integrator lower-triangular system with an unknown parameter vector  $\theta$ :

$$\begin{cases} \dot{x}_{i} = x_{i+1}^{p_{i}} + f_{i}(x_{[i]}) + g_{i}(x_{[i]})w + \phi_{i}(x_{[i]}, \theta), \ i \in I[1, n-1], \\ \dot{x}_{n} = u^{p_{n}} + f_{n}(x_{[n]}) + g_{n}(x_{[n]})w + \phi_{n}(x_{[n]}, \theta), \\ y = h(x_{1}), \end{cases}$$
(1)

where  $u \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $x = x_{[n]} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $y \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $w \in \mathbb{R}^s$  are the control input, system state, system output and disturbance signal, respectively;  $p_i$ ,  $i \in I[1, n]$ , are positive integers and  $f_i(\cdot), g_i(\cdot), i \in I[1, n]$ , and  $h(\cdot)$ , are smooth functions with  $f_i(0) = 0$ ,  $i \in I[1, n]$ , and h(0) = 0;  $\phi_i(\cdot), i \in I[1, n]$  are continuous functions with  $\phi_i(0, \theta) = 0$ .

The objective of this paper is to design, under appropriate conditions, a smooth adaptive controller such that the closed-loop system is globally stable in the sense of Lyapunov, and the influence of the disturbance w(t) on the output y(t) is not greater

than the prescribed level. To be specific, the following problem called the adaptive regulation with almost disturbance decoupling will be dealt with in this paper. In [28], some new results regarding the boundedness, stability and attractivity were provided for a class of initial-boundary-value problems characterized by a quasi-linear third order equation which may contain time-dependent coefficients.

Adaptive Regulation with Almost Disturbance Decoupling (ARADD): Consider the power integrators with nonlinearly parameterized lower triangular structure (1). Given any real number  $\gamma > 0$ , find, if possible, a smooth adaptive controller

$$\begin{cases} \hat{\theta} = \psi(x_{[n]}, \hat{\theta}), \ \psi(0, 0) = 0, \\ u = u(x_{[n]}, \hat{\theta}), \ u(0, 0) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(2)

such that the closed-loop system (1) - (2) satisfies the following:

1) when w = 0, the closed-loop system is globally stable in the sense of Lyapunov, and globally asymptotical regulation of the state is achieved, i.e.,  $\lim_{t\to\infty} x_{[n]}(t) = 0$ .

2) for any disturbance  $w \in L_2$ , the response of the closed-loop system starting from the initial state x(0) = 0 is such that

$$\int_0^t |y(s)|^{2p_1} \, \mathrm{d}s \le \gamma^2 \int_0^t ||w(s)||^2 \, \mathrm{d}s, \text{ for any } t \ge 0.$$

In order to solve the ARADD problem, the following assumptions are needed. **Assumption A1:**  $p_1 \ge p_2 \ge \cdots \ge p_n$  are odd integers. **Assumption A2:** For any  $i \in I[1, n]$ ,

$$\left|f_{i}(x_{[i]})\right| \leq \alpha_{i}(x_{[i]}) \sum_{j=1}^{i} \left|x_{j}\right|^{p_{i}},$$
(3)

where  $\alpha_i(\cdot)$  is a nonnegative smooth function.

**Assumption A3:** For any  $i \in I[1, n]$ ,  $||g_i(x_{[i]})|| \leq \varphi_i(x_{[i]})$ , where  $\varphi_i(\cdot)$  is known bounding function that is nonnegative and smooth.

Assumption A4: For any  $i \in I[1,n]$ ,  $|\phi_i(x_{[i]},\theta)| \leq \beta_i(x_{[i]},\theta) \sum_{j=1}^i |x_j|^{p_i}$ , where  $\beta_i(\cdot)$  is a nonnegative continuous function.

Before ending this section, we provide some useful lemmas. The first lemma is a slight extension of the well-known Young's inequality, and will be repeatedly used in the design of the adaptive controller. The proof can be found in [17].

**Lemma 2.1** For any positive integers m, n, and any real-valued function  $\gamma(x, y) > 0$ , the following inequality holds:

$$|x|^{m} |y|^{n} \leq \frac{m}{m+n} \gamma(x,y) |x|^{m+n} + \frac{n}{m+n} \gamma^{-m/n}(x,y) |y|^{m+n}$$

By applying the above lemma, one can easily obtain the following conclusion [16]. This result will also play a vital role in the adding a power integrator design.

**Lemma 2.2** Let x, y and z, be real variables. Assume that  $g_1 : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$  is a smooth function. Then, for any positive integers m, n and real number N > 0, there exists a nonnegative smooth function  $h_1 : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$  such that the following relation holds:

$$|x^{m}[(y+xg_{1}(x,z))^{n}-(xg_{1}(x,z))^{n}]| \leq \frac{|x|^{m+n}}{N} + |y|^{m+n}h_{1}(x,y,z).$$

The following lemma provides the parameter separation principle. It is this principle that enables us to deal with nonlinear parameterization. A constructive proof of the result can be found in [24].

**Lemma 2.3** For any real-valued continuous function f(x, y), where  $x \in \mathbb{R}^m$ ,  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , there are smooth scalar functions  $a(x) \ge 1$  and  $b(y) \ge 1$ , such that  $|f(x, y)| \le a(x)b(y)$ .

### 3 Global Adaptive Regulation

In this section we solve the problem of adaptive regulation with almost disturbance decoupling for the power integrator lower triangular system (1). Using the adding a power integrator technique as the design tool, we will explicitly construct a one-dimensional adaptive controller that solves the problem of ARADD with the help of the parameter separation technique provided in Lemma 2.3. Now we are ready to present the main result.

**Theorem 3.1** Under the condition of Assumptions A1 - A4, the ARADD problem for system (1) is solvable by a one-dimensional smooth adaptive controller

$$\begin{cases} \stackrel{\cdot}{\hat{\Theta}} = \psi(x_{[n]}, \hat{\Theta}), \ \hat{\Theta} \in \mathbb{R}, \ \psi(0, 0) = 0, \\ u = u(x_{[n]}, \hat{\Theta}), \ u(0, 0) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(4)

**Proof** The proof is based on a feedback domination design approach which combines the technique of adding one power integrator [17, 23] with the parameter separation method [24]. The conclusion is obtained by applying mathematical induction method. Firstly, we need some preliminaries with the help of the parameter separation technique given in Lemma 2.3.

By Lemma 2.3, there exist two smooth functions  $c_i(\theta) \ge 1$  and  $\gamma_i(x_{[i]}) \ge 1$  satisfying

$$\beta_i(x_{[i]}, \theta) \le \gamma_i(x_{[i]})c_i(\theta).$$

Since  $\theta$  is a constant vector,  $c_i(\theta)$  is also a constant. Let  $\Theta := \sum_{i=1}^n c_i(\theta)$  be a new unknown constant. Then Assumption A4 implies that there are smooth function  $\gamma_i(x_{[i]}) \ge 1$ and an unknown constant  $\Theta \ge 1$ , such that

$$\left|\phi_i(x_{[i]},\theta)\right| \le \gamma_i(x_{[i]})\Theta \sum_{j=1}^i |x_j|^{p_i}.$$
(5)

Now we proceed to construct the smooth adaptive controller to solve the ARADD problem for the system (1).

**Step 1:** Define  $\tilde{\Theta} = \Theta - \hat{\Theta}$ , where  $\hat{\Theta}(t)$  is the estimate of  $\Theta$  to be designed later. Consider the Lyapunov function

$$V_1(x_1, \hat{\Theta}) = \frac{1}{p_1 + 1} x_1^{p_1 + 1} + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{\Theta}^2.$$

By (3), (5) and Lemma 2.1, there exist a smooth function  $\rho_0(x_1) \ge 0$ , such that for any  $\beta > 0$ 

$$\begin{split} \dot{V}_{1}(x_{1},\hat{\Theta}) &+ y^{2p_{1}} - \beta \|w\|^{2} \\ &= x_{1}^{p_{1}}(x_{2}^{p_{1}} + f_{1}(x_{1}) + g_{1}(x_{1})w + \phi_{1}(x_{1},\theta)) - \hat{\Theta}\tilde{\Theta} + y^{2p_{1}} - \beta \|w\|^{2} \\ &\leq x_{1}^{p_{1}}x_{2}^{p_{1}} + x_{1}^{2p_{1}}\alpha_{1}(x_{1}) + |x_{1}^{p_{1}}|\varphi_{1}(x_{1})\|w\| + x_{1}^{2p_{1}}\gamma_{1}(x_{1})(\tilde{\Theta} + \hat{\Theta}) - \hat{\Theta}\tilde{\Theta} \\ &+ x_{1}^{2p_{1}}\rho_{0}(x_{1}) - \beta \|w\|^{2} \\ &\leq x_{1}^{p_{1}}x_{2}^{p_{1}} + x_{1}^{2p_{1}}\alpha_{1}(x_{1}) + \frac{x_{1}^{2p_{1}}\varphi_{1}^{2}(x_{1})}{4\beta} + x_{1}^{2p_{1}}\gamma_{1}(x_{1})\hat{\Theta} \\ &+ x_{1}^{2p_{1}}\rho_{0}(x_{1}) + (\Psi_{1}(x_{1},\hat{\Theta}) - \hat{\Theta})\tilde{\Theta} \\ &\leq x_{1}^{p_{1}}x_{2}^{p_{1}} + x_{1}^{2p_{1}}\rho_{1}(x_{1},\hat{\Theta}) + (\Psi_{1}(x_{1},\hat{\Theta}) - \hat{\Theta})\tilde{\Theta}, \end{split}$$

where

$$\rho_1(x_1, \hat{\Theta}) = \alpha_1(x_1) + \gamma_1(x_1)\sqrt{\hat{\Theta}^2 + 1} + \frac{\varphi_1^2(x_1)}{4\beta} + \rho_0(x_1) \ge 0$$

and

$$\Psi_1(x_1, \hat{\Theta}) = x_1^{2p_1} \gamma_1(x_1) \ge 0.$$

It is easy to check that that the virtual controller

$$x_2^*(x_1, \hat{\Theta}) = -x_1 \left[ n + \rho_1(x_1, \hat{\Theta}) \right]^{1/p_1}$$
(6)

satisfies

$$\dot{V}_{1}(x_{1},\hat{\Theta}) + y^{2p_{1}} - \beta \|w\|^{2} \leq -nx_{1}^{2p_{1}} + x_{1}^{p_{1}}(x_{2}^{p_{1}} - x_{2}^{*p_{1}}) + (\Psi_{1}(x_{1},\hat{\Theta}) - \hat{\Theta})\left(\tilde{\Theta} + \eta_{1}\right)$$
(7)

with  $\eta_1 = 0$ . Moreover, the virtual control function  $x_2^*(x_1, \hat{\Theta})$  is smooth due to the smooth nonnegativeness of functions  $\alpha_1(x_1), \gamma_1(x_1)$  and  $\varphi_1(x_1)$ . In addition

$$\left|\Psi_{1}(\xi_{1},\hat{\Theta})\right| \leq \left|x_{1}\right|^{2p_{1}} \bar{\alpha}_{1}(\xi_{1},\hat{\Theta}), \ \bar{\alpha}_{1}(\xi_{1},\hat{\Theta}) = \gamma_{1}(\xi_{1}) \geq 0.$$
(8)

**Step 2:** Consider the  $(x_1, x_2)$ -subsystem of (1). For convenience, we let  $x_1^* = 0$  in the sequential discussion. The change of coordinate

$$\xi_1 = x_1, \quad \xi_2 = x_2 - x_2^*(\xi_1, \hat{\Theta})$$

transforms the  $(x_1, x_2)$ -subsystem of (1) into

$$\begin{split} \dot{\xi}_1 &= \delta_1(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}) + \Phi_1(\xi_1, \hat{\Theta}, \theta) + G_1(\xi_1)w - \omega_1(\hat{\Theta})\hat{\Theta}, \\ \dot{\xi}_2 &= x_3^{p_2} + \Delta_2(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}) + \Phi_2(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}, \theta) + G_2(\xi_{[2]})w - \omega_2(\xi_1, \hat{\Theta})\hat{\Theta}, \end{split}$$

where

$$\begin{split} \delta_1(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}) &= (\xi_2 + x_2^*)^{p_1} + f_1(\xi_1), \\ \Delta_2(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}) &= f_2(\xi_{[2]} + x_{[2]}^*) - \frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial \xi_1} \delta_1(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}), \\ \Phi_1(\xi_1, \hat{\Theta}, \theta) &= \phi_1(\xi_1, \theta), \\ \Phi_2(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}, \theta) &= \phi_2(\xi_{[2]} + x_{[2]}^*, \theta) - \frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial \xi_1} \Phi_1(\xi_1, \hat{\Theta}, \theta), \\ G_1(\xi_1) &= g_1(\xi_1), \\ G_2(\xi_{[2]}) &= g_2(\xi_{[2]} + x_{[2]}^*) - \frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial \xi_1} G_1(\xi_1), \\ \omega_1(\hat{\Theta}) &= 0, \\ \omega_2(\xi_1, \hat{\Theta}) &= \frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial \hat{\Theta}} - \frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial \xi_1} \omega_1(\hat{\Theta}). \end{split}$$

Under the condition of Assumption A4, it follows from the relation (5) that

$$\left|\Phi_{1}(\xi_{1},\hat{\Theta},\theta)\right| \leq |x_{1}|^{p_{1}} \bar{\beta}_{1}(\xi_{1},\hat{\Theta})\Theta, \ \bar{\beta}_{1}(\xi_{1},\hat{\Theta}) = \gamma_{1}(\xi_{1}) \geq 0.$$

With this relation combined with (5), we have by applying Lemma 2.1

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \Phi_{2}(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}, \theta) \right| &\leq \left| \phi_{2}(\xi_{[2]} + x_{[2]}^{*}, \theta) \right| + \left| \frac{\partial x_{2}^{*}}{\partial \xi_{1}} \Phi_{1}(\xi_{1}, \theta) \right| \\ &\leq \left( |\xi_{1}|^{p_{2}} + |\xi_{2} + x_{2}^{*}|^{p_{2}} \right) \gamma_{2}(\xi_{[2]} + x_{[2]}^{*}) \Theta + \left| \frac{\partial x_{2}^{*}}{\partial \xi_{1}} \right| |x_{1}|^{p_{1}} \gamma_{1}(x_{1}) \Theta \\ &\leq \left( |\xi_{1}|^{p_{2}} + |\xi_{2}|^{p_{2}} \right) \tilde{\beta}_{2}(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}) \Theta + |\xi_{1}|^{p_{1}} \left| \frac{\partial x_{2}^{*}}{\partial \xi_{1}} \right| \gamma_{1}(\xi_{1}) \Theta \end{aligned}$$

for a smooth function  $\tilde{\beta}_2(\cdot) \ge 0$ . This inequality implies that

$$\left| \Phi_2(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}, \theta) \right| \le (|\xi_1|^{p_2} + |\xi_2|^{p_2}) \bar{\beta}_2(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}) \Theta$$
(9)

.

for a smooth function  $\bar{\beta}_2(\cdot) \geq 0$ , because  $p_1 \geq p_2$ . By similar ways, it is easy to show that the following two relations hold

$$\left| \delta_{1}(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}) \right| \leq \left( |\xi_{1}|^{p_{1}} + |\xi_{2}|^{p_{1}} \right) \bar{\tau}_{1}(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}),$$
  
$$\left| \Delta_{2}(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}) \right| \leq \left( |\xi_{1}|^{p_{2}} + \left( |\xi_{2}|^{p_{2}} \right) \tilde{\tau}_{2}(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}),$$
(10)

for two nonnegative smooth functions  $\bar{\tau}_1(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta})$  and  $\tilde{\tau}_2(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta})$ . By Assumption A3, it is known that there exist smooth nonnegative functions  $\tilde{\varphi}_1(\xi_1)$  and  $\tilde{\varphi}_2(\xi_{[2]})$ , satisfying

$$\|G_1(\xi_1)\| \le \varphi_1(\xi_1) = \tilde{\varphi}_1(\xi_1),$$
  
$$\|G_2(\xi_{[2]})\| \le \left\|g_2(\xi_{[2]} + x_{[2]}^*) - \frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial \xi_1} G_1(\xi_1)\right\| \le \tilde{\varphi}_2(\xi_{[2]}).$$
(11)

Again using Lemma 2.1, we have from (9) and (10) that

$$\left|\xi_{2}^{2p_{1}-p_{2}}\Phi_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta},\theta)\right| \leq \left[\frac{\xi_{1}^{2p_{1}}}{3(1+\hat{\Theta}^{2})(1+\eta_{1}^{2})} + \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}}\bar{\rho}_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta})\right]\Theta$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{6}\xi_{1}^{2p_{1}} + \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}}\bar{\rho}_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta})\sqrt{\hat{\Theta}^{2}+1} + \left[\frac{\xi_{1}^{2p_{1}}}{3(1+\hat{\Theta}^{2})(1+\eta_{1}^{2})} + \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}}\bar{\rho}_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta})\right]\tilde{\Theta},(12)$$

$$\left|\xi_{2}^{2p_{1}-p_{2}}\Delta_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta})\right| \leq \frac{1}{6}\xi_{1}^{2p_{1}} + \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}}\check{\rho}_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta}),\tag{13}$$

for some nonnegative smooth functions  $\bar{\rho}_2(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta})$  and  $\check{\rho}_2(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta})$ . By applying Lemma 2.2, it is easy to show from (6) that

$$\left|\xi_1^{p_1}((\xi_2 + x_2^*)^{p_1} - x_2^{*p_1})\right| \le \frac{\xi_1^{2p_1}}{6} + \xi_2^{2p_1}\tilde{\rho}_2(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}),\tag{14}$$

for some nonnegative smooth function  $\tilde{\rho}_2(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta})$ . Now, consider the Lyapunov function

$$V_2(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}) = V_1(x_1, \hat{\Theta}) + \frac{\xi_2^{2p_1 - p_2 + 1}}{2p_1 - p_2 + 1}$$

which is positive definite and radially unbounded. With the relations (7), (12), (13) and (14), a straightforward computation gives

$$\begin{split} \dot{V}_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\tilde{\Theta}) + y^{2p_{1}} - 2\beta \|w\|^{2} \\ &\leq -n\xi_{1}^{2p_{1}} + \xi_{1}^{p_{1}}((\xi_{2} + x_{2}^{*})^{p_{1}} - x_{2}^{*p_{1}}) + (\Psi_{1}(x_{1},\hat{\Theta}) - \hat{\Theta})\left(\tilde{\Theta} + \eta_{1}\right) \\ &+ \xi_{2}^{2p_{1} - p_{2}}\left(x_{3}^{p_{2}} + \Delta_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta}) + \Phi_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta},\theta) + G_{2}(\xi_{[2]})w\right) \\ &- \xi_{2}^{2p_{1} - p_{2}}\omega_{2}(\xi_{1},\hat{\Theta})\hat{\Theta} - \beta \|w\|^{2} \\ &\leq -\left(n - \frac{1}{2}\right)\xi_{1}^{2p_{1}} + \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}}\tilde{\rho}_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta}) + (\Psi_{1}(x_{1},\hat{\Theta}) - \hat{\Theta})\left(\tilde{\Theta} + \eta_{1}\right) + \xi_{2}^{2p_{1} - p_{2}}G_{2}(\xi_{[2]})w \\ &+ \xi_{2}^{2p_{1} - p_{2}}x_{3}^{p_{2}} + \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}}\tilde{\rho}_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta}) + \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}}\bar{\rho}_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta})\sqrt{\hat{\Theta}^{2} + 1} - \beta \|w\|^{2} \end{split}$$
(15)   
 &+ \left[\frac{\xi\_{1}^{2p\_{1}}}{3(1 + \hat{\Theta}^{2})(1 + \eta\_{1}^{2})} + \xi\_{2}^{2p\_{1}}\bar{\rho}\_{2}(\xi\_{[2]},\hat{\Theta})\right]\tilde{\Theta} - \xi\_{2}^{2p\_{1} - p\_{2}}\omega\_{2}(\xi\_{1},\hat{\Theta})\hat{\Theta} \\ &= -\left(n - \frac{1}{2}\right)\xi\_{1}^{2p\_{1}} + \xi\_{2}^{2p\_{1} - p\_{2}}x\_{3}^{p\_{2}} + \xi\_{2}^{2p\_{1}}\left[\tilde{\rho}\_{2}(\xi\_{[2]},\hat{\Theta}) + \bar{\rho}\_{2}(\xi\_{[2]},\hat{\Theta})\sqrt{\hat{\Theta}^{2} + 1} + \check{\rho}\_{2}(\xi\_{[2]},\hat{\Theta})\right] \\ &+ \xi\_{2}^{2p\_{1} - p\_{2}}G\_{2}(\xi\_{[2]})w - \beta \|w\|^{2} + \left(\Psi\_{2}(\xi\_{[2]},\hat{\Theta}) - \hat{\Theta}\right)\left(\tilde{\Theta} + \eta\_{2}(\xi\_{[2]},\hat{\Theta})\right) + \Pi\_{2}(\xi\_{[2]},\hat{\Theta}), \end{split}

where

$$\Psi_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta}) = \Psi_{1}(\xi_{1}) + \frac{\xi_{1}^{2p_{1}}}{3(1+\hat{\Theta}^{2})(1+\eta_{1}^{2})} + \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}}\bar{\rho}_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta}),$$
$$\eta_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta}) = \eta_{1} + \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}-p_{2}}\omega_{2}(\xi_{1},\hat{\Theta}),$$
$$\Pi_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta}) = -\Psi_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta})\xi_{2}^{2p_{1}-p_{2}}\omega_{2}(\xi_{1},\hat{\Theta}) - \left[\frac{\xi_{1}^{2p_{1}}}{3(1+\hat{\Theta}^{2})(1+\eta_{1}^{2})} + \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}}\bar{\rho}_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta})\right]\eta_{1}.$$
(16)

By applying Lemma 2.1 again, it is easy to derive from the relation (8) that

$$\left|\Psi_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta})\right| \leq (\xi_{1}^{2p_{1}} + \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}})\bar{\alpha}_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta})$$
(17)

for a smooth function  $\bar{\alpha}_2(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}) \geq 0$ . By the completion of square, it is easily derived from (11) that

$$\left\|\xi_{2}^{2p_{1}-p_{2}}G_{2}(\xi_{[2]})w\right\| \leq \left\|\xi_{2}^{2p_{1}-p_{2}}\right\|\tilde{\varphi}_{2}(\xi_{[2]})\|w\| \leq \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}}\frac{\xi_{2}^{2p_{1}-2p_{2}}\tilde{\varphi}_{2}^{2}(\xi_{[2]})}{4\beta} + \beta\|w\|^{2}.(18)$$

In view of the relation (17), by using Lemma 2.1 it is easily obtained from (16) that the following relation holds

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \Pi_{2}(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}) \right| & (19) \\ \leq & \left( \xi_{1}^{2p_{1}} + \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}} \right) \bar{\alpha}_{2}(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}) \left| \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}-p_{2}} \omega_{2}(\xi_{1}, \hat{\Theta}) \right| + \frac{1}{6} \xi_{1}^{2p_{1}} + \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}} \bar{\rho}_{2}(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}) \sqrt{\eta_{1}^{2} + 1} \\ \leq & \frac{\xi_{1}^{2p_{1}}}{2} + \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}} \hat{\rho}_{2}(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}). \end{aligned}$$

for a nonnegative smooth functions  $\hat{\rho}_2(\cdot)$ . With the relations (14) – (19) in mind, it follows from (15) that

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{V}_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta}) &\leq -(n-1)x_{1}^{2p_{1}} + \left(\Psi_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta}) - \hat{\Theta}\right) \left(\tilde{\Theta} + \eta_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta})\right) \\ &+ \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}}\rho_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta}) + \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}-p_{2}}\left(x_{3}^{p_{2}} - x_{3}^{*p_{2}}\right) + \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}-p_{2}}x_{3}^{*p_{2}}, \end{aligned}$$

where

$$\rho_2(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}) = \tilde{\rho}_2(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}) + \check{\rho}_2(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}) + \bar{\rho}_2(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}) \sqrt{\hat{\Theta}^2 + 1} + \hat{\rho}_2(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}) + \frac{\xi_2^{2p_1 - 2p_2} \tilde{\varphi}_2^2(\xi_{[2]})}{4\beta} \ge 0.$$

Choose

$$x_3^* = -\xi_2 \left[ n - 1 + \rho_2(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}) \right]^{1/p_2}.$$

This smooth virtual controller will satisfy

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{V}_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta}) + y^{2p_{1}} - 2\beta \left\|w\right\|^{2} &\leq -(n-1)(\xi_{1}^{2p_{1}} + \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}}) + \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}-p_{2}}\left(x_{3}^{p_{2}} - x_{3}^{*p_{2}}\right) \\ &+ \left(\Psi_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta}) - \hat{\Theta}\right)\left(\tilde{\Theta} + \eta_{2}(\xi_{[2]},\hat{\Theta})\right). \end{aligned}$$

**Inductive Step:** Suppose for the system (1) with dimension k, there is a global change of coordinates  $\xi_i = x_i - x_i^*(\xi_{[i-1]}, \hat{\Theta}), i \in I[1, k]$ , transforming (1) into the system

$$\dot{\xi}_{1} = \delta_{1}(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}) + \Phi_{1}(\xi_{1}, \hat{\Theta}, \theta) + G_{1}(\xi_{1})w - \omega_{1}(\hat{\Theta})\hat{\Theta},$$

$$\vdots \qquad (20)$$

$$\dot{\xi}_{k-1} = \delta_{k-1}(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta}) + \Phi_{k-1}(\xi_{[k-1]}, \hat{\Theta}, \theta) + G_{k-1}(\xi_{[k-1]})w - \omega_{k-1}(\xi_{[k-2]}, \hat{\Theta})\hat{\Theta},$$

$$\dot{\xi}_{k} = x_{k+1}^{p_{k}} + \Delta_{k}(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta}) + \Phi_{k}(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta}, \theta) + G_{k}(\xi_{[k]})w - \omega_{k}(\xi_{[k-1]}, \hat{\Theta})\hat{\Theta},$$

where

$$x_i^* = -\xi_{i-1} \left[ n - i + 2 + \rho_{i-1}(\xi_{[i-1]}, \hat{\Theta}) \right]^{1/p_{i-1}}, \, i \in I[2, k],$$
(21)

$$\left|\Phi_{i}(\xi_{[i]}, \hat{\Theta}, \theta)\right| \leq \bar{\beta}_{i}(\xi_{[i]}, \hat{\Theta}) \Theta \sum_{\substack{j=1\\i}}^{i} |\xi_{j}|^{p_{i}}, \ i \in I[1, k],$$

$$(22)$$

$$\left|\delta_{i}(\xi_{[i+1]}, \hat{\Theta}, \theta)\right| \leq \bar{\tau}_{i}(\xi_{[i+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) \sum_{j=1}^{i} |\xi_{j}|^{p_{i}}, \ i \in I[1, k-1],$$
(23)

$$\left|\Delta_k(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta}, \theta)\right| \le \tilde{\tau}_k(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta}) \sum_{j=1}^k |\xi_j|^{p_k}, \qquad (24)$$

$$\left\|G_i(\xi_{[i]})\right\| \le \tilde{\varphi}_i(\xi_{[i]}),\tag{25}$$

for some nonnegative smooth functions  $\bar{\beta}_i(\cdot)$ ,  $\tilde{\varphi}_i(\cdot)$ ,  $i \in I[1,k]$ ,  $\tilde{\tau}_k(\cdot)$ , and  $\rho_i(\cdot)$ ,  $\bar{\tau}_i(\cdot)$ ,  $i \in I[1, k-1]$ . Moreover, there is a virtual controller

$$x_{k+1}^*(x_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta}) = -\xi_k \left[ n - k + 1 + \rho_k(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta}) \right]^{1/p_k}, \ \rho_k(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta}) \ge 0,$$
(26)

such that the closed-loop system (20) - (26) satisfies

$$\dot{V}_{k}(\xi_{[k]},\hat{\Theta}) + y^{2p_{1}} - k\beta \|w\|^{2} \leq -(n-k+1)\sum_{i=1}^{k}\xi_{i}^{2p_{1}} + \xi_{k}^{2p_{1}-p_{k}}\left(x_{k+1}^{p_{k}} - x_{k+1}^{*p_{k}}\right)(27) \\
+ \left(\Psi_{k}(\xi_{[k]},\hat{\Theta}) - \dot{\hat{\Theta}}\right)\left(\tilde{\Theta} + \eta_{k}(\xi_{[k]},\hat{\Theta})\right),$$

where

$$V_k(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta}) = \frac{1}{2}\tilde{\Theta}^2 + \sum_{i=1}^k \frac{\xi_i^{2p_1 - p_i + 1}}{2p_1 - p_i + 1},$$

is a positive definite and proper Lyapunov function. Moreover,

$$\left|\Psi_k(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta})\right| \le \bar{\alpha}_k(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta}) \sum_{i=1}^k \xi_i^{2p_1}.$$
(28)

Then, in the case when the dimension of system (1) is equal to k+1, introduce the transformation  $\xi_{k+1} = x_{k+1} - x_{k+1}^*(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta})$ . This, together with (26), leads to the augmented system

$$\dot{\xi}_{1} = \delta_{1}(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta}) + \Phi_{1}(\xi_{1}, \hat{\Theta}, \theta) + G_{1}(\xi_{1}) - \omega_{1}(\hat{\Theta})\hat{\Theta}, 
\dots \qquad (29)$$

$$\dot{\xi}_{k} = \delta_{k}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) + \Phi_{k}(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta}, \theta) + G_{k}(\xi_{[k]}) - \omega_{k}(\xi_{[k-1]}, \hat{\Theta})\hat{\Theta}, 
\dot{\xi}_{k+1} = x_{k+2}^{p_{k+1}} + \Delta_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) + \Phi_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}, \theta), 
+ G_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]})w - \omega_{k+1}(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta})\hat{\Theta},$$

where

$$\omega_{k+1}(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta}) = -\sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{\partial x_{k+1}^*}{\partial \xi_i} \omega_i(\xi_{[i-1]}, \hat{\Theta}) + \frac{\partial x_{k+1}^*}{\partial \hat{\Theta}},$$

$$\delta_k(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) = \Delta_k(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) + (\xi_{k+1} + x_{k+1}^*)^{p_k},$$

$$\Delta_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) = f_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]} + x_{[k+1]}^*) - \sum_{i=1}^k \frac{\partial x_{k+1}^*}{\partial \xi_i} \delta_i(\xi_{[i+1]}, \hat{\Theta}),$$

$$\Phi_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}, \theta) = \phi_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]} + x^*_{[k+1]}, \theta) - \sum_{i=1}^k \frac{\partial x^*_{k+1}}{\partial \xi_i} \Phi_i(\xi_{[i]}, \hat{\Theta}, \theta),$$

$$G_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}) = g_{k+1}(\xi_{[k]}) - \sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{\partial x_{k+1}^*}{\partial \xi_i} G_i(\xi_{[i]}).$$

Under the condition of Assumption 4, the relation (5) holds. Combining this relation with the inductive assumption (22) and (21), and applying Lemma 2.1, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \Phi_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}, \theta) \right| &\leq \left| \phi_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]} + x_{[k+1]}^*, \theta) \right| + \sum_{i=1}^k \left| \frac{\partial x_{k+1}^*}{\partial \xi_i} \right| \Phi_i(\xi_{[i]}, \hat{\Theta}, \theta) \\ &\leq \gamma_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]} + x_{[k+1]}^*) \Theta \sum_{i=1}^{k+1} |\xi_i + x_i^*|^{p_{k+1}} \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^k \left[ \left| \frac{\partial x_{k+1}^*}{\partial \xi_i} \right| \bar{\beta}_i(\xi_{[i]}, \hat{\Theta}) \Theta \sum_{j=1}^i |\xi_j|^{p_i} \right]. \end{aligned}$$

In view of the fact that and  $p_1 \ge p_2 \ge \cdots \ge p_{k+1}$ , there exists a smooth function  $\bar{\beta}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) \ge 0$ , such that

$$\left| \Phi_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}, \theta) \right| \le \Theta \bar{\beta}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) \sum_{i=1}^{k+1} \left| \xi_i \right|^{p_{k+1}}.$$
(30)

Under the condition of Assumption A3, by applying the inductive assumption (25) and the smoothness of  $x_i^*$ ,  $i \in I[1, k]$ , it is known that there is a smooth function  $\tilde{\varphi}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]})$ to satisfy

$$\left\| G_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}) \right\| \le \tilde{\varphi}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}). \tag{31}$$

According to the inductive assumptions (24) and (21), we can obtain by using Lemma 2.1 again

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \delta_{k}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) \right| &\leq \left| \Delta_{k}(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta}) \right| + \left| (\xi_{k+1} + x_{k+1}^{*})^{p_{k}} \right| \\ &\leq \tilde{\tau}_{k}(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta}) \sum_{i=1}^{k} |\xi_{i}|^{p_{k}} + \left| (\xi_{k+1} + x_{k+1}^{*})^{p_{k}} \right| \\ &\leq \bar{\tau}_{k}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) \sum_{i=1}^{k+1} |\xi_{i}|^{p_{k}} \end{aligned}$$
(32)

for some smooth function  $\bar{\tau}_k(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) \geq 0$ . According to Assumption 2 and by the relations (32) and (23), it can be derived that

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \Delta_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) \right| &\leq \left| f_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]} + x_{[k+1]}^*) - \sum_{i=1}^k \frac{\partial x_{k+1}^*}{\partial \xi_i} \delta_i(\xi_{[i+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) \right| \\ &\leq \alpha_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]} + x_{[k+1]}^*) \sum_{i=1}^{k+1} |\xi_i + x_i^*|^{p_{k+1}} \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^k \left[ \left| \frac{\partial x_{k+1}^*}{\partial \xi_i} \right| \bar{\tau}_i(\xi_{[i+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) \sum_{j=1}^{i+1} |\xi_j|^{p_i} \right] \\ &\leq \tilde{\tau}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) \sum_{j=1}^{k+1} |\xi_j|^{p_{k+1}} \end{aligned}$$
(33)

for a smooth function  $\tilde{\tau}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) \ge 0$ . Again using Lemma 2.1, we have from (30)

$$\left| \xi_{k+1}^{2p_1 - p_{k+1}} \Phi_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}, \theta) \right| \\
\leq \left[ \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{k} \xi_i^{2p_1}}{3(1 + \hat{\Theta}^2)(1 + \eta_k^2(x_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta}))} + \xi_{k+1}^{2p_1} \bar{\rho}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) \right] \Theta \\
< \frac{1}{\tau} \sum_{i=1}^{k} \xi_i^{2p_1} + \xi_{k+1}^{2p_1} \bar{\rho}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) \sqrt{\hat{\Theta}^2 + 1} \tag{34}$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{6} \sum_{i=1}^{k} \xi_{i}^{2p_{1}} + \xi_{k+1}^{2p_{1}} \bar{\rho}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \Theta) \sqrt{\Theta^{2} + 1}$$

$$[ \sum_{i=1}^{k} \xi_{i}^{2p_{1}} ]$$

$$(34)$$

+ 
$$\left[\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{k}\xi_{i}^{2p_{1}}}{3(1+\hat{\Theta}^{2})(1+\eta_{k}^{2}(x_{[k]},\hat{\Theta}))} + \xi_{k+1}^{2p_{1}}\bar{\rho}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]},\hat{\Theta})\right]\tilde{\Theta},$$
 (35)

$$\left|\xi_{k+1}^{2p_1-p_2}\Delta_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]},\hat{\Theta})\right| \le \frac{1}{6}\sum_{i=1}^{k}\xi_i^{2p_1} + \xi_{k+1}^{2p_1}\check{\rho}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]},\hat{\Theta}),\tag{36}$$

for some nonnegative smooth functions  $\bar{\rho}_{k+1}(\xi_{[2]}, \hat{\Theta})$  and  $\check{\rho}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta})$ . By applying Lemma 2.2, it is easy to show that

$$\left|\xi_{k}^{2p_{1}-p_{k}}\left(\left(\xi_{k+1}+x_{k+1}^{*}\right)^{p_{k}}-x_{k+1}^{*p_{k}}\right)\right| \leq \frac{1}{6}\xi_{k}^{2p_{1}}+\xi_{k+1}^{2p_{1}}\tilde{\rho}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]},\hat{\Theta}),\tag{37}$$

for some nonnegative smooth function  $\tilde{\rho}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta})$ . Now consider the Lyapunov function

$$V_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) = V_k(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta}) + \frac{\xi_{k+1}^{2p_1 - p_{k+1} + 1}}{2p_1 - p_{k+1} + 1}.$$

With the relations (35), (36) and (37) and the inductive assumption (27), it is derived that the time derivative of  $V_{k+1}$  along the trajectories of system (29) satisfies

$$\begin{split} \dot{V}_{k+1} + y^{2p_1} - (k+1)\beta \|w\|^2 \\ &\leq -(n-k+1)\sum_{i=1}^k \xi_i^{2p_1} + \xi_k^{2p_1-p_k} \left(x_{k+1}^{p_k} - x_{k+1}^{*p_k}\right) \\ &+ \left(\Psi_k(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta}) - \dot{\Theta}\right) \left(\tilde{\Theta} + \eta_k(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta})\right) \\ &+ \xi_{k+1}^{2p_1-p_{k+1}} \left(x_{k+2}^{p_{k+1}} + \Delta_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) + \Phi_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}, \theta \right. \\ &+ \left. G_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]})w - \omega_{k+1}(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta})\dot{\Theta}\right) - \beta \|w\|^2 \\ &\leq -(n-k+1)\sum_{i=1}^k \xi_i^{2p_1} + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^k \xi_i^{2p_1} + \left(\Psi_k(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta}) - \dot{\Theta}\right) \left(\tilde{\Theta} + \eta_k(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta})\right) \\ &+ \xi_{k+1}^{2p_1-p_{k+1}} x_{k+2}^{p_{k+2}} + \xi_{k+1}^{2p_1} \left[\bar{\rho}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta})\sqrt{\dot{\Theta}^2 + 1} + \bar{\rho}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) \right. \\ &+ \left. \tilde{\rho}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) \right] - \xi_{k+1}^{2p_1-p_{k+1}} \omega_{k+1}(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta})\dot{\Theta} \\ &+ \left[ \frac{\sum_{i=1}^k \xi_i^{2p_1}}{3(1+\hat{\Theta}^2)(1+\eta_k^2(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta}))} + \xi_{k+1}^{2p_1}\bar{\rho}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) \right] \tilde{\Theta} \\ &+ \xi_{k+1}^{2p_1-p_{k+1}} G_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]})w - \beta \|w\|^2 \\ &= -(n-k+\frac{1}{2})\sum_{i=1}^k \xi_i^{2p_1} + \xi_{k+1}^{2p_1} \left[ \bar{\rho}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta})\sqrt{\dot{\Theta}^2 + 1} + \check{\rho}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) \right] (38) \\ &+ \left. \tilde{\rho}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) \right] + \xi_2^{2p_1-p_2} G_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]})w - \beta \|w\|^2 + \xi_{k+1}^{2p_1-p_{k+1}} x_{k+2}^{p_{k+1}} (39) \\ &+ \left(\Psi_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) - \dot{\Theta}\right) \left(\tilde{\Theta} + \eta_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta})\right) + \Pi_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}), \end{split}$$

where

$$\Psi_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) = \Psi_k(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta}) + \frac{\sum_{i=1}^k \xi_i^{2p_1}}{3(1+\hat{\Theta}^2)(1+\eta_k^2(x_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta}))} + \xi_{k+1}^{2p_1}\bar{\rho}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}),$$
$$\eta_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) = \eta_k(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta}) + \xi_{k+1}^{2p_1-p_{k+1}}\omega_{k+1}(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta})$$

$$\Pi_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) = -\Psi_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta})\xi_{k+1}^{2p_1 - p_{k+1}}\omega_{k+1}(\xi_{[k]}, \hat{\Theta})$$

$$- \left[\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{k}\xi_i^{2p_1}}{3(1+\hat{\Theta}^2)(1+\eta_k^2(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}))} + \xi_{k+1}^{2p_1}\bar{\rho}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta})\right]\eta_k(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}).$$
(40)

By using Lemma 2.1, it is easily derived from (28) that the following relation holds

$$\left|\Psi_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta})\right| \le \bar{\alpha}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) \sum_{i=1}^{k+1} |\xi_i|^{2p_1}$$
(41)

for a smooth function  $\bar{\alpha}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) \geq 0$ . In view of relation (41), we have

$$\Pi_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta}) \leq \bar{\alpha}_{k+1}(\cdot) \left| \xi_{k+1}^{2p_1 - p_{k+1}} \omega_{k+1}(\cdot) \right| \sum_{i=1}^{k+1} |\xi_i|^{2p_1} + \frac{1}{6} \sum_{i=1}^k \xi_i^{2p_1}$$

$$+ \xi_{k+1}^{2p_1} \bar{\rho}_{k+1}(\cdot) \sqrt{\eta_k^2(\cdot) + 1} \leq \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^k \xi_i^{2p_1} + \xi_{k+1}^{2p_1} \hat{\rho}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta})$$

$$(42)$$

for a smooth function  $\hat{\rho}_{k+1}(\cdot)$ . On the other hand, it follows from (31) that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}-p_{2}} G_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}) w \right\| &\leq \left\| \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}-p_{2}} \right\| \tilde{\varphi}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}) \| w \| \\ &\leq \xi_{2}^{2p_{1}} \frac{\xi_{2}^{2p_{1}-2p_{2}} \tilde{\varphi}_{k+1}^{2}(\xi_{[k+1]})}{4\beta} + \beta \| w \|^{2} \,. \end{aligned}$$
(43)

By substituting (42) and (43) into (39), it is clear that the following virtual controller

$$x_{k+2}^*(\xi_{[k+1]},\hat{\Theta}) = -\xi_{k+1} \left[ n - k + \rho_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]},\hat{\Theta}) \right]^{\frac{1}{p_{k+1}}}$$

with

$$\rho_{k+1}(\cdot) = \bar{\rho}_{k+1}(\cdot)\sqrt{\hat{\Theta}^2 + 1} + \check{\rho}_{k+1}(\cdot) + \tilde{\rho}_{k+1}(\cdot) + \hat{\rho}_{k+1}(\cdot) + \frac{\xi_2^{2p_1 - 2p_2}\tilde{\varphi}_{k+1}^2(\xi_{[k+1]})}{4\beta},$$

renders

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{V}_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]},\hat{\Theta}) &\leq -(n-k)\sum_{i=1}^{k+1} |\xi_i|^{2p_1} + \xi_{k+1}^{2p_1-p_{k+1}} \left[ x_{k+2}^{p_{k+1}} - x_{k+2}^{*p_{k+1}} \right] \\ &+ \left( \Psi_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]},\hat{\Theta}) - \dot{\hat{\Theta}} \right) \left( \tilde{\Theta} + \eta_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]},\hat{\Theta}) \right). \end{aligned}$$

The aforementioned inductive argument shows that (27) holds for k = n. In fact, in the *n*-th step, one can construct explicitly a global change of coordinates  $(\xi_1, \xi_2, \dots, \xi_n)$ , a positive-definite and proper Lyapunov function  $V_n(\xi_{[n]}, \tilde{\Theta})$  and a smooth controller

$$u^*(\xi_{[n]}, \hat{\Theta}) = -\xi_n \left[1 + \rho_n(\xi_{[n]}, \hat{\Theta})\right]^{1/p_n}$$

for some smooth functions  $\rho_n(\cdot) \ge 0$  and  $\Psi_{k+1}(\xi_{[k+1]}, \hat{\Theta})$ , such that

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{V}_{n}(\xi_{[n]},\tilde{\Theta}) + y^{2p_{1}} - n\beta \left\| w \right\|^{2} &\leq -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{i}^{2p_{1}} + \xi_{n}^{2p_{1}-p_{n}} \left( u^{p_{n}} - u^{*p_{n}} \right) \\ &+ \left( \Psi_{n}(\xi_{[n]},\hat{\Theta}) - \dot{\hat{\Theta}} \right) \left( \tilde{\Theta} + \eta_{n}(\xi_{[n]},\hat{\Theta}) \right) \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, the one-dimensional smooth adaptive controller

$$\begin{cases} \stackrel{\cdot}{\hat{\Theta}} = \Psi_n(\xi_{[n]}, \hat{\Theta}), \\ u = u^*(\xi_{[n]}, \hat{\Theta}), \end{cases}$$
(44)

is such that

$$\dot{V}_n(\xi_{[n]}, \hat{\Theta}) + y^{2p_1} - n\beta \|w\|^2 \le -\sum_{i=1}^n \xi_i^{2p_1}.$$
 (45)

Set  $\beta = \gamma^2/n$ , we have

$$\dot{V}_n(\xi_{[n]}, \hat{\Theta}) + y^{2p_1} - \gamma^2 \|w\|^2 \le -\sum_{i=1}^n \xi_i^{2p_1}.$$
 (46)

When w = 0, it is derived that

$$\dot{V}_n(\xi_{[n]}, \hat{\Theta}) \le -\sum_{i=1}^n \xi_i^{2p_1}.$$
(47)

According to the classical Lyapunov stability theory, it is known that the closed-loop system is global stable at the equilibrium  $(\xi_{[n]}, \hat{\Theta}) = (0, 0)$ . Since the Lyapunov function  $V_n(\xi_{[n]}, \hat{\Theta})$  is positive definite and proper, it follows from (47) and La Salle's invariance principle that all the bounded trajectories of the closed-loop system approach the largest invariant set contained in  $\{(\xi_{[n]}, \hat{\Theta}) : \dot{V}_n = 0\}$ . Hence,  $\lim_{t\to\infty} \xi_{[n]}(t) = 0$ . This, combined with (21) with k = n, implies  $\lim_{t\to\infty} x_{[n]}(t) = 0$ . Moreover, note that  $V_n(\cdot)$  is positive definite with  $V_n(0) = 0$ . It follows from (46) that

$$\int_0^t |y(s)|^{2p_1} \, \mathrm{d}s \le \gamma^2 \int_0^t ||w||^2 \, \mathrm{d}s, \, \forall t \ge 0, \, \text{when } x(0) = 0.$$

This completes the proof of the theorem.

The proof of Theorem 3.1 is constructive, thus the design procedure of the adaptive controller solving the ARADD problem is actually given. When w = 0 and  $f_i(x_i) = 0$ ,  $i \in I[1, n]$ , it is easy to check that Theorem 3.1 recovers the global stabilization results obtained in [24]. In addition, for the case of linearly parameterized systems we have the following corollary from Theorem 3.1.

**Corollary 3.1** Consider the power integrator triangular system (1) in which  $\phi_i(x_{[i]}, \theta) = \phi_i(x_{[i]})\theta$ . If Assumptions A1–A3 hold and

$$\phi_i(x_{[i]}) \le \gamma_i(x_{[i]}) \sum_{j=1}^i |x_j|^{p_i}, \ i \in I[1,n],$$

then the ARADD problem is solvable by the one-dimensional smooth adaptive controller (4).

According to the result in [22], for linearly parameterized system (1) with sdimensional unknown parameter  $\theta$ , the designed adaptive controller is s-dimensional. However, the results presented in this paper indicate that the global adaptive regulation with almost disturbance decoupling for systems (1) is achievable by a smooth one-dimensional adaptive controller, no matter how big the number of unknown parameters is. This shows the minimum-order property of the proposed adaptive controller controller.

### 4 An Illustrative Example

Consider the following high-order planar nonlinear system

$$\begin{cases} \dot{x}_1 = x_2^3 + \frac{\theta x_1^3}{1 + (\sigma x_2)^2} + w, \\ \dot{x}_2 = u^3, \\ y = x_1, \end{cases}$$

where  $\theta$  and  $\sigma$  are the unknown parameters and w is the disturbance. For this system, one has

$$p_1 = p_2 = 3$$
,  $f_1 = f_2 = 0$ ,  $g_1 = 1, g_2 = 0$ ,  $\phi_1(x) = \frac{\theta x_1^3}{1 + (\sigma x_2)^2}$ .

By letting

$$\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = 0, \quad \varphi_1 = 1, \varphi_2 = 0, \quad \beta_1 = |\theta|$$

it is easy to check that Assumptions A1-A4 are satisfied since

$$|\phi_1(x)| = \left| \frac{\theta x_1^3}{1 + (\sigma x_2)^2} \right| \le |\theta| |x_1|^3.$$

In addition, it is easily obtained that  $\Theta = |\theta|$  and  $\gamma_1 = 1$ . Define  $V_1 = \frac{1}{4}x_1^4 + \frac{1}{2}\tilde{\Theta}^2$ . Then one has

$$\begin{split} \dot{V}_{1} &= x_{1}^{3} \dot{x}_{1} + \tilde{\Theta} \dot{\tilde{\Theta}} \\ &= x_{1}^{3} \left( x_{2}^{3} + \frac{\theta x_{1}^{3}}{1 + (\sigma x_{2})^{2}} + w \right) - \tilde{\Theta} \dot{\tilde{\Theta}} \\ &\leq x_{1}^{3} x_{2}^{3} + x_{1}^{6} \left( \hat{\Theta} + \tilde{\Theta} \right) + |x_{1}|^{3} |w| - \tilde{\Theta} \dot{\tilde{\Theta}} \\ &\leq x_{1}^{3} x_{2}^{3} + x_{1}^{6} \left( \hat{\Theta} + \tilde{\Theta} \right) + \frac{x_{1}^{6}}{4\beta} + \beta w^{2} - \tilde{\Theta} \dot{\tilde{\Theta}} \\ &\leq x_{1}^{3} x_{2}^{3} + x_{1}^{6} \left( \sqrt{1 + \hat{\Theta}^{2}} + \frac{1}{4\beta} + 1 \right) - x_{1}^{6} + \beta |w|^{2} + \left( x_{1}^{6} - \dot{\tilde{\Theta}} \right) \end{split}$$

Let  $\rho_1 = \sqrt{1 + \hat{\Theta}^2} + \frac{1}{4\beta} + 1$ ,  $\Psi_1 = x_1^6$ ,  $\rho_0 = 1$ . Then one can obtian

$$\dot{V}_1 + y^6 - \beta w^2 \le x_1^3 x_2^3 + x_1^6 \rho_1 + \left(\Psi_1 - \dot{\Theta}\right) \tilde{\Theta}.$$

Θ.

By choosing  $x_2^* = -x_1 \left(2 + \rho_1\right)^{1/3}$ , one can further obtain

$$\dot{V}_1 + y^6 - \beta w^2 \le -2x_1^6 + x_1^3 \left(x_2^2 - x_2^{*2}\right) + \left(\Psi_1 - \dot{\hat{\Theta}}\right) \tilde{\Theta}.$$

Define  $\xi_2 = x_2 - x_2^*$ . Then it is derived that

$$\dot{\xi}_2 = \dot{x}_2 - \dot{x}_2^* = u^3 - \frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial x_1} \dot{x}_1 - \frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial \hat{\Theta}} \dot{\hat{\Theta}} = u^3 + \Delta_2 + \Phi_2 + G_2 w - \omega_2 \dot{\hat{\Theta}},$$

where

$$\Delta_2 = -\frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial x_1} \left(\xi_2 + x_2^*\right)^3, \ \Phi_2 = -\frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial x_1} \frac{\theta x_1^3}{1 + (\sigma x_2)^2}, \quad G_2 = -\frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial x_1}, \ \omega_2 = -\frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial \hat{\Theta}}.$$

By defining  $V_2 = V_1 + \frac{1}{4}\xi_2^4$ , one has  $\dot{V}_2 + u^6 - 2\beta w^2$ 

$$\begin{aligned} V_2 + y^6 &- 2\beta w^2 \\ &= \dot{V}_1 + y^6 - \beta w^2 - \beta w^2 + \xi_2^3 \dot{\xi}_2 \\ &\leq -2x_1^6 + x_1^3 \left( x_2^3 - x_2^{*3} \right) + \left( \Psi_1 - \dot{\Theta} \right) \tilde{\Theta} - \beta w^2 \\ &+ \xi_2^3 u^3 + \xi_2^3 \Delta_2 + \xi_2^3 \Phi_2 + \xi_2^3 G_2 w - \xi_2^3 \omega_2 \dot{\Theta} \\ &\leq -2x_1^6 + \left| x_1^3 \left( x_2^3 - x_2^{*3} \right) \right| + \left( \Psi_1 - \dot{\Theta} \right) \tilde{\Theta} - \beta w^2 \\ &+ \xi_2^3 u^3 + \left| \xi_2^3 \Delta_2 \right| + \left| \xi_2^3 \Phi_2 \right| + \left| \xi_2^3 G_2 w \right| + \left| \xi_2^3 \omega_2 \dot{\Theta} \right|. \end{aligned}$$

Simple computations yield

$$\begin{aligned} |\Delta_{2}| &= \left| \frac{\partial x_{2}^{*}}{\partial x_{1}} \left(\xi_{2} + x_{2}^{*}\right)^{3} \right| \\ &= \left| \frac{\partial x_{2}^{*}}{\partial x_{1}} \right| \left| \xi_{2}^{3} + x_{2}^{*3} + 3\xi_{2}^{2}x_{2}^{*} + 3\xi_{2}x_{2}^{*2} \right| \\ &\leq \left| \frac{\partial x_{2}^{*}}{\partial x_{1}} \right| \left( |\xi_{2}|^{3} + |x_{2}^{*}|^{3} + 3|\xi_{2}|^{2}|x_{2}^{*}| + 3|\xi_{2}||x_{2}^{*}|^{2} \right) \\ &\leq \left| \frac{\partial x_{2}^{*}}{\partial x_{1}} \right| \left( 4|\xi_{2}|^{3} + 4|x_{2}^{*}|^{3} \right) \\ &\leq 4\left(2 + \rho_{1}\right) \left| \frac{\partial x_{2}^{*}}{\partial x_{1}} \right| \left( |\xi_{2}|^{3} + |x_{1}|^{3} \right), \end{aligned}$$

$$|\Phi_2| = \left|\frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial x_1}\right| \left|\frac{\theta x_1^3}{1 + (\sigma x_2)^2}\right| \le |x_1|^3 \left|\frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial x_1}\right| \Theta,$$

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \Delta_2 \xi_2^3 \right| &\leq 4 \left( 2 + \rho_1 \right) \left| \frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial x_1} \right| \left( \left| \xi_2 \right|^3 + \left| x_1 \right|^3 \right) \left| \xi_2 \right|^3 \\ &\leq 4 \left( 2 + \rho_1 \right) \left| \frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial x_1} \right| \xi_2^6 + 4 \left( 2 + \rho_1 \right) \left| \frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial x_1} \right| \left| x_1 \right|^3 \left| \xi_2 \right|^3 \\ &\leq \check{\rho}_2 \xi_2^6 + \frac{1}{6} x_1^6, \end{aligned}$$

with

$$\check{\rho}_2 = 4\left(2+\rho_1\right) \left|\frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial x_1}\right| + 24\left(2+\rho_1\right)^2 \left(\frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial x_1}\right)^2,$$

$$\begin{split} \left| \Phi_{2}\xi_{2}^{3} \right| &\leq \left| \xi_{2} \right|^{3} \left| x_{1} \right|^{3} \left| \frac{\partial x_{2}^{*}}{\partial x_{1}} \right| \Theta \\ &\leq \left[ \frac{x_{1}^{6}}{3\left( 1 + \hat{\Theta}^{2} \right)} + \frac{3}{4} \left( \frac{\partial x_{2}^{*}}{\partial x_{1}} \right)^{2} \left( 1 + \hat{\Theta}^{2} \right) \xi_{2}^{6} \right] \Theta \\ &\leq \left( \frac{x_{1}^{6}}{6} + \bar{\rho}_{2} \sqrt{1 + \hat{\Theta}^{2}} \xi_{2}^{6} \right) + \left[ \frac{x_{1}^{6}}{3\left( 1 + \hat{\Theta}^{2} \right)} + \bar{\rho}_{2} \xi_{2}^{6} \right] \tilde{\Theta}, \end{split}$$

with

$$\bar{\rho}_2 = \frac{3}{4} \left( \frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial x_1} \right)^2 \left( 1 + \hat{\Theta}^2 \right),$$

$$\begin{aligned} & \left| x_1^3 \left( x_2^3 - x_2^{*3} \right) \right| \\ &= \left| x_1^3 \left[ \left( \xi_2 + x_2^* \right)^3 - x_2^{*3} \right] \right| \\ &\leq \left| x_1 \right|^3 \left| \xi_2 \right| \left( \frac{5}{2} \xi_2^2 + \frac{9}{2} x_2^{*2} \right) \\ &= \frac{5}{2} \left| x_1 \right|^3 \left| \xi_2 \right|^3 + \frac{9}{2} \left| x_1 \right|^5 \left| \xi_2 \right| \left( 2 + \rho_1 \right)^{2/3} \\ &= \frac{1}{6} x_1^6 + \tilde{\rho}_2 \xi_2^6, \end{aligned}$$

with

$$\tilde{\rho}_2 = \frac{75}{4} + \frac{15}{64} 9^5 \left(2 + \rho_1\right)^4,$$

$$\left|\xi_2^3 G_2 w\right| = \left|\xi_2^3 \frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial x_1}\right| |w| \le \frac{1}{4\beta} \left(\frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial x_1}\right)^2 \xi_2^6 + \beta w^2.$$

As a result, one has

$$\begin{split} \dot{V}_2 + y^6 &- 2\beta w^2 \\ \leq &- \frac{3}{2} x_1^6 + \left[ \tilde{\rho}_2 + \check{\rho}_2 + \bar{\rho}_2 \sqrt{1 + \hat{\Theta}^2} + \frac{1}{4\beta} \left( \frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial x_1} \right)^2 \right] \xi_2^6 \\ &+ \left| \xi_2^3 \frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial \hat{\Theta}} \dot{\hat{\Theta}} \right| + u^3 \xi_2^3 + \left( \Psi_2 - \dot{\hat{\Theta}} \right) \tilde{\Theta}, \end{split}$$

with

$$\Psi_2 = x_1^6 + \frac{x_1^6}{3\left(1 + \hat{\Theta}^2\right)} + \bar{\rho}_2 \xi_2^6.$$

Choose  $\dot{\hat{\Theta}} = \Psi_2$ . Then one has

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \xi_{2}^{3} \frac{\partial x_{2}^{*}}{\partial \hat{\Theta}} \dot{\hat{\Theta}} \right| &= \left| \xi_{2}^{3} \right| \left| \frac{\partial x_{2}^{*}}{\partial \hat{\Theta}} \right| \left( x_{1}^{6} + \frac{x_{1}^{6}}{3\left(1 + \hat{\Theta}^{2}\right)} + \bar{\rho}_{2}\xi_{2}^{6} \right) \\ &\leq \left( \frac{4}{3} \left| \frac{\partial x_{2}^{*}}{\partial \hat{\Theta}} \right| \left| x_{1} \right|^{3} \right) \left| x_{1} \right|^{3} \left| \xi_{2} \right|^{3} + \bar{\rho}_{2} \left| \frac{\partial x_{2}^{*}}{\partial \hat{\Theta}} \right| \left| \xi_{2} \right|^{3} \left| \xi_{2} \right|^{6} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{4}{3} \left| \frac{\partial x_{2}^{*}}{\partial \hat{\Theta}} \right| \left| x_{1} \right|^{3} \right)^{2} \xi_{2}^{6} + \frac{1}{2} x_{1}^{6} + \frac{1}{4} \bar{\rho}_{2} \left[ \left( \frac{\partial x_{2}^{*}}{\partial \hat{\Theta}} \right)^{2} + 1 \right] \left( \xi_{2}^{6} + 1 \right) \xi_{2}^{6} \\ &\leq \hat{\rho}_{2} \xi_{2}^{6} + \frac{1}{2} x_{1}^{6} \end{aligned}$$

with

$$\hat{\rho}_2 = \frac{8}{9} \left(\frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial \hat{\Theta}}\right)^2 x_1^6 + \frac{1}{4} \bar{\rho}_2 \left[ \left(\frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial \hat{\Theta}}\right)^2 + 1 \right] \left(\xi_2^6 + 1\right).$$

Sequentially,

$$\dot{V}_2 + y^6 - 2\beta w^2 \le -x_1^6 + \left[\tilde{\rho}_2 + \check{\rho}_2 + \bar{\rho}_2\sqrt{1 + \hat{\Theta}^2} + \hat{\rho} + \frac{1}{4\beta}\left(\frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial x_1}\right)^2\right]\xi_2^6 + u^3\xi_2^3.$$

Choose  $u = -\xi_2 \left[1 + \rho_2\right]^{1/3}$  with  $\rho_2 = \tilde{\rho}_2 + \check{\rho}_2 + \bar{\rho}_2 \sqrt{1 + \hat{\Theta}^2} + \hat{\rho} + \frac{1}{4\beta} \left(\frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial x_1}\right)^2$ . Then it is easily derived that  $\dot{V}_2 + y^6 - 2\beta w^2 \leq -x_1^6 - \xi_2^6$ .



Figure 1: Disturbance signal and output response.



Figure 2: State response.

With the previous derivation, one can obtain the following control law

$$\begin{split} u &= -\xi_2 \left[ 1 + \rho_2 \right]^{1/3}, \\ \rho_2 &= \tilde{\rho}_2 + \check{\rho}_2 + \bar{\rho}_2 \sqrt{1 + \hat{\Theta}^2} + \hat{\rho} + \frac{1}{4\beta} \left( \frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial x_1} \right)^2, \\ \hat{\rho}_2 &= \frac{8}{9} \left( \frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial \hat{\Theta}} \right)^2 x_1^6 + \frac{1}{4} \bar{\rho}_2 \left[ \left( \frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial \hat{\Theta}} \right)^2 + 1 \right] \left( \xi_2^6 + 1 \right), \\ \bar{\rho}_2 &= \frac{3}{4} \left( \frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial x_1} \right)^2 \left( 1 + \hat{\Theta}^2 \right), \\ \check{\rho}_2 &= 4 \left( 2 + \rho_1 \right) \left| \frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial x_1} \right| + 24 \left( 2 + \rho_1 \right)^2 \left( \frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial x_1} \right)^2, \\ \tilde{\rho}_2 &= \frac{75}{4} + \frac{15}{64} 9^5 \left( 2 + \rho_1 \right)^4, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \rho_1 &= \sqrt{1 + \hat{\Theta}^2} + \frac{1}{4\beta} + 1, \\ x_2^* &= -x_1 \left(2 + \rho_1\right)^{1/3}, \\ \frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial x_1} &= - \left(2 + \rho_1\right)^{1/3}, \\ \frac{\partial x_2^*}{\partial \hat{\Theta}} &= -\frac{x_1}{3} \left(2 + \rho_1\right)^{-2/3} \left(1 + \hat{\Theta}^2\right)^{-1/2} \hat{\Theta}, \\ \dot{\hat{\Theta}} &= x_1^6 + \frac{x_1^6}{3 \left(1 + \hat{\Theta}^2\right)} + \bar{\rho}_2 \xi_2^6. \end{split}$$

Figures 1 and 2 give the simulation results of the resulstant closed-loop system under the obtained control law.

#### 5 Conclusion

For the class of power integrator lower triangular systems with nonlinear parametrization, we formulated the problem of adaptive regulation with almost disturbance decoupling. Under a set of growth conditions, an explicit design of the adaptive smooth controller solving the ADD problem was provided. A significant feature of the obtained adaptive dynamical compensator is its minimum-order property. The results of this paper exploit a new application of the parameter separation technique proposed recently in [24].

#### Acknowledgment

This work is supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China under Grant No. 60974044, and by the Basic Research Plan in Shenzhen City under Grant No. JC201005260145A.

#### References

- Saberi, A. and Sannuti, P. Global stabilization with almost disturbance decoupling of a class of uncertain nonlinear systems. *International Journal of Control* 47 (1988) 717–727.
- Marino, R., Respondek, W. and Van der Schaft, A. J. Almost disturbanc decoupling for single-input single-output nonlinear systems. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 34 (9) (1989) 1013–1017.
- [3] Marino, R., Respondek, W. and Van der Schaft, A. J. Nonlinear  $H_{\infty}$  almost disturbanc decoupling. Systems & Control Letters 23 (1994) 159–168.
- [4] Isidori, A. A note on almost disturbance decoupling for nonlinear minimum phase systems. Systems & Control Letters 27 (1996) 191–194.
- [5] Isidori, A. Global almost disturbance decoupling with stability for non minimum-phase single-input single-output nonlinear systems. Systems & Control Letters 28 (1996) 115– 122.
- [6] Lin, Z. Almost disturbance decoupling with global asymptotic stability for nonlinear systems with disturbance-affected unstable zero dynamics. Systems & Control Letters 33 (1998) 163–169.
- [7] Su, W., Xie, L. and de Souza, C. E. Global robust disturbance attenuation and almost disturbance decoupling for uncertain cascaded nonlinear systems. Automatica 35 (1999) 697–707.
- [8] Xie, L. and Su, W. Robust  $H_{\infty}$  control for a class of cascaded nonlinear systems. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, **42** (10) (1997) 1465–1469.
- [9] van der Schaft, A. J.  $L_2$ -gain analysis of nonlinear systems and nonlinear state feedback  $H_{\infty}$  control. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* **37** (16) (1992) 770–784.
- [10] Isidori, A. and Lin, W. Global  $L_2$ -gain design for a class of nonlinear systems. Systems & Control Letters **34** (1998) 295–302.
- [11] Liu, X., Jutan, A. and Rohani, S. Almost disturbance decoupling of MIMO nonlinear systems and application to chemical process. *Automatica* 40 (2004) 465–471.

- [12] Isidori, A. and Astolfi, A. Disturbance attenuation and  $H_{\infty}$ -control via measurement feedback in nonlinear systems. *IEEE Transactions on Automatica Control* **37** (9) (1992) 1283– 1293.
- [13] Battilotti, S. Global output regulation and disturbance attenuation with global stability via measurement feedback for a class of nonlinear systems. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* **41** (3) (1996) 315–327.
- [14] Marino, R., Tomei, P. Nonlinear output feedback tracking with almost disturbance decoupling. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 44 (1) (1999) 18–28.
- [15] Lin, W., Qian, C. and Huang, X. Disturbance attenuation of a class of non-linear system via output feedback. *International Journal of Robust and Nonlinear Control* 13 (2003) 1359–1369.
- [16] Qian, C. and Lin, W. Almost disturbance decoupling for a class of high-order nonlinear systems. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 45 (6) (2000) 1208–1214.
- [17] Lin, W. and Qian, C. Adding one power integrator: a tool for global stabilization of highorder lower-triangular systems. Systems & Control Letters 39 (2002) 339–351.
- [18] Chang, Y. C. and Yen, H. M. Adaptive output feedback tracking control for a class of uncertain nonlinear systems using neural networks. *IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, Cybernetics-Part B: Cybernetics*35 (6) (2005) 1311–1316.
- [19] Ding, Z. Almost disturbance decoupling of uncertain nonlinear output feedback systems. *IEE Pro.-Control Theory Appl.* **146** (2) (1999) 220–226.
- [20] Marino, R. and Tomei, P. Adaptive output feedback regulation with almost disturbance decoupling for nonlinearly parameterized systems. *International Journal of Robust and Nonlinear Control* 10 (2000) 655–669.
- [21] Marino, R. and Tomei, P. Adaptive output feedback tracking with almost disturbance decoupling for a class of nonlinear systems. *Automatica* 36 (2000) 1871–1877.
- [22] Bi, W. Robust adaptive disturbance attenuation for high-order uncertain nonlinear systems (In Chinese). J. Sys. Sci. & Math. Scis. 26 (2) (2006) 193–205.
- [23] Lin, W. and Qian, C. Adaptive regulation of high-order lower-triangular systems: an adding a power integrator technique. Systems & Control Letters 39 (2002) 353–364.
- [24] Lin, W. and Qian, C. Adaptive control of nonlinearly parameterized systems: the smooth feedback case. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 47 (8) (2002) 1249–1266.
- [25] Aleksandrov, A. Yu. and Platonov, A. V. Conditions of ultimate boundedness of solutions for a class of nonlinear systems. *Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory* 8 (2) (2008) 109–122.
- [26] Mtar, R., Belhaouane, M. M., Ayadi, H. B. and Braiek, N. B. An LMI criterion for the global stability analysis of nonlinear polynomial systems. *Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory* 9 (2) (2009) 171–183.
- [27] DaCunha, J. J. Dynamic inequalities, bounds, and stability of systems with linear and nonlinear perturbations. Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory 9 (3) (2009) 239–248.
- [28] D'Anna, A. and Fiore, G. Stability properties for some non-autonomous dissipative phenomena proved by families of Liapunov Functionals. *Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory* 9 (3) (2009) 249–262.

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory, 11 (3) (2011) 275-284



# Exponentially Long Orbits in Boolean Networks with Exclusively Positive Interactions

W. Just  $^{1\ast}$  and G.A. Enciso  $^2$ 

<sup>1</sup> Department of Mathematics, Ohio University, Athens, OH 45701, USA
 <sup>2</sup> Mathematics Department, University of California, Irvine, CA 92617 USA

Received: May 5, 2011; Revised: July 28, 2011

**Abstract:** The absence of negative feedback in Boolean networks tends to result in systems with relatively short orbits. We present a construction of *N*-dimensional Boolean networks that use only AND, OR, COPY gates and nevertheless have an exponentially large orbit (of size  $c^N$  for arbitrary c < 2). The construction is based on pseudorandom number generation algorithms. A previously obtained nontrivial upper bound on the orbit length under certain limitations on the number of outputs per node is shown to be optimal.

Keywords: Boolean networks; monotone systems; gene networks; systems biology.

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 06E99, 34C12, 39A33, 92B99, 94C10.

# 1 Introduction

The concept of a *Boolean network* was originally proposed in the late 1960's by Stuart Kauffman to model gene regulatory behavior at the cell level [13]. This type of modeling can sometimes capture the general dynamics of continuous systems in a simplified framework without the choice of specific nonlinearities or parameter values; see for instance [1]. Boolean networks are used in several other disciplines such as electrical engineering, computer science, and control theory, and analogous definitions are known under various names such as sequential dynamical systems [16] or Boolean difference equations [6].

An N-dimensional Boolean dynamical system or Boolean network  $(\Pi, g)$  consists of N variables  $s_1, \ldots, s_N$ , each of which can have value 0 or 1 at any given time step t. The variables are updated according to  $s_i(t+1) = g_i(s_1(t), \ldots, s_N(t))$ .

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author: mailto:mathjust@gmail.com

<sup>© 2011</sup> InforMath Publishing Group/1562-8353 (print)/1813-7385 (online)/http://e-ndst.kiev.ua 275

W. JUST AND G.A. ENCISO

Usually, individual update functions  $g_i$  depend only on very few of the variables. Let us say that  $s_j$  is an input of  $s_i$  and  $s_j$  sends output to  $g_i$  if there are two Boolean vectors  $s, s^*$  that differ only in variable  $s_j$  for which  $g_i(s) \neq g_i(s^*)$ . The input-output relation defines a digraph on the set of Boolean variables that is called the *connectivity* of the Boolean network. We call a Boolean network  $(\Pi, g) \ a \ K$ , M network if each of its update functions takes at most K inputs and each variable has at most M outputs.

A key problem in the study of Boolean networks is how the dynamics depends on the updating functions and the connectivity. This problem has been largely studied for so-called *random Boolean networks* (*RBNs*) where both the updating functions and the network connectivity are randomly drawn from a specified network distribution. This allows to make estimates on quantities such as the number of orbits and their length [2, 7, 14, 22]. Such estimates can be either obtained from simulation studies or analytically.

#### 1.1 Cooperative Boolean networks

An important topic in the study of dynamical systems is the role of negative feedback. This notion is usually defined in terms of negative feedback loops that contain an odd number of negative interactions. Monotone systems are systems that contain only positive feedback loops. Here we study cooperative systems, that are systems in which there are no negative interactions between any two variables. In the context of networks with at most K = 2 inputs per variable, cooperativity is equivalent to the use of only the following update functions: constants, COPY, AND, OR. No negations are allowed [11].

Comparative simulation studies show that Boolean networks with no or only few negative feedback loops tend to have relatively shorter orbits [26]. The question naturally arises whether the assumption of cooperativity imposes nontrivial provable upper bounds on the length of orbits in Boolean networks. This question seems especially interesting for cooperative K = 2 Boolean networks, since K = 2 random Boolean networks tend to have much shorter orbits than RBNs drawn from distributions where K > 2 [2, 7, 14].

Since the state space of an N-dimensional Boolean network has size  $2^N$ , a bound on the attractor length should be considered "nontrivial" if it scales like  $o(2^N)$ . In [15, 20], a simple example of a K = 2, M = 2 Boolean network is constructed with N variables and an orbit of length  $2^{N-1} - 1$ , which comprises exactly half of the state space. In contrast, the orbits of cooperative Boolean systems cannot comprise a fixed fraction of the state space [4, 11, 25], which already gives an upper bound that scales like  $o(2^N)$ . Upper bounds on orbit length that scale like  $O(c^N)$  for some c < 2 were derived in [12] for K = 2, M = 2 cooperative networks under the assumption that at least a fixed positive fraction of update functions take exactly two inputs (see Theorem 3.1 below).

Theorem 1 of the preprint [12] shows that for any constant 1 < c < 2 and all sufficiently large N there exists an N-dimensional K = 2, M = 2 cooperative Boolean network with at least one orbit of length  $\geq c^N$ . This shows that some such additional assumptions are needed for nontrivial upper bounds of type  $O(c^N)$  on orbit length. Our main theorem here, Theorem 2.1, consists of a simplified proof of a similar result with a mild additional assumption as described below. Theorem 3.2 of Section 3 provides variations on Theorem 2.1 and shows, among other things, that one of the upper bounds on orbit length that was derived in [12] is sharp.

#### 1.2 Additive Lagged-Fubini Generators

An additive lagged-Fubini generator (ALFG) is an algorithm to produce 'pseudorandom' numbers. It is the basis for some of the most widely used random number generators such as the Mersenne twister [19]. In its Boolean version, the ALFG consists simply of a sequence of Boolean values  $x_i$  satisfying the formula

$$x_i = x_{i-p} + x_{i-q} \mod 2,$$
 (1)

for all *i*, where 0 < q < p are fixed numbers. For particular choices of *p* and *q*, it has been shown that  $x_i$  can be periodic with maximal period  $2^p - 1$  [17]. The sufficient and necessary condition for producing this orbit length is that the polynomial  $x^p + x^q + 1$  is primitive modulo 2 [8]. Many such pairs (p,q) are known, including ones with values as large as p = 6972593 and q = 3037958. It is an open but widely believed conjecture that there are infinitely many such pairs, see for instance [8]. For a list of all admissible pairs (p,q) with  $p \leq 1000$ , see [27].

In [15, 20], the authors build a Boolean network which is easily seen to be equivalent to an ALFG, using a single loop of length p, and a single internal connection between two nodes q variables apart, as in Figure 1a. All update functions are equal to the simple copy function f(a) = a, except for one with two inputs,  $f(a, b) = a + b \mod 2 = a$ XOR b. The authors of these papers also point out that this reversible update function (Table 1) can be replaced by three canalyzing ones (see Section 3 for the definition of canalyzing functions). Yet even such an implementation would contain negations and its main feedback loop is negative. In particular, this network is not cooperative.



Figure 1: a. The original additive lagged-Fibonacci generator. A solid arrow represents a direct connection, and a dotted arrow is a chain of connected variables. For the purposes of our results, the variables are grouped into blocks of size  $\ell$  such as shown for  $X_0$ , and additional nodes are added outside the main loop so that the total number of nodes is divisible by  $\ell$  (see the dotted line joining  $x_s$  and  $x_{s'}$ ). b. The cooperative network associated to a., where every variable corresponds to L different Boolean nodes. The inputs of the Boolean circuit T are  $A = S_{\lfloor q/\ell \rfloor - m-1}, B = S_{\lfloor q/\ell \rfloor - m}, C = S_{\lfloor p/\ell \rfloor - m-1}, D = S_{\lfloor p/\ell \rfloor - m}.$ 

#### W. JUST AND G.A. ENCISO

#### 2 Cooperative Boolean Networks with an Exponentially Long Orbit

Let us state the version of Theorem 1 of [12] that we are going to prove here.

**Theorem 2.1** Assume that there exist infinitely many positive integers p > q such that (1) defines an AFLG with maximal period  $2^p - 1$ . Let 1 < c < 2 be an arbitrary constant. Then for infinitely many N there exists an N-dimensional K = 2, M = 2 cooperative Boolean network with at least one orbit of length  $\geq c^N$ . In this network the only update functions are  $s_i \vee s_j$ ,  $s_i \wedge s_j$ , and the copy function  $f(s_i) = s_i$ .

**Proof** We start with an ALFG with maximal period  $2^p - 1$  as in Figure 1a, with sufficiently large delays (p, q). In the Boolean setting we have the following equation:

$$s_0(t+1) = s_q(t) \text{ XOR } s_p(t) = s_0(t-q) \text{ XOR } s_0(t-p).$$
 (2)

This network will be referred to as the AFLG network. It has an orbit with length  $2^p - 1$  and two negative feedback loops as shown in Figure 1a.

For a given c < 2 we construct a Boolean network with N variables that uses only update functions AND, OR, COPY and has an orbit of length  $\geq c^N$  states. Its dynamics closely mimics the one of the AFLG network. The idea is to group the variables  $s_0, \ldots s_p$ into blocks of  $\ell$  adjacent variables each, as in Figure 1b. The new network has as variables Boolean vectors  $S_0, S_1, \ldots$ , each with an even number L of bits. The values of L and  $\ell$  will be chosen as in Lemma 2.2 below. Importantly, the values of each  $S_i$  are not arbitrary but chosen from the image of an injective function  $\Gamma : \{0,1\}^{\ell} \to \{0,1\}^{L}$ , i.e. they are thought of as coded sequences of  $\ell$  bits. Additionally, the values of  $\Gamma(s)$  are required to have exactly L/2 nonzero entries. Such a function  $\Gamma$  exists as long as  $2^{\ell} \leq {L \choose L/2}$ , which will be ensured by Lemma 2.2. In order to guarantee that the nodes in the ALFG can be divided in groups of  $\ell$ , we introduce some additional nodes as in Figure 1a, which are however not part of the loop (see the legend of Figure 1 for details).

Notice that after  $\ell$  time steps, the ALFG network has rotated the values of each group of  $\ell$  variables into the next – except for the group  $s_0, \ldots s_{\ell-1}$ , whose values have been determined by a more complicated algorithm. The idea is that one time step in the new network will represent  $\ell$  time steps in the ALFG. More precisely, each variable  $S_i(t)$  is coding for the variables  $X_i(\ell t) = (s_{i\ell}(\ell t), \ldots, s_{i\ell+\ell-1}(\ell t))$  at time  $\ell t$ , or  $S_i(t) = \Gamma(X_i(\ell t))$ .

In order to achieve this, we set  $S_i(t+1) = S_{i-1}(t)$  for i > 0. As for the updating function of  $S_0$ , it is defined as the encoding  $\Gamma$  of  $s_0, \ldots, s_\ell$  after iterating the ALFG for  $\ell$ time steps.  $S_0(t+1)$  is therefore a function G of the variables  $S_i$  encoding  $s_{q-\ell+1}, \ldots, s_q$ and  $s_{p-\ell+1}, \ldots, s_p$ . In other words, given the arguments A, B, C, and D, one can compute  $S_0$  at the next time step by first decoding them into their corresponding sequences of  $\ell$ -vectors using the function  $\Gamma^{-1}$ , and assigning these values to the variables in ALFG, then iterating ALFG  $\ell$  times, and finally encoding the resulting sequence  $X_0$  using the function  $\Gamma$ .

The following technical lemma shows that this encoding function G can be implemented as a Boolean circuit (labeled T in Figure 1b) with only binary AND- and ORand unary COPY gates and no negations. Such a Boolean circuit can be incorporated into our network without violating cooperativity or the commitment to build a K = 2, M = 2 network. The indegree and outdegree for a node of a Boolean circuits are defined analogously as for Boolean networks.

Our construction uses the fact that G is only used with arguments that have L/2 zeros and L/2 ones each. Given two Boolean P-vectors s, r, we say that  $s \leq r$  if  $s_i \leq r_i$ 

for all *i*. If either  $s \leq r$  or  $r \leq s$ , the two vectors are called *comparable*. The following lemma will be applied to the proof of the main result for P = 4L.

**Lemma 2.1** Let  $g: D \subseteq \{0,1\}^P \to \{0,1\}^L$  be an arbitrary function, defined on a domain D where no two elements are comparable. Then there exists a Boolean circuit B with input vector a of dimension P, and an output vector  $b = (b_1, \ldots, b_L)$ , such that b(t+m) = g(a), for some fixed delay m and any  $a(t) \in D$ . Furthermore, the circuit B uses only binary AND- and OR- and unary COPY gates and the indegree (outdegree) of every designated input (output) variable is 0.

**Proof** The function g can be extended to a cooperative function h, i.e. one for which  $s \leq r$  implies  $h(s) \leq h(r)$ , defined on all of  $\{0,1\}^P$ ; see [11]. The result will follow from building a suitable Boolean circuit that computes the function h. Consider a fixed component  $h_i : \{0,1\}^P \to \{0,1\}$  of h. By the cooperativity of

Consider a fixed component  $h_i : \{0,1\}^P \to \{0,1\}$  of h. By the cooperativity of this function, one can write it in the normal form  $h_i(s_1,\ldots,s_P) = \Psi_1^i(s_1,\ldots,s_P) \vee$  $\ldots \vee \Psi_{k_i}^i(s_1,\ldots,s_P)$ , where each  $\Psi_j^i$  is the conjunction of a number of variables, i.e.,  $\Psi_j^i(s_1,\ldots,s_P) = s_{\alpha_{1i}} \wedge \ldots \wedge s_{\alpha_{ji}}$ . This suggests a way of computing  $h_i$ : define Boolean variables  $\psi_j^i(t) := \Psi_j^i(s(t-1))$ , and then let  $h_i(t) := \psi_1^i(t-1) \vee \ldots \vee \psi_{k_i}^i(t-1)$ . Repeating this procedure for all components of h yields a Boolean circuit which computes h in m = 2steps, and which is cooperative and has indegree (outdegree) 0 for every input (output).

In order to satisfy the condition that every node have in- and outdegree of at most 2, we need to modify this construction by introducing additional variables. First, note that the outdegree of every input  $s_i$  can be very large. One can define two additional variables which simply copy the value of  $s_i(t)$ , then four variables that copy the value of the previous two, etc. This procedure is repeated for each  $s_i$  so that at least as many copies of each variable are present as appear in the expressions of all  $\psi_j^i$ . A similar cascade can be used to define each  $\psi_j^i$  and  $h_i$  so that each indegree is at most two. If  $\psi_i^j = s_{\alpha_1} \wedge s_{\alpha_2} \wedge s_{\alpha_3}$ , say, then one can define  $r_1(t) := s_{\alpha_1}(t-1), r_2(t) := s_{\alpha_2}(t-1) \wedge s_{\alpha_3}(t-1), \psi_i^j(t) := r_1(t-1) \wedge r_2(t-1)$ . Similarly for longer disjunctions and each  $\psi_j^i$  and also similarly for  $h_i$ , in which case  $\wedge$  is replaced by  $\vee$  at each step. This produces a computation of  $h_i$  in  $m_i$  steps for each i. Finally, after introducing further additional variables at each component i if necessary to compensate for unequal lengths of the expressions for  $\psi_j^i$ , the Boolean vector  $h(s_1, \ldots, s_P)$  can be computed in exactly  $m = \max(m_1, \ldots, m_L)$  steps.

Notice that the function G is not computed by the Boolean circuit instantaneously, but after m steps. Since  $S_i(t) = S_{i-m}(t-m)$ , we correct for this by feeding the circuit an input which has been shifted back by m.

The new cooperative Boolean network has an orbit of length at least  $(2^p - 1)/\ell$ . Its dimension is

$$N = (p + \gamma + 1)L/\ell + T,$$
(3)

where  $\gamma = p' - p < \ell$  reflects the need for dummy variables (see the legend of Figure 1) and T is the number of nodes involved in the Boolean circuit that computes G. Since T only depends on  $\ell$  and L, not on p, the following lemma implies Theorem 2.1.

**Lemma 2.2** For arbitrary 1 < c < 2 and sufficiently large p, there exist  $\ell, N$ , and L as above such that

$$\binom{L}{L/2} > 2^{\ell}, \quad \frac{2^p - 1}{\ell} > c^N.$$

**Proof** We prove first that there exist L > 0 even, an integer  $\ell > 0$ , and a real constant  $\delta > 1$  such that

$$\binom{L}{L/2} > 2^{\ell} > c^{\delta L}.$$
(4)

Start by fixing an arbitrary  $\delta > 1$  such that  $c < c^{\delta} < 2$ . The second inequality in (4) is equivalent to  $L/\ell < \ln 2/(\delta \ln c)$ . Let L be an even integer with  $L = w\ell$ , for some fixed  $1 < w < \ln 2/(\delta \ln c)$ . Since  $\binom{L}{L/2} > \frac{2^L}{L+1} = \frac{2^{w\ell}}{w\ell+1}$  and w > 1, the first inequality in (4) is satisfied for sufficiently large  $\ell$ .

It remains to show that  $(2^p - 1)/\ell \ge c^N$  for some sufficiently large N as in (3). But since  $c^{L/\ell} < 2^{1/\delta}$ , expression (3) implies

$$\frac{c^{(p+\gamma+1)L/\ell+T}}{(2^p-1)/\ell} < \ell c^T \frac{2^{\frac{p+\gamma+1}{\delta}}}{2^p-1} < \ell c^T 2^{\frac{1}{\delta}(p+\gamma+1)-(p-1)}$$

which is < 1 for sufficiently large p.

It follows that for sufficiently large p, we can choose  $\ell, L$  so that the system we constructed will contain an orbit of length at least  $c^N$ , as stated in Theorem 2.1.

#### 3 Biased Update Functions and Long Orbits

The bias  $\Lambda$  of a Boolean function is the fraction of input vectors for which the function outputs 1. A Boolean function would be considered biased if  $\Lambda \neq 0.5$ . More specifically, let us say that an update function is  $\varepsilon$ -biased if  $|\Lambda - 0.5| \geq \varepsilon$ . Simulation studies of random Boolean networks indicate that networks with only strongly biased update functions tend to have shorter orbits than generic networks with a given number of inputs (see [23] and references therein). The following result from [12] gives a provable upper bound on the length of orbits in some  $\varepsilon$ -biased networks.

**Theorem 3.1** Let  $\varepsilon, \alpha > 0$  and let K, M be positive integers. Then there exists a positive constant  $c(\varepsilon, \alpha, K, M) < 2$  such that for all  $c > c(\varepsilon, \alpha, K, M)$  and all sufficiently large N, the length of any orbit in any N-dimensional K-M Boolean network in which a proportion of least  $\alpha$  of the update functions are  $\varepsilon$ -biased does not exceed  $c^N$ . In particular,  $c(0.25, 1, 2, 2) \leq 10^{1/4}$ .

To put the last sentence of Theorem 3.1 into perspective, consider Table 1 of Boolean functions with two inputs.

Thus for K = 2 a Boolean function is biased iff it is 0.25-biased iff it is in  $C_2 \cup \mathcal{F}$ . The classes  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  constitute the *canalyzing* functions, in which a certain value of one of the inputs determines the function output [7]. Note the  $C_2$  contains the AND and the OR functions. We call a K = 2 Boolean system a  $C_2$ -network if all its update functions are in the class  $C_2$ . Notice that the last sentence of Theorem 3.1 gives an upper bound of  $O(10^{N/4})$  for orbit lengths in N-dimensional K = 2, M = 2  $C_2$ -networks.

We can prove the following variants of Theorem 2.1 for  $C_2$ -networks. Part (b) of Theorem 3.2 implies that the upper bound in the last sentence of Theorem 3.1 is sharp. The theorem does not require assumptions about the existence of AFLGs [12], but we state and prove it here in this form to emphasize the connection with the earlier construction.

NONLINEAR DYNAMICS AND SYSTEMS THEORY, 11 (3) (2011) 275-284

In	$\mathcal{F}$	$\mathcal{C}_1$	$\mathcal{C}_2$	$\mathcal{R}$
0 0	10	0101	$1\ 0\ 0\ 0\ 0\ 1\ 1\ 1$	10
0 1	10	$0\ 1\ 1\ 0$	$0\ 1\ 0\ 0\ 1\ 0\ 1\ 1$	01
1 0	$1 \ 0$	$1 \ 0 \ 0 \ 1$	$0\ 0\ 1\ 0\ 1\ 1\ 0\ 1$	01
11	10	$1 \ 0 \ 1 \ 0$	$0 \ 0 \ 0 \ 1 \ 1 \ 1 \ 1 \ 0$	10
cooperative	* *	* *	* *	
bias	10	$\frac{1}{2}$ $\frac{1}{2}$ $\frac{1}{2}$ $\frac{1}{2}$ $\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{1}{4}$ $\frac{1}{4}$ $\frac{1}{4}$ $\frac{1}{4}$ $\frac{3}{4}$ $\frac{3}{4}$ $\frac{3}{4}$ $\frac{3}{4}$ $\frac{3}{4}$	$\frac{1}{2}$ $\frac{1}{2}$

**Table 1**: The different Boolean update functions with K = 2 inputs (adapted from [7]).

s	1111	1110	1101	1100	1011	1010	0111	0101	0011	0000
f(s)	1111	1100	1010	1000	0101	0100	0011	0010	0001	0000
$h \circ f(s)$	1111	1110	1101	1100	1011	1010	0111	0101	0011	0000

**Table 2**: The values of f and  $h \circ f$  on F.

**Theorem 3.2** Assume that there exist infinitely many positive integers p > q such that (1) defines an AFLG with maximal period  $2^p - 1$ . Let  $c, c_1$  be constants with 1 < c < 2 and  $1 < c_1 < 10^{1/4}$ . Then for arbitrarily large N there exist cooperative Boolean networks with the following properties:

(a)  $(\Pi, g)$  is a  $\mathcal{C}_2$  network with at least one orbit of length  $\geq c^N$ ,

(b)  $(\Pi, g)$  is a  $\mathcal{C}_2$ , M = 2 network with at least one orbit of length  $\geq c_1^N$ .

**Proof** For part (a), let  $(\Sigma, f)$  be a cooperative K = 2 Boolean network of dimension N-2 that contains an orbit of length  $c^N$ . We show how to turn  $(\Sigma, f)$  into a cooperative  $C_2$  Boolean network  $(\Pi, g)$  of dimension N. The update functions  $g_k$  for k < N-1 of the new system are defined as follows:

If  $f_k$  is already in  $\mathcal{C}_2$ , then  $g_k = f_k$ .

If  $f_k = s_{i_k}$ , then  $g_k = s_{i_k} \wedge s_{N-1}$ .

If  $f_k$  is constant with value 1, then  $g_k = s_{N-1} \vee s_N$ ; if  $f_k$  is constant with value 0, then  $g_k = s_{N-1} \wedge s_N$ .

Finally, we let  $g_{N-1} = s_{N-1} \vee s_N$  and  $g_N = s_{N-1} \wedge s_N$ . Then  $(\Pi, g)$  is a cooperative  $C_2$ -system. Now let  $s \in \Sigma$  be a state in an orbit of length at least  $c^N$  of  $(\Sigma, f)$ , and define a state  $s^* \in \Pi$  by  $s^* = [s_1, \ldots, s_{N-2}, 1, 0]$ . Then the orbit of  $s^*$  in  $(\Pi, g)$  has the same length as the orbit of s in  $(\Sigma, f)$ . This proves part (a).

For the proof of part (b), we need to implement the  $C_1$  functions that copy the value of one input variable by cooperative  $C_2$  functions in such a way that the overall dimension is not increased by more than a factor of  $4 \log_{10} 2$ .

Let us define Boolean vector functions f and h on four-dimensional Boolean vectors  $s = (s_1, s_2, s_3, s_4)$  as follows:

$$f(s) = (s_1 \land s_2, s_1 \land s_3, s_2 \land s_4, s_3 \land s_4), \quad h(s) = (s_1 \lor s_2, s_1 \lor s_3, s_2 \lor s_4, s_3 \lor s_4).$$

Let  $F = \{1111, 1110, 1101, 1100, 1011, 1010, 0111, 0101, 0011, 0000\}$  and H = f(F). Table 2 gives the values of  $f, h \circ f$  on F.

As Table 2 shows,  $h \circ f$  is the identity on F. It follows that h maps H onto F and  $f \circ h$  is the identity on H.

Let *L* be a positive integer divisible by eight, and let p := L/4. Write [*L*] as a disjoint union of blocks of four consecutive integers i(1,r), i(2,r), i(3,r), i(4,r) for  $r \in [p]$ . Let  $\vec{s_r} := (s_{i(1,r)}, s_{i(2,r)}, s_{i(3,r)}, s_{i(4,r)})$ . Call a Boolean vector  $s \in \{0,1\}^{[L]}$  *L*-compliant if

(a)  $\vec{s}_r \in F$  for  $1 \leq r \leq p/2$ ,  $\vec{s}_r \in H$  for  $p/2 < r \leq p$ , and

(b) s takes the value 1 exactly L/2 times.

**Lemma 3.1** Let  $c_1 < 10^{1/4}$ . Then there exist a positive integer  $\ell$  and a positive integer L that is a multiple of eight such that  $2^{\ell} > c_1^L$  and the number of L-compliant Boolean vectors is larger than  $2^{\ell}$ .

**Proof** Let L be a positive integer that is an integer multiple of 8, and let V be the set of Boolean vectors  $s \in \{0, 1\}^L$  that satisfies condition (a) above. Since |F| = |H| = 10, it is clear that  $|V| = 10^{L/4}$ .

Let  $|\vec{s}_r|$  denote the number of 1's in  $\vec{s}_r$ . For each  $s \in V$  define the signature of s as  $\sigma(s) = (\sigma_1(s), \ldots, \sigma_6(s))$ , where

 $\begin{aligned} \sigma_1(s) &= |\{r: \ r \le p/2 \& \ |\vec{s}_r| = 4\}|, \text{ and } \sigma_4(s) = |\{r: \ p/2 < r \& \ |\vec{s}_r| = 4\}|, \\ \sigma_2(s) &= |\{r: \ r \le p/2 \& \ |\vec{s}_r| = 0\}|, \text{ and } \sigma_5(s) = |\{r: \ p/2 < r \& \ |\vec{s}_r| = 0\}|, \\ \sigma_3(s) &= |\{r: \ r \le p/2 \& \ |\vec{s}_r| = 3\}|, \text{ and } \sigma_6(s) = |\{r: \ p/2 < r \& \ |\vec{s}_r| = 1\}|. \end{aligned}$ 

Let  $\sigma^{max} = (\frac{1}{16}, \frac{1}{16}, \frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{16}, \frac{1}{16}, \frac{1}{4})$ . Then the inequality

$$|\{s \in V : \sigma(s) = \sigma\}| \le |\{s \in V : \sigma(s) = \sigma^{max}\}|$$

$$(5)$$

for any possible signature  $\sigma$ . Moreover, observe that if  $s \in V$  and  $\sigma(s) = \sigma^{max}$ , then s takes the value 1 exactly L/2 times, and hence s is L-compliant. Since the total number of possible signatures is bounded from above by  $(L/4+1)^6$ , it follows from (5) that the total number Q of L-compliant Boolean vectors satisfies the inequality

$$Q \ge \frac{10^{L/4}}{(L/4+1)^6}$$

Notice that  $\lim_{L\to\infty} L \ln 10^{1/4} - 6 \ln(L/4 + 1) - L \ln c_1 = \infty$ . Thus for sufficiently large L we can find a positive integer  $\ell$  with

$$L\ln 10^{1/4} - 6\ln(L/4 + 1) > \ell \ln 2 > L\ln c_1,$$

and the lemma follows.

Now fix  $c_1 < 10^{1/4}$  and let  $L, \ell$  be as in Lemma 3.1. Build an N-dimensional Boolean system  $(\Pi, g^-)$  as in the proof of Theorem 2.1, but with the following modifications for indices i where the value of  $S_i$  will just be copied to  $S_{i+2}$ :

We require that the values of  $S_i$  on the blocks  $S_i$  of length L are L-compliant vectors.

Instead of requiring  $S_i(t+1) = S_{i+1}(t)$  and implementing this dynamics by  $C_1$  functions, we only require  $S_i(t+2) = S_{i+2}(t)$  and implement this dynamics as follows: Let  $S_i$  be partitioned into blocks  $b_{i,1}, \ldots, b_{i,L/4}$  of four Boolean values each, with  $b_{i,r}(t) \in F$  for  $r \leq L/8$  and  $b_{i,r} \in H$  for  $L/8 < r \leq L/4$ . Define  $b_{i,r}(t+1) = h(b_{i+1,r+L/8}(t))$  for  $r \leq L/8$  and  $b_{i,r}(t+1) = f(b_{i+1,r-L/8}(t))$  for  $L/8 < r \leq L/4$ .

This construction is possible by Lemma 3.1 and the observations on the functions f, hwe made above, and the exact same argument as in the proof of Theorem 2.1 shows that one can choose initial states of  $(\Pi, g^-)$  that belong to an orbit of length  $\geq c_2^N$ , where

 $c_2$  is a constant that depends only on L and  $\ell$  and satisfies  $c_1 < c_2 < 10^{1/4}$ . It is also straightforward to verify that the resulting system is cooperative.

However, the system may not yet be a  $C_2$  system with M = 2, since the loops where copying occurs do not need to be of even length. So to ensure that we end up with an M = 2 system we may have at most two leftover sets  $S_i$  where the copying of some  $s_j$ needs to be implemented by  $s_j \cap s_j^*$  using a few dummy variables  $s_j^*$ . Since the number of these 'leftover variables' is at most 2L, this can be done without increasing N too much so that the resulting orbit will still have length  $> c_1^N$  (see Appendix A of [12].)

#### 4 Conclusion

Monotone and cooperative systems have been used as a modeling tool for gene regulatory systems, e.g. in [3, 5]. In the absence of negative feedback *continuous systems* converge generically towards an equilibrium under mild regularity hypotheses; see the work by Hirsch, Smith, Enciso, Mazco, and others [9, 10, 18, 24]. These generic convergence results have been generalized to the case of continuous monotone *maps*, in which case the generic iteration converges towards a periodic solution, with upper bounds for the maximum period [21]. In contrast, our results show that even very stringent conditions on *Boolean systems* with no negative interactions do not preclude very long orbits.

Our reasons for presenting a new proof of Theorem 1 in [12] are two-fold. First of all, the original construction given in [12] is somewhat difficult to read. We hope that the much simpler proof presented here will make the result more accessible to the mathematical community and will make the basic ideas that are common to both constructions more clearly visible. Second, as in [15, 20], this construction is based on additive lagged-Fubini generators (ALFG), which are the basis for the most commonly used pseudo-random number generators that are ubiquitous in applications from computer science and engineering. We hope that the proof presented here will highlight some important connections between number theory, computer science, and the study of Boolean networks and their applications, including the study of gene regulatory networks.

#### Acknowledgment

We thank Eduardo Sontag for suggesting this research topic to us, Xiaoping A. Shen and Maciej Malicki for valuable comments, and the reviewer of another manuscript for bringing ALFG-based constructions to our attention.

#### References

- Albert, R. and Othmer, H.G. The topology of the regulatory interactions predicts the expression pattern of the segment polarity genes in Drosophila melanogaster. J. Theor. Biol. 223 (2003) 1–18.
- [2] Aldana, M., Coppersmith, S. and Kadanoff, L. P. In: *Perspectives and Problems in Nonlin*ear Science. (E. Kaplan, J. E. Marsden and K. R. Sreenivasan eds.). Springer Verlag, New York, 2003, 23–90.
- [3] Angeli, D., Ferrell, J.E. and Sontag, E.D. Detection of multistability, bifurcations, and hysteresis in a large class of biological positive-feedback systems. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 101 (2004) 1822–1827.
- [4] Arcena, J., Demongeot, J. and Goles, E. On limit cycles of monotone functions with symmetric connection graph. *Theoretical Computer Science* **322** (2004) 237–244.

#### W. JUST AND G.A. ENCISO

- [5] de Leenheer, P., Levin, S.A., Sontag, E.D. and Klausmeier, C.A. Global stability in a chemostat with multiple nutrients. J. Math. Biol. 52 (2006) 419–438.
- [6] Dee, D. and Ghil, M. Boolean difference equations, I: Formulation and dynamic behavior. SIAM J. Appl. Math. 44 (1984) 111–126.
- [7] Drossel, B. Random Boolean Networks. In: Reviews of nonlinear dynamics and complexity, Volume 1. (H.G. Schuster, ed.) Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2008, 69–110.
- [8] Golomb, S.W. Shift Register Sequences A Retrospective Account. Lecture Notes in Computer Science 4086, Sequences and Their Applications, Springer, 2006, 1–4.
- [9] Enciso, G., Hirsch, M. and Smith, H. Prevalent behavior of strongly order preserving semiflows. J. Dyn. Diff. Eq. 20 (1) (2008) 115–132
- [10] Hirsch, M. Stability and convergence in strongly monotone dynamical systems. *Reine und Angew. Math* 383 (1988) 1–53.
- [11] Just, W. and Enciso, G.A. Analogues of the Smale and Hirsch theorems for cooperative Boolean and other discrete systems. To appear in the *J. Diff. Eqs. Appl.*
- [12] Just, W. and Enciso, G.A. Extremely Chaotic Boolean Networks. Preprint. arXiv:0811.0115v1 (2008).
- [13] Kauffman, S.A. Homeostasis and differentiation in random genetic control networks, *Nature* 224 (1969) 177–178.
- [14] Kauffman, S. A. The Origins of Order: Self-Organization and Selection in Evolution. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 1994.
- [15] Kaufman, V. and Drossel, B. On the properties of cycles of simple Boolean networks. Europ. Phys. J. B 43 (1) (2005) 115–124.
- [16] Garcia, L, Jarrah, A.S. and Laubenbacher, R. Classification of finite dynamical systems. arXiv:math/0112216 (2001).
- [17] Marsaglia, G. and Tsay, L.-H. Matrices and the structure of random number sequences. Linear Algebra and its Applications 67 (1985) 147–156.
- [18] Mazko, A.G. Positive and monotone systems in partially ordered space. Ukr. Mat. Zh. 55(N2) (2003) 164–173 [Russian].
- [19] Matsumoto, M. et al. Mersenne twister: a 623-dimensionally equidistributed uniform pseudo-random number generator. ACM Trans. Mod. and Comp. Sim. 8 (1998) 3–30.
- [20] Paul, U., Kaufman, V., and Drossel, B. Properties of attractors of canalyzing random Boolean networks. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **73** (2006) 026118:1–9.
- [21] Polacik, P. Parabolic equations: Asymptotic behavior and dynamics on invariant manifolds. In: Handbook of Dynamical Systems, Vol. 2. (B. Fiedler, ed.). Elsevier, Amsterdam, 2002, 835–884.
- [22] Samuelsson, B., and Troein, C. Superpolynomial growth in the number of attractors in Kauffman networks, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **90** (9) (2003) 098701:1–4.
- [23] Shmulevic, I., Lahdesmaki, H., Dougherty, E., Astola, J. and Zhang, W. The role of certain Post classes in Boolean network models of genetic networks. *Proc. Nat. Acad. USA* 100 (19) (2003) 10734–10739.
- [24] Smith, H.L. Monotone dynamical systems, Math Surv. and Monogr., AMS, Providence, RI, 1995.
- [25] Sontag, D.E. Monotone and near-monotone biochemical networks. J. Sys. Synth. Biol. 1 (2007) 59–87.
- [26] Sontag, E. D., Veliz-Cuba, A., Laubenbacher, R. and Jarrah, A.S. The effect of negative feedback loops on the dynamics of Boolean networks. *Biophys. J.* 95 (2) (2008) 518–526.
- [27] Zierler, N. and Brillhart, J. On primitive trinomials (mod 2). Information and Control 13 (1968) 541–554.

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory, 11 (3) (2011) 285-296



# Positive Solutions to an Nth Order Multi-point Boundary Value Problem on Time Scales

Ilkay Yaslan Karaca \*

Department of Mathematics Eqe University, 35100 Bornova, Izmir, Turkey

Received: August 6, 2010; Revised: July 18, 2011

Abstract: In this paper, we consider an nth order multi-point boundary value problem on time scales. We establish criteria for the existence of at least one or two positive solutions. We shall also obtain criteria which lead to nonexistence of positive solutions. Examples applying our results are also given.

**Keywords:** positive solutions; fixed-point theorems; time scales; dynamic equations; cone.

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 39A10.

#### Introduction 1

We are concerned with the following boundary value problem (BVP) on time scales  $\mathbb{T}$  :

$$\begin{cases} y^{\Delta^{n}}(t) + \lambda f(y^{\sigma}(t))) = 0, & t \in [a, b] \subset \mathbb{T}, \\ y^{\Delta^{i}}(a) = 0, & 0 \le i \le n - 2, \\ \sum_{i=1}^{m} \alpha_{i} y^{\Delta^{n-2}}(\xi_{i}) = y^{\Delta^{n-2}}(\sigma(b)) \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

where  $\lambda > 0$  is a parameter,  $f \in \mathcal{C}([0,\infty), [0,\infty))$ ,  $n \ge 3$ ,  $m \ge 1$  are integers,  $a < \xi_1 < \xi_2 < \ldots < \xi_m < b$ ,  $\alpha_i \in (0, +\infty)$  for  $1 \le i \le m$  and  $\sum_{i=1}^m \alpha_i < 1$ . We assume that  $D = \sigma(b) - a - \sum_{i=1}^m \alpha_i(\xi_i - a) > 0$  and  $\sigma(b)$  is right dense so that

 $\sigma^j(b) = \sigma(b)$  for  $j \ge 1$ .

The study of dynamic equations on time scales goes back to its founder Stefan Hilger [10]. Some preliminary definitions and theorems on time scales can be found in the books [2,3] which are excellent references for the calculus of time scales.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author: mailto:ilkay.karaca@ege.edu.tr

<sup>© 2011</sup> InforMath Publishing Group/1562-8353 (print)/1813-7385 (online)/http://e-ndst.kiev.ua 285

#### ILKAY YASLAN KARACA

Recently, existence results for positive solutions of second-order multi-point boundary value problems was studied by some authors [9, 11–16].

A few papers can be found in the literature on higher-order multi-point boundary value problems [4–7].

We were, in particular, motivated by [6,7]. We study more general problem and we present results which guarantee the existence of at least one or two positive solutions and the nonexistence positive solutions. The methods discussed here are similar to earlier work [1].

This paper is organized as follows. Section 2 introduces some notation and several lemmas which play important roles in this paper. Section 3 gives nonexistence and multiplicity results for positive solutions to the BVP (1.1). In this article, the main tool is the following well-known Krasnosel'skii fixed point theorem in a cone [8].

**Theorem 1.1** [8]. Let B be a Banach space, and let  $P \subset B$  be a cone in B. Assume  $\Omega_1, \Omega_2$  are open subsets of B with  $0 \in \Omega_1, \overline{\Omega_1} \subset \Omega_2$ , and let

$$A: P \cap (\bar{\Omega_2} \setminus \Omega_1) \to P$$

be a completely continuous operator such that, either

- (i)  $||Ay|| \leq ||y||, y \in P \cap \partial\Omega_1$ , and  $||Ay|| \geq ||y||, y \in P \cap \partial\Omega_2$ ; or
- (ii)  $||Ay|| \ge ||y||, y \in P \cap \partial\Omega_1$ , and  $||Ay|| \le ||y||, u \in P \cap \partial\Omega_2$ .

Then A has at least one fixed point in  $P \cap (\overline{\Omega_2} \setminus \Omega_1)$ .

# 2 Preliminaries and Lemmas

Let  $G_2(t,s)$  be the Green's function for the boundary value problem

$$\begin{cases} y^{\Delta^2}(t) = 0, & t \in [a, b], \\ y(a) = 0, & \\ \sum_{i=1}^m \alpha_i y(\xi_i) = y(\sigma(b)). \end{cases}$$
(2.1)

Then

$$G_{2}(t,s) = \begin{cases} \frac{(\sigma(b)-t)(\sigma(s)-a) - \sum_{j=i}^{m} \alpha_{j}(\xi_{j}-t)(\sigma(s)-a) + \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} \alpha_{j}(\xi_{j}-a)(t-\sigma(s))}{\sigma(b)-a - \sum_{i=1}^{m} \alpha_{i}(\xi_{i}-a)}, \\ a \leq t \leq \sigma(b), \ \xi_{i-1} \leq \sigma(s) \leq \min\{\xi_{i}, t\}, \ i = \overline{1, m+1}, \\ \frac{(t-a)[\sigma(b)-\sigma(s) - \sum_{j=i}^{m} \alpha_{j}(\xi_{j}-\sigma(s))]}{\sigma(b)-a - \sum_{i=1}^{m} \alpha_{i}(\xi_{i}-a)}, \\ a \leq t \leq \sigma(b), \ \max\{\xi_{i-1}, t\} \leq \sigma(s) \leq \xi_{i}, \ i = \overline{1, m+1}. \end{cases}$$
(2.2)

**Lemma 2.1** There exist a number  $k \in (0, 1)$  and a continuous function  $\psi : [a, b] \rightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$  such that

$$G_2(t,s) \le \psi(s), \quad t \in [a,\sigma(b)], \ s \in [a,b],$$

and

$$G_2(t,s) \ge k\psi(s), \quad t \in [\xi_1, \sigma(b)], \ s \in [a,b],$$

where

$$\psi(s) = \frac{(\sigma(b) - \sigma(s))(\sigma(s) - a)}{D},$$
  
$$k = \min_{2 \le i \le m} \left\{ \frac{1}{\sigma(b)} \sum_{j=i}^{m} \alpha_j(\sigma(b) - \xi_j), \ \frac{\xi_1 - a}{\sigma(s) - a} [1 - \sum_{j=i}^{m} \alpha_j] \right\}.$$
(2.3)

287

**Proof** Now, we will show that we may take  $\psi(s) = \frac{(\sigma(b) - \sigma(s))(\sigma(s) - a)}{D}$ . Upper bounds:

Case 1. Consider  $a \leq \sigma(s) \leq \xi_1$ ,  $\sigma(s) \leq t$ . Then

$$G_2(t,s) = \frac{\sigma(b) - t - \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j(\xi_j - t)}{D} (\sigma(s) - a) = \frac{\sigma(b) - \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j \xi_j + t(\sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j - 1)}{D} (\sigma(s) - a).$$

Since  $\sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j < 1$ , the maximum occurs when  $t = \sigma(s)$  and then

$$G_2(t,s) \le \frac{\sigma(b) - \sigma(s) + \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j(\sigma(s) - \xi_j)}{D} (\sigma(s) - a) \le \frac{(\sigma(b) - \sigma(s))(\sigma(s) - a)}{D},$$

since  $\sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j(\sigma(s) - \xi_j) \le 0$  for  $\sigma(s) \le \xi_1$  and  $\xi_j \in (a, b)$  with  $a < \xi_1 < \xi_2 < \dots < \xi_{m-2} < b$ .

Case 2. For  $\xi_{r-1} \leq t \leq \xi_r$ ,  $2 \leq r \leq m+1$ ,  $\xi_{i-1} \leq \sigma(s) \leq \xi_i$ ,  $2 \leq i \leq r$ ,  $\sigma(s) \leq t$ , we have

$$G_2(t,s) = \frac{(\sigma(b)-t)(\sigma(s)-a) - \sum_{j=i}^m \alpha_j(\xi_j-t)(\sigma(s)-a) + \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} \alpha_j(\xi_j-a)(t-\sigma(s))}{D}$$

$$=\frac{(\sigma(b)-t)(\sigma(s)-a)-\sum_{j=i}^{m}\alpha_{j}(\xi_{j}-\sigma(s))(\sigma(s)-a)+\sum_{j=1}^{m}\alpha_{j}(t-\sigma(s))(\sigma(s)-a)+\sum_{j=1}^{i-1}\alpha_{j}(\xi_{j}-\sigma(s))(t-\sigma(s))}{D}$$

$$\leq \frac{\sigma(b) - t + \sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j (t - \sigma(s))}{D} (\sigma(s) - a)$$
$$\leq \frac{\sigma(b) - \sigma(s) \sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j + t (\sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j - 1)}{D} (\sigma(s) - a)$$

since  $\sum_{j=i}^{m} \alpha_j(\sigma(s) - \xi_j) \leq 0$  and  $\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} \alpha_j(\xi_j - \sigma(s)) \leq 0$  for  $\xi_{i-1} \leq \sigma(s) \leq \xi_i$ ,  $2 \leq i \leq m+1$ .

Since  $\sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j < 1$ , the maximum occurs when  $t = \sigma(s)$  so

$$G_2(t,s) \le \frac{(\sigma(b) - \sigma(s))(\sigma(s) - a)}{D}.$$

Case 3. For  $\xi_{r-1} \leq t \leq \xi_r$ ,  $2 \leq r \leq m$ ,  $\xi_{i-1} \leq \sigma(s) \leq \xi_i$ ,  $r \leq i \leq m$ ,  $t \leq \sigma(s)$ , we obtain

$$G_2(t,s) = \frac{(t-a)[\sigma(b)-\sigma(s)-\sum_{j=i}^m a_j(\xi_j-\sigma(s))]}{D} \le \frac{(\sigma(b)-\sigma(s))(t-a)}{D} \le \frac{(\sigma(b)-\sigma(s))(\sigma(s)-a)}{D},$$

#### İLKAY YASLAN KARACA

since  $\sum_{j=i}^{m} \alpha_j(\xi_j - \sigma(s)) \ge 0$  for  $\xi_{i-1} \le \sigma(s) \le \xi_i, \ 2 \le i \le m$ .

Case 4. For  $\xi_m \leq \sigma(s) \leq \sigma(b)$ ,  $t \leq \sigma(s)$ , we clearly have

$$G_2(t,s) \le \frac{(\sigma(b) - \sigma(s))(\sigma(s) - a)}{D}.$$

**Lower bounds:** We shall show that we may take an arbitrary interval  $[\xi_1, \sigma(b)] \subset (a, \sigma(b)]$ . We are looking for  $\min\{G_2(t, s) : t \in [\xi_1, \sigma(b)]\}$  as a function of s of the same form as the upper bound.

Case 1. Consider  $0 \le \sigma(s) \le \xi_1$ ,  $\sigma(s) \le t$ , we get

$$G_2(t,s) = \frac{\sigma(b) - t - \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j(\xi_j - t)}{D} (\sigma(s) - a) = \frac{\sigma(b) - \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j \xi_j + t(\sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j - 1)}{D} (\sigma(s) - a).$$

Since  $\sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j < 1$ , the minimum occurs when  $t = \sigma(b)$  and then

$$G_2(t,s) \ge \frac{\sigma(b) - \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j \xi_j + \sigma(b) (\sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j - 1)}{D} (\sigma(s) - a)$$
$$> \frac{(\sigma(b) - \sigma(s))(\sigma(s) - a)}{D} \frac{1}{\sigma(b)} \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j (\sigma(b) - \xi_j).$$

Case 2. For  $\xi_{r-1} \leq t \leq \xi_r$ ,  $2 \leq r \leq m+1$ ,  $\xi_{i-1} \leq \sigma(s) \leq \xi_i$ ,  $2 \leq i \leq r$ ,  $\sigma(s) \leq t$ , we have

$$G_2(t,s)$$

$$= \frac{(\sigma(b)-t)(\sigma(s)-a) - \sum_{j=i}^{m} \alpha_j(\xi_j - \sigma(s))(\sigma(s)-a) + \sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j(t - \sigma(s))(\sigma(s)-a) + \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} \alpha_j(\xi_j - \sigma(s))(t - \sigma(s))}{D}$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{D} [t[(\sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j - 1)(\sigma(s) - a) + \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} \alpha_j(\xi_j - \sigma(s))] + [\sigma(b) - \sigma(s) \sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j - \sum_{j=i}^{m} \alpha_j(\xi_j - \sigma(s))](\sigma(s) - a) - \sigma(s) \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} \alpha_j(\xi_j - \sigma(s))].$$

Since  $(\sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j - 1)(\sigma(s) - a) + \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} \alpha_j(\xi_j - \sigma(s)) < 0$ , the minimum occurs when  $t = \sigma(b)$ , then

$$G_{2}(t,s) \geq \frac{-\sum_{j=i}^{m} \alpha_{j}(\xi_{j}-\sigma(b))(\sigma(s)-a)+\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} \alpha_{j}(\xi_{j}-a)(\sigma(b)-\sigma(s))}{D}$$
$$\geq \frac{1}{D} \sum_{j=i}^{m} \alpha_{j}(\sigma(b)-\xi_{j})(\sigma(s)-a)$$
$$\geq \frac{(\sigma(b)-\sigma(s))(\sigma(s)-a)}{D} \frac{1}{\sigma(b)} \sum_{j=i}^{m} \alpha_{j}(\sigma(b)-\xi_{j}).$$

Case 3. For  $\xi_{r-1} \leq t \leq \xi_r$ ,  $2 \leq r \leq m$ ,  $\xi_{i-1} \leq \sigma(s) \leq \xi_i$ ,  $r \leq i \leq m$ ,  $t \leq \sigma(s)$ , we

obtain

$$G_{2}(t,s) = \frac{(t-a)[\sigma(b)-\sigma(s)-\sum_{j=i}^{m} \alpha_{j}(\xi_{j}-\sigma(s))]}{D}$$

$$= \frac{(t-a)[(\sigma(b)-\sigma(s))(1-\sum_{j=i}^{m} \alpha_{j})-\sum_{j=i}^{m} \alpha_{j}(\xi_{j}-\sigma(b))]}{D}$$

$$\geq \frac{(t-a)(\sigma(b)-\sigma(s))}{D}[1-\sum_{j=i}^{m} \alpha_{j}]$$

$$\geq \frac{(\xi_{1}-a)(\sigma(b)-\sigma(s))}{D}[1-\sum_{j=i}^{m} \alpha_{j}]$$

$$= \frac{(\sigma(s)-a)(\sigma(b)-\sigma(s))}{D}\frac{\xi_{1}-a}{\sigma(s)-a}[1-\sum_{j=i}^{m} \alpha_{j}].$$

Case 4. For  $\xi_m \leq \sigma(s) \leq \sigma(b), \ t \leq \sigma(s)$ , we have

$$G_2(t,s) = \frac{(t-a)(\sigma(b)-\sigma(s))}{D} \ge \frac{(\xi_1-a)(\sigma(b)-\sigma(s))}{D} = \frac{(\sigma(s)-a)(\sigma(b)-\sigma(s))}{D} \frac{\xi_1-a}{\sigma(s)-a}$$

Thus we can take

$$k = \min_{2 \le i \le m} \left\{ \frac{1}{\sigma(b)} \sum_{j=i}^{m} \alpha_j(\sigma(b) - \xi_j), \frac{\xi_1 - a}{\sigma(s) - a} \left[ 1 - \sum_{j=i}^{m} \alpha_j \right] \right\}. \square$$

Lemma 2.2 If y satisfies the boundary conditions

$$\begin{cases} y^{\Delta^{i}}(a) = 0, \quad 0 \le i \le n - 2, \\ \sum_{i=1}^{m} \alpha_{i} y^{\Delta^{n-2}}(\xi_{i}) = y^{\Delta^{n-2}}(\sigma(b)) \end{cases}$$

and

$$y^{\Delta^n}(t) \le 0, \quad t \in [a, b],$$

then

$$y^{\Delta^{n-2}}(t) \ge 0.$$

**Proof** Let  $P(t) = y^{\Delta^{n-2}}(t), t \in [a, \sigma(b)]$ . Then we have

$$P^{\Delta^2}(t) \le 0, \quad t \in [a, b]$$

$$P(a) = 0$$
 and  $\sum_{i=1}^{m} \alpha_i P(\xi_i) = P(\sigma(b)).$ 

It must be true that  $P(\sigma(b)) \ge 0$ . To see this, assume to the contrary that  $P(\sigma(b)) < 0$ . Since P(a) = 0 and P(t) is concave downward, we have

$$P(t) \ge \frac{t-a}{\sigma(b)-a} P(\sigma(b)), \quad t \in [a, \sigma(b)].$$

#### **İLKAY YASLAN KARACA**

Therefore,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \alpha_i P(\xi_i) - P(\sigma(b)) \ge \sum_{i=1}^{m} \alpha_i \frac{\xi_i - a}{\sigma(b) - a} P(\sigma(b)) - P(\sigma(b))$$
$$> \sum_{i=1}^{m} \alpha_i P(\sigma(b)) - P(\sigma(b))$$
$$> P(\sigma(b)) - P(\sigma(b)) = 0,$$

which is a contradiction.

Now, P(a) = 0,  $P(\sigma(b)) \ge 0$ , and P(t) is concave downward, so we have

$$P(t) = y^{\Delta^{n-2}}(t) \ge 0, \quad t \in [a, \sigma(b)].$$

This completes the proof of the lemma.  $\ \square$ 

Let  $\mathbb B$  be the Banach space defined by

$$\mathbb{B} = \{ y : y^{\Delta^n} \text{ is continuous on } [a, b], \ y^{\Delta^i}(a) = 0 \quad 0 \le i \le n-3 \},\$$

with the norm  $\|y\| = \max_{t \in [a,\sigma(b)]} |y^{\Delta^{n-2}}(t)|$  and let

$$\mathcal{P} = \{ y \in \mathbb{B} : y^{\Delta^{n-2}}(t) \ge 0, \quad \min_{t \in [\xi_1, \sigma(b)]} y^{\Delta^{n-2}}(t) \ge k \|y\| \},\$$

where k is as in (2.3).

Solving the BVP (1.1) is equivalent to finding fixed points of the operator  $L_{\lambda} : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{B}$  defined by

$$L_{\lambda}y(t) = \lambda \int_{a}^{\sigma(b)} G_n(t,s) f(y^{\sigma}(s)) \Delta s, \quad t \in [a,\sigma(b)].$$
(2.4)

It can be verified that

$$G_2(t,s) = G_n^{\Delta^{n-2}}(t,s).$$
(2.5)

From (2.5), it follows that

$$(L_{\lambda}y)^{\Delta^{n-2}}(t) = \lambda \int_{a}^{\sigma(b)} G_2(t,s) f(y^{\sigma}(s)) \Delta s.$$
(2.6)

Solving the BVP (1.1) in  $\mathbb{B}$  is equivalent to finding fixed points of the operator  $L_{\lambda}^{\Delta^{n-2}}$  defined by (2.6).

**Lemma 2.3** The operator  $L_{\lambda}$  is completely continuous such that  $L_{\lambda}(\mathcal{P}) \subset \mathcal{P}$ .
**Proof** From the continuity of  $G_2(t, s)$  and f(t) it follows that the operator  $L_{\lambda}$  defined by (2.4) is completely continuous in  $\mathbb{B}$ . By Lemma 2.1, Lemma 2.2, and definition of  $\mathcal{P}$ , we get  $L_{\lambda}\mathcal{P} \subset \mathcal{P}$ .  $\Box$ 

### **3** Existence of Positive Solutions

Now we are ready to establish a few sufficient conditions for the existence of at least one or two positive solutions and the nonexistence of positive solutions of (1.1).

Now we define

$$l^{0} = \lim_{\|u\| \to 0} \frac{f(u)}{\|u\|}, \ \ l^{\infty} = \lim_{\|u\| \to \infty} \frac{f(u)}{\|u\|}.$$

**Theorem 3.1** For each  $\lambda$ , satisfying

$$\frac{1}{kl^{\infty} \int_{a}^{\sigma(b)} \psi(s)\Delta s} < \lambda < \frac{1}{l^{0} \int_{a}^{\sigma(b)} \psi(s)\Delta s},$$
(3.1)

there exists at least one positive solution of (1.1).

**Proof** Let  $\lambda$  be given as in (3.1). Now, let  $\epsilon > 0$  be chosen such that

$$\frac{1}{k(l^{\infty}-\epsilon)\int_{a}^{\sigma(b)}\psi(s)\Delta s} \leq \lambda \leq \frac{1}{(l^{0}+\epsilon)\int_{a}^{\sigma(b)}\psi(s)\Delta s}.$$

Now, turning to  $l^0$ , there exists an p > 0 such that  $f(y) \leq (l^0 + \epsilon) ||y||$  for  $0 < ||y|| \leq p$ . So, for  $y \in \mathcal{P}$  with ||y|| = p, we have from the fact that  $0 \leq G_2(t,s) \leq \psi(s)$  for  $t \in [a, \sigma(b)], s \in [a, b]$ ,

$$(L_{\lambda}y)^{\Delta^{n-2}}(t) = \lambda \int_{a}^{\sigma(b)} G_{2}(t,s) f(y^{\sigma}(s)) \Delta s$$
$$\leq \lambda \int_{a}^{\sigma(b)} \psi(s) f(y^{\sigma}(s)) \Delta s$$
$$\leq \lambda (l^{0} + \epsilon) \int_{a}^{\sigma(b)} \psi(s) \Delta s ||y||$$
$$\leq ||y|| = p.$$

Next, considering  $l^{\infty}$ , there exists  $\hat{q} > 0$  such that  $f(y) \ge (l^{\infty} - \epsilon) ||y||$  for  $||y|| \ge \hat{q}$ . Let  $q = \max\{2p, \hat{q}\}$ . Then for  $y \in \mathcal{P}$  with ||y|| = q, and  $t \in [\xi_1, \sigma(b)]$  we get

$$(L_{\lambda}y)^{\Delta^{n-2}}(t) = \lambda \int_{a}^{\sigma(b)} G_{2}(t,s) f(y^{\sigma}(s)) \Delta s$$
$$\geq \lambda k \int_{a}^{\sigma(b)} \psi(s) \Delta s (l^{\infty} - \epsilon) ||y||$$
$$\geq ||y|| = q.$$

## İLKAY YASLAN KARACA

By Theorem 1.1,  $L_{\lambda}$  has a fixed point y such that  $p \leq ||y|| \leq q$ . The proof is complete.

**Theorem 3.2** For each  $\lambda$  satisfying

$$\frac{1}{kl^0 \int_a^{\sigma(b)} \psi(s)\Delta s} < \lambda < \frac{1}{l^\infty \int_a^{\sigma(b)} \psi(s)\Delta s},\tag{3.2}$$

there exists at least one positive solution of (1.1).

**Proof** Let  $\lambda$  be given as in (3.2), and choose let  $\epsilon > 0$  such that

$$\frac{1}{k(l^0-\epsilon)\int_a^{\sigma(b)}\psi(s)\Delta s} \le \lambda \le \frac{1}{(l^\infty+\epsilon)\int_a^{\sigma(b)}\psi(s)\Delta s}$$

Beginning with  $l^0$ , there exists an p > 0 such that  $f(y) \ge (l^0 - \epsilon) ||y||$  for  $0 < ||y|| \le p$ . So, for  $y \in \mathcal{P}$  with ||y|| = p, and  $t \in [\xi_1, \sigma(b)]$  we have

$$(L_{\lambda}y)^{\Delta^{n-2}}(t) = \lambda \int_{a}^{\sigma(b)} G_{2}(t,s) f(y^{\sigma}(s)) \Delta s$$
$$\geq \lambda k \int_{a}^{\sigma(b)} \psi(s) f(y^{\sigma}(s)) \Delta s$$
$$\geq \lambda k (l^{0} - \epsilon) \int_{a}^{\sigma(b)} \psi(s) \Delta s \|y\|$$
$$\geq \|y\| = p.$$

It remains to consider  $l^{\infty}$ . There exists  $\hat{q} > 0$  such that  $f(y) \leq (l^{\infty} + \epsilon) ||y||$  for  $||y|| \geq \hat{q}$ . There are two cases:

For case (a), suppose N > 0 is such that  $f(y) \leq N$ , for all  $0 \leq y < \infty$ . Let  $q = \max\{2p, \lambda N \int_a^{\sigma(b)} \psi(s) \Delta s\}$ . Then  $y \in \mathcal{P}$  and  $\|y\| = q$ , we have

$$(L_{\lambda}y)^{\Delta^{n-2}}(t) = \lambda \int_{a}^{\sigma(b)} G_{2}(t,s) f(y^{\sigma}(s)) \Delta s$$
$$\leq \lambda N \int_{a}^{\sigma(b)} \psi(s) \Delta s$$
$$\leq \|y\| = q.$$

For case (b), let  $g(h) := \max\{f(y) : 0 \le y^{\Delta^{n-2}} \le h\}$ . The function g is nondecreasing and  $\lim_{h\to\infty} g(h) = \infty$ . Choose  $q = \max\{2p, \hat{q}\}$  so that  $g(q) \ge g(h)$  for  $0 \le h \le q$ . For  $y \in \mathcal{P}$  and ||y|| = q, we have

$$(L_{\lambda}y)^{\Delta^{n-2}}(t) = \lambda \int_{a}^{\sigma(b)} G_{2}(t,s) f(y^{\sigma}(s)) \Delta s$$
$$\leq \lambda g(q) \int_{a}^{\sigma(b)} \psi(s) \Delta s$$

$$\leq \lambda (l^{\infty} + \epsilon) q \int_{a}^{\sigma(b)} \psi(s) \Delta s$$
  
 
$$\leq \|y\| = q.$$

By Theorem 1.1,  $L_{\lambda}$  has a fixed point y such that  $p \leq ||y|| \leq q$ . The proof is complete.

In the rest of the paper we assume that f(y) > 0 on  $\mathbb{R}^+$ . Set

$$A = \int_{a}^{\sigma(b)} \psi(s) \Delta s.$$

**Theorem 3.3** If either  $l^0 = \infty$  or  $l^{\infty} = \infty$ , then for all  $0 < \lambda \leq \lambda_0$ , where

$$\lambda_0 := \frac{1}{A} \sup_{r>0} \frac{r}{\max_{0 < \|u\| \le r} f(u)},$$
(3.3)

(1.1) has at least one positive solution.

(b) If either  $l^0 = 0$  or  $l^{\infty} = 0$ , then for all  $\lambda \ge \lambda_0$ , where

$$\lambda_0 := \frac{1}{A} \inf_{r>0} \frac{r}{\min_{0 < \|u\| \le r} f(u)},$$

(1.1) has at least one positive solution.

**Proof** We now prove the part (a) of Theorem 3.3. By (3.3), there exists r > 0 such that

$$\lambda_0 = \frac{1}{A} \sup_{r>0} \frac{r}{\max_{0 < \|u\| \le r} f(u)}.$$

If ||y|| = r, it follows that

$$||L_{\lambda}y|| = \max_{t \in [a,\sigma(b)]} |(L_{\lambda}y)^{\Delta^{n-2}}(t)| \le \lambda_0 \int_a^{\sigma(b)} G_2(t,s) f(y^{\sigma}(s)) \Delta s \le r.$$

So for all  $0 < \lambda \leq \lambda_0$  we have

$$\|L_{\lambda}y\| \le \|y\|.$$

Fix  $\lambda \leq \lambda_0$ . Choose R > 0 sufficiently large so that

$$\lambda Rk \int_{a}^{\sigma(b)} \psi(s) \Delta s \ge 1.$$
(3.4)

Since  $l^0 = \infty$ , there is p > 0 such that

$$\frac{f(y)}{\|y\|} \ge R$$

for  $t \in [a, \sigma(b)], \ 0 < ||y|| \le p$ . Hence we have that

$$f(y) \ge R \|y\|$$

for  $t \in [a, \sigma(b)]$ ,  $0 < ||y|| \le p$ . For  $y \in \mathcal{P}$ , ||y|| = p and  $t \in [\xi_1, \sigma(b)]$ , we get

$$(L_{\lambda}y)^{\Delta^{n-2}}(t) \ge \lambda Rk \int_{a}^{\sigma(b)} \psi(s)\Delta s \|y\| \ge \|y\| = p$$

by (3.4). By Theorem 1.1,  $L_{\lambda}$  has a fixed point y such that  $\min\{p, r\} \leq ||y|| \leq \max\{p, r\}$ . Next, we use the assumption that  $l^{\infty} = \infty$ . Since  $l^{\infty} = \infty$  there is a q > 0 such that

$$\frac{f(y)}{\|y\|} \ge R$$

for  $||y|| \ge q$  and R is chosen so that (3.4) holds. It follows that

 $f(y) \ge R \|y\|$ 

for  $||y|| \ge q$ .

For  $y \in \mathcal{P}$ , ||y|| = q and  $t \in [\xi_1, \sigma(b)]$ , we have

$$(L_{\lambda}y)^{\Delta^{n-2}}(t) = \lambda \int_{a}^{\sigma(b)} G_{2}(t,s) f(y^{\sigma}(s)) \Delta s$$
$$\geq \lambda Rk \int_{a}^{\sigma(b)} \psi(s) \Delta s ||y||$$
$$\geq q = ||y||$$

by (3.4). By Theorem 3.1, then  $L_{\lambda}$  has a fixed point y such that  $\min\{q, r\} \leq ||y|| \leq \max\{q, r\}$ . This completes the proof of part (a). Part (b) holds in an analogous way.  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 3.4** a) If  $l^0 = l^{\infty} = \infty$ , then there is a  $\lambda_0 > 0$  such that for all  $0 < \lambda \leq \lambda_0$ , (1.1) has two positive solutions.

b) If  $l^0 = l^{\infty} = 0$ , then there is a  $\lambda_0 > 0$  such that for all  $\lambda \ge \lambda_0$ , (1.1) has two positive solutions.

Now, we give a nonexistence result as follows.

**Theorem 3.5** (a) If there is a constant c > 0 such that  $f(y) \ge c||y||$ , then there is a  $\lambda_0 > 0$  such that (1.1) has no positive solutions for  $\lambda \ge \lambda_0$ .

(b) If there is a constant c > 0 such that  $f(y) \le c ||y||$ , then there is a  $\lambda_0 > 0$  such that (1.1) has no positive solutions for  $0 < \lambda \le \lambda_0$ .

**Proof** We now prove the part (a) of this theorem. Assume there is a constant c > 0 such that  $f(y) \ge c ||y||$ . Assume y(t) is a solution of the BVP (1.1). We will show that for  $\lambda$  sufficiently large this leads to a contradiction. We have for  $t \in [\xi_1, \sigma(b)]$ ,

$$y^{\Delta^{n-2}}(t) = \lambda \int_a^{\sigma(b)} G_2(t,s) f(y^{\sigma}(s)) \Delta s \ge ck\lambda_0 \int_a^{\sigma(b)} \psi(s) \Delta s \|y\|$$

If we pick  $\lambda_0$  sufficiently large so that  $ck\lambda_0 \int_a^{\sigma(b)} \psi(s)\Delta s > 1$  for all  $\lambda \ge \lambda_0$ , then we have  $y^{\Delta^{n-2}} > ||y||$  which is a contradiction. The proof of part (b) is similar.  $\Box$ 

**Example 3.1** We illustrate Theorem 3.2 with specific time scale  $\mathbb{T} = \{\frac{1}{2^n} : n \in \mathbb{N}_0\} \cup \{0\} \cup [1, 5].$ 

Consider the system:

$$\begin{cases} y^{\Delta^{n}}(t) + \lambda f(y^{\sigma}(t)) = 0, & t \in [0, 1/2] \subset \mathbb{T}, \\ y^{\Delta^{i}}(0) = 0, & 0 \le i \le n - 2, \\ 1/3y(1/4) + 1/5y(1/8) + 1/10y(1/64) = y(5), \end{cases}$$
(3.5)

where  $f = 1 + \sqrt{y}$ ,  $\alpha_1 = 1/3$ ,  $\alpha_2 = 1/5$ ,  $\alpha_3 = 1/10$ , a = 0, b = 1/2,  $\xi_1 = 1/4$ ,  $\xi_2 = 1/8$ ,  $\xi_3 = 1/64$ ,  $n \ge 3$ .

Since  $f = 1 + \sqrt{y}$ , we have

$$l^0 = \infty$$
  $l^\infty = 0.$ 

We get  $\psi(s) = \frac{4096}{1967}s(1-2s)$ ,  $\int_0^1 \psi(s)\Delta s = \frac{4096}{41307}$ . Therefore the assumptions of Theorem 3.2 are satisfied. By Theorem 3.2, for all  $\lambda \in (0, \infty)$ , (3.5) has at least one positive solution.

**Example 3.2** We illustrate Theorem 3.3 with specific time scale  $\mathbb{T} = \{\frac{n}{3} : n \in \mathbb{N}\} \cup [7/3, 5].$ 

Consider the system:

$$\begin{cases} y^{\Delta^3}(t) + \lambda f(y^{\sigma}(t)) = 0, & t \in [1, 2], \\ y(1) = y^{\Delta}(1) = 0, & (3.6) \\ 1/2y(4/3) + 1/3y(5/3) = y(7/3), & \end{cases}$$

where  $f = e^y$ ,  $\alpha_1 = 1/2$ ,  $\alpha_2 = 1/3$ , a = 1, b = 2,  $\xi_1 = 4/3$ ,  $\xi_2 = 5/3$ .

Hence  $l^{\infty} = \infty$ . Since

$$A = \int_{1}^{7/3} \psi(s) \Delta s = \frac{60}{153}, \quad \sup_{r>0} \frac{r}{\max_{0 < \|y\| \le r} e^y} = \sup_{r>0} \frac{r}{e^r} = \frac{1}{e^r},$$

we have

$$\lambda_0 = \frac{1}{A} \sup_{r>0} \frac{r}{\max_{0 < \|y\| \le r} f(y)} = \frac{153}{60} e^{-1}.$$

So, by Theorem 3.3, for all  $\lambda \in (0, \frac{153}{60}e^{-1}]$ , (3.6) has one positive solution.

#### References

 Anderson, D.R. and Hoffacker, J. Higher-dimensional functional dynamic equations on periodic time scales. J. Difference Equ. Appl. 14 (2008) 83–89.

#### İLKAY YASLAN KARACA

- [2] Bohner, M. and Peterson, A. Dynamic Equations on Time scales. An Introduction with Applications. Birkhauser, (2001).
- [3] Bohner, M. and Peterson, A. Advances in Dynamic Equations on Time Scales. Birkhauser Boston, 2003.
- [4] Changci, P., D. Wei and Zhongli, W. Green's function and positive solutions of nth order m-point boundary value problem. Appl. Math. Comput. 182 (2006) 1231–1239.
- [5] Eloe, P.W. and Ahmad, B. Positive solutions of a nonlinear nth order boundary value problem with nonlocal conditions. *Appl. Math. Letters* 18 (2005) 521–527.
- [6] Graef, J.R. and Yang, B. Positive solutions to a multi-point higher order boundary value problem. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 316 (2006) 409–421.
- [7] Graef, J.R., Henderson, J. Wong, P.J.Y. and Yang, B. Three solutions of an nth order three-point focal type boundary value problem. *Nonlinear Anal.* 69 (2008) 3386–3404.
- [8] Guo, D. and Lakshmikantham, V. Nonlinear problems in abstract cones. Academic Press, New York, 1988.
- [9] Hamal, N.A., and Yoruk, F. Positive solutions of nonlinear m-point boundary value problems on time scales. J. Comput. Appl. Math. 231 (2009) 92–105.
- [10] Hilger, S. Analysis on measure chains a unifed approach to continuous and discrete calculus. *Results Math.* 18 (1990) 18-56.
- [11] Jiang, W. and Guo, Y. Multiple positive solutions for second-order *m*-point boundary value problems. J. Math. Anal. Appl. **327** (2007) 415–424.
- [12] Liu, X., Qiu, J. and Guo, Y. Three positive solutions for second-order m-point boundary value problems. Appl. Math. Comput. 156 (2004) 733–742.
- [13] Topal, S. G. and Yantir, A. Positive solutions of a second order m-point BVP on time scales. Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory 9 (2) (2009) 185–197.
- [14] Yang, L., Shen, C. and Liu, X. Existence of three positive solutions for some second-order m-point boundary value problems. Acta Math. Appl. Sin. Engl. Ser. 24 (2) (2008) 253–264.
- [15] Yaslan, I. Multi-point boundary value problems on time scales. Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory 10 (3) (2010) 305-316.
- [16] Zhang, X. Successive iteration and positive solutions for a second-order multi-point boundary value problem on a half-line. *Comput. Math. Appl.* 58 (2009) 528–535.

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory, 11 (3) (2011) 297-301



# A Common Fixed Point Theorem for a Sequence of Self Maps in Cone Metric Spaces

Jianghua Liu $^1$  and Xi Wen $^{2\ast}$ 

 Jiangxi Province Education Examination Authority, Nanchang, 330006, Jiangxi, P. R. China
 <sup>2</sup> Department of Computer, Nanchang University, Nanchang, 330031, Jiangxi, P. R. China

Received: October 22, 2010; Revised: July 27, 2011

**Abstract:** In this paper, we obtain a new common fixed point theorem by using a new contractive condition in cone metric spaces. Our result generalizes and extends well known result in complete metric spaces.

Keywords: cone metric spaces; common fixed point; sequence; normal.

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 47H10; 54E35; 54H25.

#### 1 Introduction

The study of fixed points of functions satisfying certain contractive conditions has been at the center of vigorous research activity, for example see [1]–[5] and it has a wide range of applications in different areas such as nonlinear and adaptive control systems, parameterize estimation problems, fractal image decoding, computing magnetostatic fields in a nonlinear medium, and convergence of recurrent networks, see [6]–[10]. Recently, Huang and Zhang [11] have replaced the real numbers by ordering Banach space and define cone metric space. They have proved some fixed point theorems of contractive mappings on cone metric spaces. The study of fixed point theorems in such spaces is followed by some other mathematicians, see [12]–[16]. Choudhury [17] introduced mutually contractive sequence of self maps and proved a fixed point theorem. The purpose of this paper is to obtain a new common fixed point theorem by using a new contractive condition in cone metric spaces. Our result generalizes and extends many known results in metric spaces.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author: mailto:ncuwen@163.com

<sup>© 2011</sup> InforMath Publishing Group/1562-8353 (print)/1813-7385 (online)/http://e-ndst.kiev.ua 297

#### J.H. LIU AND X. WEN

Consistent with Huang and Zhang [11], the following definitions and results will be needed in the sequel.

Let E be a real Banach space. A subset P of E is called a cone if and only if:

(a) P is closed, nonempty and  $P \neq \{\theta\}$ ;

(b)  $a, b \in R, a, b \ge 0, x, y \in P$  implies  $ax + by \in P$ ;

(c)  $P \cap (-P) = \{\theta\}.$ 

Given a cone  $P \subset E$ , we define a partial ordering  $\leq$  with respect to P by  $x \leq y$  if and only if  $y - x \in P$ . A cone P is called normal if there is a number K > 0 such that for all  $x, y \in E$ ,

$$\theta \le x \le y$$
 implies  $||x|| \le K ||y||$ .

The least positive number satisfying the above inequality is called the normal constant of P, while  $x \ll y$  stands for  $y - x \in intP$  (interior of P).

**Definition 1.1** [11] Let X be a nonempty set. Suppose that the mapping  $d: X \times X \to E$  satisfies:

(d1)  $\theta \leq d(x, y)$  for all  $x, y \in X$  and  $d(x, y) = \theta$  if and only if x = y;

(d2) d(x, y) = d(y, x) for all  $x, y \in X$ ;

(d3)  $d(x,y) \le d(x,z) + d(z,y)$  for all  $x, y, z \in X$ .

Then d is called a cone metric on X and (X, d) is called a cone metric space.

The concept of a cone metric space is more general than that of a metric space.

**Example 1.1** [11] Let  $E = R^2$ ,  $P = \{(x, y) \in E | x, y \ge 0\} \subset R^2$ , X = R and  $d: X \times X \to E$  such that  $d(x, y) = (|x - y|, \alpha | x - y|)$ , where  $\alpha \ge 0$  is a constant. Then (X, d) is a cone metric space.

**Definition 1.2** [11] Let (X, d) be a cone metric space. We say that  $\{x_n\}$  is:

(e) a Cauchy sequence if for every  $c \in E$  with  $\theta \ll c$ , there is an N such that for all  $n, m > N, d(x_n, x_m) \ll c$ ;

(f) a Convergent sequence if for every  $c \in E$  with  $\theta \ll c$ , there is an N such that for all  $n > N, d(x_n, x) \ll c$  for some fixed  $x \in X$ .

A cone metric space X is said to be complete if every Cauchy sequence in X is convergent in X. It is know that  $\{x_n\}$  converges to  $x \in X$  if and only if  $d(x_n, x) \to \theta$  as  $n \to \infty$ . The limit of a convergent sequence is unique provided that P is a normal cone with normal constant K[11].

**Lemma 1.1** [11] Let (X, d) be a cone metric space, P be a normal cone with normal constant K. Let  $\{x_n\}$  be a sequence in X. Then,  $\{x_n\}$  is a Cauchy sequence if and only if  $d(x_n, x_m) \to \theta(n, m \to \infty)$ .

**Lemma 1.2** [11] Let (X, d) be a cone metric space, P be a normal cone with normal constant K. Let  $\{x_n\}$  be a sequence in X. If  $\{x_n\}$  converges to x and  $\{x_n\}$  converges to y, then x = y. That is the limit of  $\{x_n\}$  is unique.

**Definition 1.3** Let (X, d) be a cone metric space. A sequence  $\{T_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$  of selfmappings on a complete cone metric space is said to be mutually contractive if for all  $i, j = 1, 2, \cdots$ , with  $i \neq j$ ,

$$d(T_i x, T_j y) \leq k d(x, y)$$
 for all  $x, y \in X$  with  $x \neq y$ ,

where  $k \in (0, 1)$  is a constant.

## 2 Main Result

**Theorem 2.1** Let (X, d) be a complete cone metric space. P be a normal cone with normal constant K.  $\{T_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$  be a sequence of self-mappings on X such that

(1)  $T_i$  is continuous for all  $i, j = 1, 2, \cdots$ ;

(2)  $\{T_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$  is mutually contractive;

(3)  $T_i T_j = T_j T_i$  for all  $i, j = 1, 2, \cdots$ .

Then the sequence  $\{T_n\}_n$  has a unique common fixed point in X.

**Proof** Let  $x_0$  be an arbitrary point in X. We construct a sequence  $\{x_n\} \subset X$  as follows:

$$x_1 = T_1 x_0, x_2 = T_2 x_1, \cdots, x_n = T_n x_{n-1}, \cdots$$

Then the following cases may arise:.

**Case I:** If no terms of  $\{x_n\}$  are equal. Then, using (2), we get:

$$d(x_n, x_{n+1}) = d(T_n x_{n-1}, T_{n+1} x_n) \le k d(x_{n-1}, x_n)$$

By repeated application of above inequalities, we get

$$d(x_n, x_{n+1}) = d(T_n x_{n-1}, T_{n+1} x_n) \le k^n d(x_0, x_1).$$

So for n > m, we have

$$d(x_n, x_m) \le d(x_n, x_{n-1}) + \dots + d(x_{m+1}, x_m)$$
$$\le (k^{n-1} + \dots + k^m) d(x_0, x_1) \le \frac{k^m}{1 - k} d(x_0, x_1)$$

We get  $||d(x_n, x_m)|| \leq \frac{k^m}{1-k}K||d(x_0, x_1)||$ . This implies  $d(x_n, x_m) \to \theta(n, m \to \infty)$ . Hence  $x_n$  is a Cauchy sequence by Lemma 1.1. By the completeness of X, there is  $x^* \in X$  such that  $x_n \to x^*(n \to \infty)$ . Now, we prove that  $x^*$  is a fixed point of  $T_i$ .

Since two consecutive terms of  $\{x_n\}$  are unequal, for an arbitrary integer i > 0 and  $c \gg \theta$ , we can find n such that  $x^* \neq x_{n-1}, n > i$ ,

$$d(x^*, x_n) < c$$
, and  $d(x^*, x_{n-1}) < c$ 

Then, we get

$$d(x^*, T_i x^*) \le d(x^*, x_n) + d(x_n, T_i x^*)$$
  
=  $d(x^*, x_n) + d(T_n x_{n-1}, T_i x^*)$   
 $\le d(x^*, x_n) + kd(x_{n-1}, x^*).$ 

Thus,  $||d(x^*, T_i x^*)|| \le K(||d(x^*, x_n)|| + k ||d(x_{n-1}, x^*)||) \to 0$  since  $c \gg \theta$  is arbitrary. Hence  $||d(x^*, T_i x^*)|| = 0$ . This implies  $x^* = T_i x^*$ . So,  $x^*$  is a fixed point of  $T_i$ .

**Case II:** If  $x_i = x_{i-1}$  for some positive integer *i*. Then  $x_{i-1} = T_i x_{i-1}$ . Let  $x^* = x_{i-1}$ , that is,  $x^* = T_i x^*$ ,  $x^* \neq T_j x^*$  and further assume that  $x^* \neq T_j^n x^*$  for all  $n = 1, 2, \cdots$ . Thus, we get

$$d(x^*, T_j^2 x^*) = d(T_i x^*, T_j(T_j x^*)) \le k d(x^*, T_j x^*).$$

Similarly,

$$d(x^*, T_j^3 x^*) \le k^2 d(x^*, T_j x^*)$$

Consequently,

$$d(x^*, T_j^n x^*) \le k^{n-1} d(x^*, T_j x^*)$$
 for all  $n = 2, 3, \cdots$ .

We get  $||d(x^*, T_j^n x^*)|| \le k^{n-1}K ||d(x^*, T_j x^*)||$ . This implies  $d(x^*, T_j^n x^*) \to \theta$  as  $n \to \infty$ , that is

$$T_j^n x^* \to x^*$$
 as  $n \to \infty$ .

Since  $T_i$  is continuous, we get

$$T_j(T_j^n x^*) = T_j^{n+1} x^* \to T_j x^*$$
 as  $n \to \infty$ .

In the view of Lemma 1.2, we have  $x^* = T_j x^*, j = 1, 2, \cdots$ . This is a contradiction, so  $x^* = T_j^l x^*$  for some l.

Let l be the smallest integer with this property. Then, we get

$$x^* \neq T_i^m x^*$$
 for some  $m = 1, 2, \dots, l-1$ .

Thus,

$$d(x^*, T_j^{l-1}x^*) = d(T_ix^*, T_j(T_j^{l-2}x^*)) \le kd(x^*, T_j^{l-2}x^*)$$
$$= kd(T_ix^*, T_j(T_j^{l-3}x^*)) \le k^2d(x^*, T_j^{l-3}x^*) \le \dots \le k^{l-2}d(x^*, T_jx^*),$$

hence  $x^*, T_j x^*, T_j^2 x^*, \cdots, T_j^{k-1} x^*$  are all distinct. Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} d(x^*, T_j x^*) &= d(T_j^l x^*, T_j(T_i x^*)) = d(T_j(T_j^{l-1} x^*), T_i(T_j x^*)) \\ &\leq k d(T_j^{l-1} x^*, T_j x^*) = k d(T_j(T_j^{l-2} x^*), T_i(T_j x^*)) \\ &\leq k^2 d(T_j^{l-2} x^*, T_j x^*) \leq \dots \leq k^{l-2} d(T_j^2 x^*, T_j x^*) \\ &= k^{l-2} d(T_j^2(T_i x^*), T_j x^*) = k^{l-2} d(T_i(T_j^2 x^*), T_j x^*) \\ &\leq k^{l-1} d(T_j^2 x^*, x^*) = k^{l-1} d(T_j(T_j x^*), T_i x^*) \leq k^l d(T_j x^*, x^*). \end{aligned}$$

Hence  $||d(x^*, T_j x^*)|| = 0$  and  $x^* = T_j x^*$  for all  $j = 1, 2, \cdots$ .

To show uniqueness, assume  $y^*$  is another common fixed point of  $T_i$ , then

$$d(x^*, y^*) = d(T_i(x^*), T_j(y^*)) \le kd(x^*, y^*)$$

Hence  $||d(x^*, y^*)|| = 0$  and  $x^* = y^*$ , that is,  $x^*$  is a unique common fixed point of the sequence  $\{T_n\}_n$ .  $\Box$ 

**Remark 2.1** Let us remark that in Theorem 2.1, setting  $E = R, P = [0, +\infty), ||x|| = |x|, x \in E$ , we get the well know result in complete metric space.

## Acknowledgment

The authors would like to express their sincere appreciation to the referees for their very helpful suggestions and many kind comments.

Project supported by the Provincial Natural Science Foundation of Jiangxi, China (2008GZS0076) and the Science and Technology Project of Educational Commission of Jiangxi Province, China (GJJ11294).

#### References

- Edelstein, M. An extension of Banach's contraction principle. Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society 12 (1) (1961) 7–10.
- [2] Edelstein, M. On nonexpansive mappings. Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society 15 (5) (1964) 689–695.
- [3] Gnana Bhaskar, T. and Lakshmikantham, V. Fixed point theorems in partially ordered metric spaces and applications. *Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods and Applications* 65 (7) (2006) 1379–1393.
- [4] Rhoades, B. E. A comparison of various definitions of contractive mappings. Transactions of the American Mathematical Society 226 (1977) 257–290.
- [5] Sehgal, V. M. A fixed point theorem for mappings with a contractive iterate, Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society 23 (3) (1969) 631–634.
- [6] Leibovic, K. The principle of contraction mapping in nonlinear and adaptive control systems. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 9 (4) (1964) 393–398.
- [7] Medrano-Cerda, G. A. A fixed point formulation to parameter estimation problems. In: Proceedings of the 26th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control (CDC '87), 26, 1914– 1915, Los Angeles, Calif, USA, December 1987.
- [8] He, Y.M. and Wang, H.J. Fractal image decoding based on extended fixed-point theorem. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Machine Learning and Cybernetics (ICMLC '06), 4160–4163, Dalian, China, August 2006.
- [9] Rakowski, W. The fixed point theorem in computing magnetostatic fields in a nonlinear medium. *IEEE Transactions on Magnetics* 18 (2) (1982) 391–392.
- [10] Steck, J. E. Convergence of recurrent networks as contraction mappings. In: Proceedings of the International Joint Conference on Neural Networks (IJCNN '92), 3, 462–467, Baltimore, Md, USA, June 1992.
- [11] Huang, L.G. and Zhang, X. Cone metric spaces and fixed point theorems of contractive mappings. Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications 332 (2007) 1468–1476.
- [12] Abbas, M. and Jungck, G. Common fixed point results for noncommuting mappings without continuity in cone metric spaces. *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications* **341** (1) (2008) 416–420.
- [13] Ilic, D. and Rakocevic, V. Common fixed points for maps on cone metric space. Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications 341 (2) (2008) 876–882.
- [14] Ilic, D. and Rakocevic, V. Quasi-contraction on a cone metric space. Applied Mathematics Letter 22 (5) (2009) 728–731.
- [15] Huang, X.J. Zhu, C.X. and Wen, X. Common Fixed Point Theorem for Four Non-Self Mappings in Cone Metric Spaces. *Fixed Point Theory and Applications* Vol. 2010 (2010), Article ID 983802, 14 pages.
- [16] Wardowski, D. Endpoints and fixed points of set-valued contractions in cone metric space. Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods and Applications 71 (2009) 512–516.
- [17] Choudhury, B. S. A unique common fixed point theorem for a sequence of self-mappings in Menger spaces. Bulletin of the Korean Mathematical Society 37 (3) (2000) 569–575.
- [18] Huang, X.J. Wen, and X. Zeng, F.P. Pre-image Entropy of Nonautonomous Dynamical Systems. Journal of Systems Science and Complexity 21 (2008) 441–445.
- [19] Huang, X.J. Wen, X. and Zeng, F.P. Topological Pressure of Nonautonomous Dynamical Systems. Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory 8 (2008) 43–48.

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory, 11 (3) (2011) 303-318



## Cone Inequalities and Stability of Dynamical Systems

## A. G. Mazko $^\ast$

Institute of Mathematics, National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine Tereshchenkivs'ka Str., 3 Kyiv, 01601, Ukraine

Received: April 25, 2010; Revised: July 21, 2011

**Abstract:** The paper is devoted to working out new methods for stability analysis of equilibrium states of nonlinear dynamic systems in a partially ordered space. The concerned classes of differential systems are described by operator inequalities and inclusions using the notion of derivative with respect to a cone of nonlinear operator. Sufficient stability conditions of equilibrium states are formulated for sets of nonlinear and pseudolinear systems with the interval and polyhedral types operator coefficients. More general result is presented in the form of comparison principle for a finite set of differential systems.

**Keywords:** dynamic system; pseudolinear system; monotone system; positive system; Lyapunov stability; cone inequality; partially ordered space.

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): Primary: 34D20, 47H07; Secondary: 34C12, 47A50.

## 1 Introduction

Stability analysis for dynamic systems with parameter or functional uncertainties is one of the fundamental issues in system and control theory. The applied researches employ continuous and discrete models of dynamic objects whose states possess certain properties with respect to a cone in the phase space (positivity, monotonicity, cooperativity, etc.). For example, these properties can be determined very often by using a cone of nonnegative vectors, a cone of symmetric nonnegatively definite matrices, an ellipsoidal cone, etc. Many important advances have been achieved on the basis of the operator theory in partially ordered spaces (see, e.g., [1-8]). In addition, classes of positive and monotone systems arise in stability theory as systems of comparison [7,9-11].

We study generalized classes of positive and monotone dynamic systems with respect to a cone and give characterization for such systems by means of operator inequalities and

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author: mailto:mazko@imath.kiev.ua

<sup>© 2011</sup> InforMath Publishing Group/1562-8353 (print)/1813-7385 (online)/http://e-ndst.kiev.ua 303

inclusions. We formulate analogs of the Lyapunov theorem on the stability of equilibrium states of nonlinear autonomous differential systems with respect to the first approximation using the notion of derivative of nonlinear operator with respect to a cone. Finally, we propose general technique for comparison of a set of differential systems and formulate robust stability conditions for some families of nonlinear, pseudolinear and linear systems in terms of the cone and operator inequalities.

#### 2 Definitions and Auxiliary Facts

A convex closed set  $\mathcal{K}$  of a real normed space  $\mathcal{E}$  is called a *wedge* if  $\alpha \mathcal{K} + \beta \mathcal{K} \subseteq \mathcal{K}$  $\forall \alpha, \beta \geq 0$ . A wedge  $\mathcal{K}$  with *edge*  $\mathcal{K} \cap -\mathcal{K} = \{0\}$  is a *cone*. A space with a wedge is partially ordered:  $X \stackrel{\mathcal{K}}{\leq} Y \Leftrightarrow Y - X \in \mathcal{K}$ . A *solid* cone contains nonempty sets of *interior* points int  $\mathcal{K}$  and *boundary*  $\partial \mathcal{K}$ . A cone  $\mathcal{K}$  is *normal* if  $0 \stackrel{\mathcal{K}}{\leq} X \stackrel{\mathcal{K}}{\leq} Y$  implies  $||X|| \leq \nu ||Y||$ , where  $\nu$  is a universal constant. The least of these numbers  $\nu$  is the *normality constant* of  $\mathcal{K}$ . If  $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{K} - \mathcal{K}$ , then the cone  $\mathcal{K}$  is *reproducing*. A reproducing cone  $\mathcal{K}$  is *non-flat*, i.e.  $X = X_{+} - X_{-}$  and  $X_{\pm} \in \mathcal{K}$  imply  $||X_{\pm}|| \leq \mu ||X||$ , where  $\mu$  is a universal constant. The *dual* cone  $\mathcal{K}^*$  consists of linear nonnegative functionals. Moreover,

$$\mathcal{K} = \{ X \in \mathcal{E} : \, \varphi(X) \ge 0, \, \forall \varphi \in \mathcal{K}^* \}, \quad \mathcal{K}^* = \{ \varphi \in \mathcal{E}^* : \, \varphi(X) \ge 0, \, \forall X \in \mathcal{K} \},$$

 $\operatorname{int} \mathcal{K} = \{ X \in \mathcal{K} \colon \varphi(X) > 0, \, \forall \varphi \neq 0 \in \mathcal{K}^* \}, \ \ \partial \mathcal{K} = \{ X \in \mathcal{K} \colon \exists \varphi \neq 0 \in \mathcal{K}^*, \, \varphi(X) = 0 \}.$ 

A functional  $\varphi \in \mathcal{E}^*$  is uniformly positive if  $\varphi(X) \ge \gamma ||X||$  for some  $\gamma > 0$  and  $\forall X \in \mathcal{K}$ . A convex shell of  $X_1, \ldots, X_n \in \mathcal{E}$  is defined by

$$Co\{X_1, \dots, X_n\} = \left\{ X : \ X = \sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i X_i, \ \sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i = 1, \ \alpha_i \ge 0, \ i = \overline{1, n} \right\}.$$

A set  $\mathcal{D} \subset \mathcal{E}$  is  $\mathcal{K}$ -convex if  $X \stackrel{\mathcal{K}}{\leq} Y$  implies  $\operatorname{Co}\{X,Y\} \subseteq \mathcal{D}$  for  $X, Y \in \mathcal{D}$ .

Let  $\mathcal{E}(\mathcal{E}_1)$  be a Banach space with a cone  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{K}_1)$ . An operator  $M : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}_1$  is positive if  $M\mathcal{K} \subseteq \mathcal{K}_1$ . The operator is *monotone* if  $X \stackrel{\mathcal{K}}{\leq} Y \Rightarrow MX \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_1}{\leq} MY$ . The operator inequality  $M_2 \supseteq M_1$  means that  $M_2 - M_1$  is positive. A linear invertible operator M is *positive invertible* if  $\mathcal{K}_1 \subseteq M\mathcal{K}$ . Since  $(M^{-1})^* = (M^*)^{-1}$ , positive invertibility of M leads to positive invertibility of  $M^*$ . If  $\mathcal{K}_1$  is a normal reproducing cone and  $M_1 \trianglelefteq M \trianglelefteq M_2$ , then positive invertibility of  $M_1$  and  $M_2$  yields positive invertibility of M, furthermore  $M_2^{-1} \trianglelefteq M^{-1} \trianglelefteq M_1^{-1}$  [1]. An operator  $M : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}$  is called *positive-off-diagonal*, if  $X \in \mathcal{K}$  and  $\varphi \in \mathcal{K}^*$  with  $\varphi(X) = 0$  imply  $\varphi(MX) \ge 0$ . Obviously, if  $M \supseteq \alpha I$  for a certain real  $\alpha$ , where I is the identity operator, then M is positive-off-diagonal. The inverse statement holds under certain additional conditions with  $\alpha \le -\nu\mu \|M\|$ , where  $\nu$  and  $\mu$  are normality and non-flatness constants of M, respectively [4].

A linear operator of the form M = L - P,  $P\mathcal{K} \subseteq \mathcal{K}_1 \subseteq L\mathcal{K}$ , with a normal reproducing cone  $\mathcal{K}_1$  is positive invertible if and only if  $\rho(T) < 1$ , where  $\rho(T)$  is the spectral radius of the operator pencil of  $T(\lambda) = P - \lambda L$ . If  $\mathcal{K}_1$  is solid, then  $\rho(T) < 1 \Leftrightarrow M\mathcal{K} \cap \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}_1 \neq \emptyset$  [7].

A linear bounded operator F'(X) is called the Gâteaux derivative of a nonlinear operator F(X) at X, if  $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-1} \left[ F(X + \varepsilon H) - F(X) \right] = F'(X)H$  exists in the sense of strong convergence. If this relation holds only for  $H \in \mathcal{K}$ , then F' is the Gâteaux derivative of F with respect to a cone  $\mathcal{K}$  [13]. The Fréchet derivative F' with respect to  $\mathcal{K}$  is defined by  $F(X + H) - F(X) = F'(X)H + o(||H||), H \in \mathcal{K}$ . The Fréchet derivative

is also the Gâteaux derivative. If the Gâteaux derivative is continuous in a neighborhood of X, then it is the Fréchet derivative. We denote the Gâteaux and Fréchet derivatives with respect to  $\mathcal{K}$  and  $-\mathcal{K}$  by  $F'_+(X)$  and  $F'_-(X)$ , respectively. If F'(X) exists, then  $F'_+(X) = F'_-(X) = F'(X)$ .

### 3 Classes of Dynamic Systems in a Partially Ordered Space

Assume that a dynamic system S operates in a certain domain D of a Banach space  $\mathcal{E}$  and its states are defined by

$$X_t = E(X_\tau, \tau, t) \in \mathcal{E}, \quad \tau \in \Upsilon, \ t \in \Upsilon_\tau, \tag{1}$$

where E is an operator of the transition from initial state  $X_{\tau}$  to state  $X_{t}$  and such that

$$E(X,\tau,\tau) = X, \quad E(E(X,\tau,t),t,s) = E(X,\tau,s), \quad t \in \Upsilon_{\tau}, \quad s \in \Upsilon_{t},$$

 $\Upsilon \subseteq \mathbb{R}^1$  is an ordered set of indices,  $\Upsilon_{\tau} = \{t \in \Upsilon : t \geq \tau\}$ . The system is *continuous*, discrete or hybrid subject to the structure of  $\Upsilon$ . Note that  $E(\cdot, \tau, \tau) \equiv I$  is the identity operator. If  $E(\Theta, \tau, t) \equiv \Theta$ , then  $X_t \equiv \Theta$  is the *equilibrium state* of  $\mathcal{S}$ . We shall consider only the isolated equilibrium states of dynamic systems.

Let  $\mathcal{K}_t$  be a constant or time-varying set in  $\mathcal{E}$ . If  $E(\mathcal{K}_{\tau}, \tau, t) \subseteq \mathcal{K}_t$  for  $t \in \Upsilon_{\tau}$ , then  $\mathcal{K}_t$  is an *invariant set* of system  $\mathcal{S}$ . The system is *positive* with respect to an invariant cone  $\mathcal{K}_t$ . System  $\mathcal{S}$  is *monotone* with respect to a cone  $\mathcal{K}_t$  if

$$X_{\tau} \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_{\tau}}{\leq} Y_{\tau} \quad \Rightarrow \quad X_t = E(X_{\tau}, \tau, t) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\leq} Y_t = E(Y_{\tau}, \tau, t) \tag{2}$$

for any  $\tau \in \Upsilon$  and  $t \in \Upsilon_{\tau}$ . A positive (monotone) dynamic system S is defined by a positive (monotone) operator E with respect to  $\mathcal{K}_t$ . Denote the classes of monotone and positive systems with respect to  $\pm \mathcal{K}_t$  by  $\mathcal{M}$  and  $\mathcal{M}_0^{\pm}$ , respectively.

Consider the sets

$$\mathcal{K}_t^+(\Theta) = \left\{ X \in \mathcal{E} : X \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\geq} \Theta \right\}, \quad \mathcal{K}_t^-(\Theta) = \left\{ X \in \mathcal{E} : X \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\leq} \Theta \right\},$$

where  $\Theta \in \mathcal{E}$ ,  $\mathcal{K}_t$  is a cone. For the class of systems with invariant sets  $\mathcal{K}_t^{\pm}(\Theta)$ , we use the notation  $\mathcal{M}_0^{\pm}(\Theta)$ . Denote the classes of systems which posses the property (2) with  $Y_{\tau} \in \mathcal{K}_{\tau}^+(\Theta), X_{\tau} \in \mathcal{K}_{\tau}^+(\Theta), X_{\tau} \in \mathcal{K}_{\tau}^-(\Theta)$  and  $Y_{\tau} \in \mathcal{K}_{\tau}^-(\Theta)$  by  $\mathcal{M}_1^+(\Theta), \mathcal{M}_2^+(\Theta), \mathcal{M}_1^-(\Theta)$ and  $\mathcal{M}_2^-(\Theta)$ , respectively. It is obvious that

$$\mathcal{M} \subseteq \mathcal{M}_1^{\pm}(\Theta) \subseteq \mathcal{M}_2^{\pm}(\Theta), \quad \mathcal{M} \subseteq \mathcal{M}_1(\Theta) \subseteq \mathcal{M}_2(\Theta),$$

where  $\mathcal{M}_1(\Theta) = \mathcal{M}_1^+(\Theta) \cap \mathcal{M}_1^-(\Theta)$ ,  $\mathcal{M}_2(\Theta) = \mathcal{M}_2^+(\Theta) \cap \mathcal{M}_2^-(\Theta)$ . A system of  $\mathcal{M}_2^\pm(\Theta)$  is monotone in  $\mathcal{K}_t^\pm(\Theta)$ . Every system of  $\mathcal{M}_2^+(\Theta)$ ,  $\mathcal{M}_2^-(\Theta)$  or  $\mathcal{M}_2(\Theta)$  with the equilibrium state  $X_t \equiv \Theta$  belongs to  $\mathcal{M}_0^+(\Theta)$ ,  $\mathcal{M}_0^-(\Theta)$  or  $\mathcal{M}_0(\Theta) = \mathcal{M}_0^+(\Theta) \cap \mathcal{M}_0^-(\Theta)$ , respectively.

We describe the classes of systems  $\mathcal S$  introduced above via the inclusions

$$E'_{\pm}(X,\tau,t)\,\mathcal{K}_{\tau}\subseteq\mathcal{K}_t,\quad X\in\mathcal{D},\ \tau\in\Upsilon,\ t\in\Upsilon_{\tau},\tag{3}$$

where  $E'_{\pm}(X, \tau, t)$  are the Gâteaux derivatives of  $E(X, \tau, t)$  with respect to  $\pm \mathcal{K}_{\tau}$ .

**Lemma 3.1** Suppose that  $E(X, \tau, t)$  is Gâteaux differentiable with respect to  $\pm \mathcal{K}_{\tau}$ in a  $\mathcal{K}_{\tau}$ -convex domain  $\mathcal{D}$  for  $\tau \in \Upsilon$ ,  $t \in \Upsilon_{\tau}$ . Then: (i)  $\mathcal{S} \in \mathcal{M}$  if and only if one of the inclusions (3) holds; (ii)  $\mathcal{S} \in \mathcal{M}_0^{\pm}(\Theta)$  if  $E(\Theta, \tau, t) - \Theta \in \pm \mathcal{K}_t$  and (3) holds for  $X \in \mathcal{K}_{\tau}^{\pm}(\Theta)$ ; (iii)  $\mathcal{S} \in \mathcal{M}_2^{\pm}(\Theta)$  if and only if (3) holds for  $X \in \mathcal{K}_{\tau}^{\pm}(\Theta)$ .

**Proof** The necessity assertions (i)–(iii) are obtained by using the definitions of the corresponding classes of systems S and the Gâteaux derivatives

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-1} \left[ E(X + \varepsilon H, \tau, t) - E(X, \tau, t) \right] = E'_{\pm}(X, \tau, t)H, \quad X \in \mathcal{D}, \quad H \in \mathcal{K}^{\pm}_{\tau}.$$

The sufficiency assertions (i)–(iii) follow from the Lagrange type formula:

$$\varphi\big(E(X+H,\tau,t)-E(X,\tau,t)\big)=\varphi\big(E'_{\pm}(Z,\tau,t)H\big),$$

where  $\varphi \in \mathcal{E}^*$ ,  $Z = X + \mu H \in \operatorname{Co}\{X, X + H\}$ ,  $0 < \mu < 1$ , X and X + H are arbitrary points of a certain convex set. For this purpose, we use only functionals  $\varphi \in \pm \mathcal{K}_t^*$  and the property of  $\mathcal{K}_\tau$ -convexity of  $\mathcal{D}$ . Moreover,  $Z = (1 - \mu)X + \mu(X + H) \in \mathcal{D}$  for  $X \in \mathcal{D}$ and  $H \in \pm \mathcal{K}_\tau$ .  $\Box$ 

Consider the nonlinear differential system

$$X = F(X, t), \quad t \ge \tau \ge 0, \tag{4}$$

where F is a continuous operator function that guarantees the existence and uniqueness of the continuously differentiable solution  $X(t) = E(X_{\tau}, \tau, t)$  for any  $\tau \ge 0, X_{\tau} \in \mathcal{D}$ . Let  $\mathcal{K}_t$  be a cone in the phase space  $\mathcal{E}$ . For example, the Lyapunov transformation  $\mathcal{K}_t = L(t)\mathcal{K}$  of a given cone  $\mathcal{K}$  is a cone also. In this case, we can study the solutions (4) in the form X(t) = L(t)Z(t) by means of a constant cone  $\mathcal{K}$  instead of  $\mathcal{K}_t$  in a phase space of the transformed system

$$\dot{Z} = L^{-1}(t)F(L(t)Z,t) - L^{-1}(t)\dot{L}(t).$$

For  $t \ge 0$ , we introduce the following conditions:

$$X \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\geq} \Theta, \ \varphi \in \mathcal{K}_t^*, \ \varphi(X - \Theta) = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \varphi(F(X, t)) \ge 0, \tag{5}$$

$$X \stackrel{\sim_t}{\leq} Y, \, \varphi \in \mathcal{K}_t^*, \, \varphi(X - Y) = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \varphi \left( F(X, t) - F(Y, t) \right) \le 0. \tag{6}$$

Let  $\mathcal{F}_{0}^{\pm}(\Theta)$  denote the classes of operator functions F satisfying (5) with respect to  $\pm \mathcal{K}_{t}$ . Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a class of operator functions satisfying (6). We also define the classes of operator functions  $\mathcal{F}_{1}^{+}(\Theta)$ ,  $\mathcal{F}_{2}^{+}(\Theta)$ ,  $\mathcal{F}_{1}^{-}(\Theta)$  and  $\mathcal{F}_{2}^{-}(\Theta)$ , that possess property (6) with  $Y \in \mathcal{K}_{t}^{+}(\Theta)$ ,  $X \in \mathcal{K}_{t}^{+}(\Theta)$ ,  $X \in \mathcal{K}_{t}^{-}(\Theta)$  and  $Y \in \mathcal{K}_{t}^{-}(\Theta)$ , respectively. Denote  $\mathcal{F}_{k}(\Theta) = \mathcal{F}_{k}^{+}(\Theta) \cap \mathcal{F}_{k}^{-}(\Theta)$ , k = 0, 1, 2. It is obvious that  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq \mathcal{F}_{1}^{\pm}(\Theta) \subseteq \mathcal{F}_{2}^{\pm}(\Theta)$ .

**Lemma 3.2** [8] Let  $\mathcal{K}_t$  be a solid cone possessing the extension property

$$0 \le \tau < t \implies \mathcal{K}_{\tau} \subseteq \mathcal{K}_t. \tag{7}$$

Then: (i) system (4) is monotone with respect to  $\mathcal{K}_t$  if  $F \in \mathcal{F}$ ; (ii) system (4) belongs to  $\mathcal{M}_0^{\pm}(\Theta)$  if  $F \in \mathcal{F}_0^{\pm}(\Theta)$ ; (iii) system (4) belongs to  $\mathcal{M}_0^{\pm}(\Theta) \cap \mathcal{M}_k^{\pm}(\Theta)$  if  $F \in \mathcal{F}_k^{\pm}(\Theta)$ , k = 1, 2; (iv) system (4) belongs to  $\mathcal{M}_k^{\pm}(\Theta)$  if  $F(\Theta, t) \in \pm \mathcal{K}_t$  and  $F \in \mathcal{F}_k^{\pm}(\Theta)$ , k = 1, 2.

Note that the cone inequality

$$F(X,t) \stackrel{\sim}{\geq} \alpha_{+}(X,t) (X - \Theta), \quad X - \Theta \in \partial \mathcal{K}_{t}, \quad t \ge 0,$$

where  $\alpha_{\pm}(X,t)$  are scalar functions, yields  $F \in \mathcal{F}_0^+(\Theta)$ . Analogously, if

$$F(X,t) - F(Y,t) \stackrel{\lambda_t}{\leq} \beta(X,Y,t) (X-Y), \quad Y - X \in \partial \mathcal{K}_t, \quad t \ge 0,$$

where  $\beta(X, Y, t)$  is a scalar function, then  $F \in \mathcal{F}$ . If this condition holds for  $Y \in \mathcal{K}_t^+(\Theta)$ ,  $X \in \mathcal{K}_t^+(\Theta), \ X \in \mathcal{K}_t^-(\Theta) \text{ and } Y \in \mathcal{K}_t^-(\Theta), \text{ then } F \in \mathcal{F}_1^+(\Theta), \ F \in \mathcal{F}_2^+(\Theta), \ F \in \mathcal{F}_1^-(\Theta)$ and  $F \in \mathcal{F}_2^-(\Theta)$ , respectively.

We can describe the classes of operator function  $\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{F}_0^{\pm}(\Theta)$  and  $\mathcal{F}_2^{\pm}(\Theta)$  by means of the following operator inequalities generated by  $\mathcal{K}_t$ :

$$F'_{\pm}(X,t) \ge \beta_{\pm}(X,t)I, \quad X \in \mathcal{D}, \quad t \ge 0,$$
(8)

where  $\beta_{\pm}(X,t)$  are scalar function. These inequalities ensure that  $F'_{\pm}(X,t)$  are positiveoff-diagonal with respect to  $\mathcal{K}_t$  for  $X \in \mathcal{D}$  and  $t \geq 0$ . In view of Lemma 3.2, we have the following characterization of the introduced classes of differential systems (4).

**Lemma 3.3** Suppose that the operator F(X,t) is Gâteaux differentiable with respect to  $\pm \mathcal{K}_t$  in the  $\mathcal{K}_t$ -convex domain  $\mathcal{D}$  for  $t \geq 0$ . Then: (i)  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  if one of the operator inequalities (8) holds; (ii)  $F \in \mathcal{F}_0^{\pm}(\Theta)$  if  $F(\Theta, t) \in \pm \mathcal{K}_t$  and (8) holds for  $X \in \mathcal{K}_t^{\pm}(\Theta)$ ; (iii)  $F \in \mathcal{F}_2^{\pm}(\Theta)$  if (8) holds for  $X \in \mathcal{K}_t^{\pm}(\Theta)$ .

**Proof** The assertions (i)–(iii) of Lemma 3.3 are obtained by using the Lagrange type formula:

$$\varphi\big(F(X+H,t)-F(X,t)\big)=\varphi\big(F'_{\pm}(Z,t)H\big),\quad H\in\pm\mathcal{K}_t,\ \varphi\in\pm\mathcal{K}_t^*,$$

where  $Z = X + \mu H \in Co\{X, X + H\}, 0 < \mu < 1$ . If  $F'_{\pm}(Z, t)H$  is continuous, then

$$F(X+H,t) - F(X,t) = \int_0^1 F'_{\pm}(X+\mu H,t)H\,d\mu, \quad H \in \pm \mathcal{K}_t. \square$$

Let's introduce some classes of operator functions which are used in the theory of comparison systems. We write  $F \in \overline{\mathcal{F}}$ , if one can establish a correspondence between solutions of (4) and solutions of the differential inequalities  $\dot{Z} \stackrel{\kappa_t}{\leq} F(Z,t)$  such that

$$Z(\tau) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_{\tau}}{\leq} X(\tau) \Rightarrow Z(t) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_{t}}{\leq} X(t), \quad t > \tau \ge 0.$$

In addition, if  $X(\tau) \in \mathcal{K}_{\tau}^{+}(\Theta)$   $(Z(\tau) \in \mathcal{K}_{\tau}^{+}(\Theta))$ , then  $F \in \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{1}(\Theta)$   $(F \in \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{2}(\Theta))$ . Similarly, we introduce the classes  $\underline{\mathcal{F}}, \underline{\mathcal{F}}_{1}(\Theta)$  and  $\underline{\mathcal{F}}_{2}(\Theta)$  by using  $-\mathcal{K}_{t}$  instead of  $\mathcal{K}_{t}$ . It is obvious that  $\overline{\mathcal{F}} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{1}(\Theta) \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{2}(\Theta)$  and  $\underline{\mathcal{F}} \subseteq \underline{\mathcal{F}}_{1}(\Theta) \subseteq \underline{\mathcal{F}}_{2}(\Theta)$ . If  $F \in \overline{\mathcal{F}} \cup \underline{\mathcal{F}}$ , then system (4) is monotone with respect to  $\mathcal{K}_{t}$ . If  $F \in \overline{\mathcal{F}}$  and

 $F(\Theta, t) \in \mathcal{K}_t \ (F \in \underline{\mathcal{F}} \text{ and } F(\Theta, t) \in -\mathcal{K}_t), \text{ then system (4) belongs to } \mathcal{M}_0^+(\Theta) \ (\mathcal{M}_0^-(\Theta)).$ 

**Lemma 3.4** Under the conditions of Lemma 3.2, we have: (i)  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{F}} \cap \underline{\mathcal{F}}$ ; (ii)  $\mathcal{F}_{k}^{+}(\Theta) \cap \mathcal{F}_{0}^{+}(\Theta) \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{k}(\Theta), \quad \mathcal{F}_{k}^{-}(\Theta) \cap \mathcal{F}_{0}^{-}(\Theta) \subseteq \underline{\mathcal{F}}_{k}(\Theta), \quad k = 1, 2.$ 

By analogy, we can introduce and study classes of difference systems in a Banach space  $\mathcal{E}$  with respect to a cone  $\mathcal{K}_t \subset \mathcal{E}$  (see [12]).

#### 4 Stability of Equilibrium States of Autonomous Systems

**Definition 4.1** The equilibrium state  $X_t \equiv \Theta$  of system S is *stable in*  $\mathcal{K}_t^+(\Theta)$  if, for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $\tau \in \Upsilon$ , there exists  $\delta > 0$  such that  $X_\tau \in \mathcal{S}_\delta(\tau) \Rightarrow X_t \in \mathcal{S}_\varepsilon(t)$  for  $t \in \Upsilon_\tau$ , where  $\mathcal{S}_\varepsilon(t) = \{X \in \mathcal{K}_t^+(\Theta) : ||X - \Theta|| \le \varepsilon\}$ . If, for a certain  $\delta > 0$ ,  $X_\tau \in \mathcal{S}_\delta(\tau) \Rightarrow$  $||X_t - \Theta|| \to 0$  as  $t \to \infty$ , then the state  $X_t \equiv \Theta$  is asymptotically stable in  $\mathcal{K}_t^+(\Theta)$ .

**Lemma 4.1** [8] Let  $\mathcal{K}_t$  be a normal reproducing cone. The state  $X \equiv \Theta$  of system  $\mathcal{S} \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Theta)$  is Lyapunov stable (asymptotically stable) if and only if it is stable (asymptotically stable) in  $\mathcal{K}_t^+(\Theta)$  and  $\mathcal{K}_t^-(\Theta)$ .

At first, we formulate known results for linear systems. Let  $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathcal{E}$  be a normal reproducing cone. Positive system  $\dot{X} = AX$  with a linear bounded operator  $A : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}$  is exponentially stable if and only if -A is positive invertible. If  $\mathcal{K} \subseteq (\gamma I - A)\mathcal{K}$  for  $\gamma \geq 0$ , then the system is exponentially stable and positive with respect to  $\mathcal{K}$  [14]. Moreover, the system is exponentially stable if  $\mathcal{K} \subset -A\mathcal{K} \cap (\gamma_0 I - A)\mathcal{K}$  for a certain  $\gamma_0 > [\rho^2(A) - r^2(A)]/[2r(A)]$ , where  $\rho(A) = \max\{|\lambda| : \lambda \in \sigma(A)\}, r(A) = \min\{|\lambda| : \lambda \in \sigma(A)\}$  [15].

Now we formulate the asymptotic stability conditions for an isolated equilibrium state of nonlinear autonomous system in terms of positive invertible operators.

**Theorem 4.1** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a normal reproducing cone. The state  $X \equiv \Theta$  of system

$$\dot{X} = F(X), \quad F(\Theta) = 0, \quad t \ge 0, \tag{9}$$

is Lyapunov asymptotically stable if one of the following conditions holds: (a)  $F \in \mathcal{F}_0^+(\Theta) \cup \mathcal{F}_0^-(\Theta)$ , there exists the Fréchet derivative  $F'(\Theta)$ , and  $-F'(\Theta)$  is positive invertible:

$$\mathcal{K} \subseteq -F'(\Theta)\mathcal{K}.\tag{10}$$

(b)  $F \in \mathcal{F}_1(\Theta)$ , there exist the Fréchet derivatives  $F'_{\pm}(\Theta)$  with respect to  $\pm \mathcal{K}$ , and  $-F'_{+}(\Theta)$  are positive invertible:

$$\mathcal{K} \subseteq -F'_{+}(\Theta)\mathcal{K} \cap F'_{-}(\Theta)\mathcal{K}.$$
(11)

**Proof** (a) For  $X = \Theta + H$ , system (9) is represented as follows:

$$\dot{H} = F'(\Theta)H + R(\Theta, H), \quad R(\Theta, H) = o(||H||), \quad H \in \mathcal{E}.$$

In order to use the Lyapunov theorem on stability with respect to the first approximation, we establish the asymptotic stability of the linear system

$$\dot{H} = F'(\Theta)H. \tag{12}$$

System (12) is positive with respect to  $\mathcal{K}$  and  $-\mathcal{K}$ . Indeed, using the relations

$$F(\Theta + \varepsilon H) = \varepsilon F'(\Theta)H + R(\Theta, \varepsilon H), \quad \frac{R(\Theta, \varepsilon H)}{\varepsilon \|H\|} \mathop{\to}\limits_{\varepsilon \to 0} 0,$$

and the fact that  $F \in \mathcal{F}_0^+(\Theta) \cup \mathcal{F}_0^-(\Theta)$ , we have

$$H \in \pm \mathcal{K}, \ \varphi \in \pm \mathcal{K}^*, \ \varphi(H) = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \frac{\varphi(F'(\Theta)H)}{\|H\|} + \frac{\varphi(R(\Theta, \varepsilon H))}{\varepsilon \|H\|} \ge 0.$$

This implies that  $\varphi(F'(\Theta)H) \ge 0$ , i.e. the positivity conditions of system (12) are satisfied (see Lemma 3.2). In view of (10), system (12) is exponentially stable. Moreover, the state  $X \equiv \Theta$  of original system (9) is Lyapunov asymptotically stable.

(b) If  $F \in \mathcal{F}_1(\Theta)$ , then system (9) belongs to  $\mathcal{M}_1(\Theta)$  and has the invariant sets  $\mathcal{K}^{\pm}(\Theta)$ . For  $X = \Theta + H \in \mathcal{K}^{\pm}(\Theta)$ , we have the systems

$$\dot{H} = F'_{\pm}(\Theta)H + R_{\pm}(\Theta, H), \quad R_{\pm}(\Theta, H) = o(||H||), \quad H \in \pm \mathcal{K}.$$

According to Lemma 4.1, the asymptotic stability in  $\mathcal{K}$  and  $-\mathcal{K}$  of the zero state  $H \equiv 0$  of the systems yields the Lyapunov asymptotic stability of the state  $X \equiv \Theta$  of original system (9). The linear systems  $\dot{H} = F'_{\pm}(\Theta)H$  are positive with respect to  $\mathcal{K}$  and  $-\mathcal{K}$  and exponentially stable (see above). Therefore, the state  $X \equiv \Theta$  of system (9) is Lyapunov asymptotically stable.  $\Box$ 

Note that, in the case of a solid cone  $\mathcal{K}$ , conditions (10) and (11) are equivalent to consistency of the corresponding systems of cone inequalities:

$$H \stackrel{\mathcal{K}}{\geq} 0, \quad F'(\Theta) H \stackrel{\mathcal{K}}{<} 0, \tag{13}$$

$$H_{-} \stackrel{\mathcal{K}}{\leq} 0 \stackrel{\mathcal{K}}{\leq} H_{+}, \quad F_{+}'(\Theta)H_{+} \stackrel{\mathcal{K}}{<} 0 \stackrel{\mathcal{K}}{<} F_{-}'(\Theta)H_{-}.$$
(14)

**Conjecture 4.1** Let system (9) belong to  $\mathcal{M}_1(\Theta)$  with respect to a normal solid cone  $\mathcal{K}$  and let the following cone inequalities be feasible:

$$X_{-} \stackrel{\mathcal{K}}{\leq} \Theta \stackrel{\mathcal{K}}{\leq} X_{+}, \quad F(X_{+}) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}}{<} 0 \stackrel{\mathcal{K}}{<} F(X_{-}).$$
(15)

Then the state  $X \equiv \Theta$  of system (9) is Lyapunov asymptotically stable.

Consider the pseudolinear differential system

$$X = A(X)X, \quad t \ge 0, \tag{16}$$

where A is a continuous operator function with the values A(X) that are assumed to be linear bounded operators in  $\mathcal{E}$ . The Gâteaux (Fréchet) derivatives and Gâteaux (Fréchet) derivatives with respect to  $\pm \mathcal{K}$  of F(X) = A(X)X have the form

$$F'(X) = A(X) + B(X), \quad B(X)H = [A'(X)H]X,$$
  
 $F'_{\pm}(X) = A(X) + B_{\pm}(X), \quad B_{\pm}(X)H = [A'_{\pm}(X)H]X,$ 

where A'(X) and  $A'_{\pm}(X)$  are the Gâteaux (Fréchet) derivatives of A(X), the values B(X)and  $B_{\pm}(X)$  are linear operators in  $\mathcal{E}$ . Since  $F'(0) = F'_{\pm}(0) = A(0)$ , we have the following corollary of Theorem 4.1.

Corollary 4.1 Let one of the following off-diagonal positivity type constraints hold:

$$A(X) \succeq \alpha_{\pm}(X)I, \quad X \in \pm \partial \mathcal{K},$$
$$A(X) + B(X) \succeq \beta(X)I, \quad X \in \pm \mathcal{K},$$
$$A(X) + B_{\pm}(X) \succeq \beta_{\pm}(X)I, \quad X \in \mathcal{D},$$

where  $\mathcal{K}$  is a solid cone,  $\alpha_{\pm}(X)$ ,  $\beta(X)$  and  $\beta_{\pm}(X)$  are scalar functions. Then the zero state  $X \equiv 0$  of system (9) is Lyapunov asymptotically stable if the following system of cone inequalities is feasible:

$$H \stackrel{\mathcal{K}}{\geq} 0, \quad A(0)H \stackrel{\mathcal{K}}{<} 0. \tag{17}$$

Similarly, we can formulate the asymptotic stability conditions of the isolated equilibrium states for some classes of autonomous nonlinear and pseudolinear difference system (see [8]).

**Example 4.1** Consider the pseudolinear system

$$\dot{x} = A(x)x, \quad A(x) = \operatorname{diag}\{d - Cx\}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \quad t \ge 0,$$
(18)

where  $d \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is a vector, C is an invertible  $n \times n$  matrix, diag $\{\cdot\}$  denotes the diagonal  $n \times n$  matrix generated by n vector components. This system is the Kolmogorov type model describing the dynamics of growth and interaction of n populations. There are two equilibrium states  $\theta_0 = 0$  and  $\theta_1 = C^{-1}d$ .

The diagonal matrix A(x) for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is positive-off-diagonal with respect to the cones  $\pm \mathcal{K}$ , where  $\mathcal{K} = \mathbb{R}^n_+$ . Therefore, (18) is positive with respect to  $\pm \mathcal{K}$  and the

asymptotic stability condition (17) of the state  $x \equiv \theta_0$  is reduced to the inequality  $d \stackrel{\sim}{<} 0$ . Fréchet derivative of the vector function F(x) = A(x)x has the form F'(x) = A(x) + A(x)x

B(x), where  $B(x) = -\text{diag}\{x\}C$ . The matrix F'(x) is positive-off-diagonal for  $x - \theta_1 \in \pm \partial \mathcal{K}$  if  $B_1 = \text{diag}\{\theta_1\}C$  is negative-off-diagonal. By virtue of Lemmas 3.2 and 3.3, system (18) belongs to  $\mathcal{M}_0^{\pm}(\theta_1)$ . Moreover, according to Theorem 4.1, the state  $x \equiv \theta_1$  of the system is asymptotically stable if  $B_1$  is a *M*-matrix, i.e.  $B_1^{-1} \succeq 0$  and  $B_1$  is negative-off-diagonal.

#### 5 Comparison Principle for a Set of Differential Systems

Consider a set of independent systems of the type (4):

$$S_i: \quad \dot{X}_i = F_i(X_i, t), \quad X_i \in \mathcal{E}_i, \quad t \ge 0, \quad i = \overline{1, s}.$$
(19)

For simplicity, we denote  $X = (X_1, \ldots, X_s)$ ,  $F(X,t) = (F_1(X_1,t), \ldots, F_s(X_s,t))$ ,  $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}_1 \times \cdots \times \mathcal{E}_s$  and rewrite (19) as

$$\dot{X} = F(X, t), \quad X \in \mathcal{E}, \quad t \ge 0.$$
 (20)

Let  $\mathcal{X}$  be a space with a wedge  $\mathcal{W}_t$ , and let  $W : \mathcal{E} \times [0, \infty) \to \mathcal{X}$  be a continuous operator function together with its partial derivatives and not everywhere positive with respect to  $\mathcal{W}_t$ .

**Definition 5.1** Systems (19) are called *comparable* if  $W(X(t), t) \in W_t$  whenever  $W(X(\tau), \tau) \in W_\tau$  for  $t > \tau \ge 0$ . Simultaneously, W is the operator of comparison of systems (19).

**Theorem 5.1** Let  $W_t$  be a solid cone satisfying (7). Then systems (19) are comparable if and only if

$$W(X,t) \in \mathcal{W}_t, \ \varphi \in \mathcal{W}_t^*, \ \varphi \left( W(X,t) \right) = 0 \ \Rightarrow \ \varphi \left( D_t W(X,t) \right) \ge 0, \quad t \ge 0,$$
(21)

where  $D_t$  is the operator of differentiation along solutions of (20).

**Proof** We construct an invariant set of (20) in the form  $\mathcal{I}_t = \{X \in \mathcal{E} : W(X, t) \in \mathcal{W}_t\}$ . The operator of differentiation along solutions of the system is defined as

$$D_t W(X,t) = W'_X(X,t) F(X,t) + W'_t(X,t),$$

where  $W'_t(X,t)$  is the strong time derivative and  $W'_X(X,t)$  is the Gâteaux derivative. Let X(t) satisfy (20),  $X(\tau) \in \mathcal{I}_{\tau}$  and  $X(\xi) \in \partial \mathcal{I}_{\xi}$  for some  $\xi \geq \tau$ . Then

$$\int_{\xi}^{t} D_s W(X(s), s) ds = W(X(t), t) - W(X(\xi), \xi)$$

and  $\varphi(W(X(\xi),\xi)) = 0$  for some  $\varphi \neq 0 \in \mathcal{W}_{\xi}^*$ . For  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $Y \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{W}_{\xi}$ , we define a neighbourhood of  $\mathcal{I}_t$  in the form  $\mathcal{I}_t^{\varepsilon} = \{X \in \mathcal{E} : W_{\varepsilon}(X,t) \in \mathcal{W}_t\}$ , where

$$W_{\varepsilon}(X,t) = W(X,t) + \varepsilon \arctan(t-\xi) Y.$$

It is obvious that  $\mathcal{I}_t \subset \mathcal{I}_t^{\varepsilon}$ , and  $\mathcal{I}_t^{\varepsilon} \to \mathcal{I}_t$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ ,  $t \ge \xi$ . Since  $\varphi(Y) > 0$ , according to (21), for some  $\delta > 0$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \varphi\left(D_t W_{\varepsilon}(X(t),t)\right) &= \varphi\left(D_t W(X(t),t)\right) + \frac{\varepsilon}{1+(t-\xi)^2}\,\varphi(Y) > 0, \quad \xi \le t \le \xi + \delta, \\ \int_{\xi}^{\xi+\delta} \varphi\left(D_t W_{\varepsilon}(X(t),t)\right) dt &= \varphi(W_{\varepsilon}(X(\xi+\delta),\xi+\delta)) > 0. \end{split}$$

It means that the trajectory X(t) at  $t = \xi$  cannot leave  $\mathcal{I}_{\xi}^{\varepsilon}$ , i.e.  $W_{\varepsilon}(X(t), t) \in \mathcal{W}_{\xi}$  for  $\xi \leq t \leq \xi + \delta$ . Otherwise  $\varphi(W_{\varepsilon}(X(\xi), \xi)) = 0$  and  $\varphi(W_{\varepsilon}(X(\xi + \delta), \xi + \delta)) < 0$  for some  $\varphi \in \mathcal{W}_{\xi}^{*}$  and  $\delta > 0$ . According to (7), we have  $X(t) \in \mathcal{I}_{t}^{\varepsilon}$  for  $\xi \leq t \leq \xi + \delta$ . By virtue of the closedness of  $\mathcal{W}_{t}$ , we get  $W_{\varepsilon}(X(t), t) \to W(X(t), t) \in \mathcal{W}_{t}$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0, \xi \leq t \leq \xi + \delta$ . Thus,  $\mathcal{I}_{t}$  is an invariant set of system (20).

The converse statement follows from the Lagrange type relation:

$$\varphi(W(X(\xi+\delta),\xi+\delta)) - \varphi(W(X(\xi),\xi)) = \delta \varphi(D_{\zeta}W(X(\zeta),\zeta)),$$

where  $\zeta \in (\xi, \xi + \delta)$ . If  $\varphi(W(X(\xi), \xi)) = 0$  and  $X(\xi + \delta) \in \mathcal{I}_{\xi+\delta}$ , then it is necessary that the inequality  $\varphi(D_{\xi}W(X(\xi), \xi)) \ge 0$  holds for sufficiently small  $\delta > 0$ .  $\Box$ 

Note that (21) holds if

$$D_t W(X,t) \stackrel{\mathcal{W}_t}{\geq} \alpha(X,t) W(X,t), \quad X \in \partial \mathcal{I}_t, \quad t \ge 0,$$

where  $\alpha(X, t)$  is a certain scalar function.

Now, we formulate known results of comparison for two and three systems with the zero equilibrium states. In some cases, these results can be established as corollaries of Theorem 5.1. In phase spaces of the comparison systems, we shall use normal reproducing cones with bounded normality constants. Consider the following cases.

**Case 1.** Let s = 2,  $F_1(\Theta, t) \equiv 0$ ,  $F_2(\Omega, t) \equiv 0$  and  $W(X, t) = X_2 - V(X_1, t)$ , where  $V : \mathcal{E}_1 \times [0, \infty) \to \mathcal{E}_2$  is a continuous and everywhere positive operator function with respect to a normal reproducing cone  $\mathcal{K}_t \subset \mathcal{E}_2$ . If

$$D_t V(X_1, t) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\leq} F_2(V(X_1, t), t), \quad F_2 \in \overline{\mathcal{F}}_2(\Omega), \quad t \ge 0,$$
(22)

then  $S_2$  is an upper comparison system for system  $S_1$  in the sense that:

$$\Omega \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_{\tau}}{\leq} V(X_1(\tau), \tau) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_{\tau}}{\leq} X_2(\tau) \implies \Omega \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\leq} V(X_1(t), t) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\leq} X_2(t), \ t > \tau \ge 0.$$

Thus, systems (19) are comparable with the operator of comparison W.

We assume that an operator V has the following additional properties:

$$V(\Theta, t) \equiv \Omega, \quad \|V(X, t) - \Omega\| \ge v(X) > 0, \quad X \neq \Theta, \quad v(\Theta) = 0, \quad t \ge 0,$$
(23)

where v is a continuous function such that  $||X - \Theta|| \le ||Y - \Theta||$  whenever  $v(X) \le v(Y)$ .

**Theorem 5.2** Let an everywhere positive operator V satisfy (22) and (23). Then the solution  $X_1 \equiv \Theta$  of  $S_1$  is Lyapunov stable (asymptotically stable) if the solution  $X_2 \equiv \Omega$  of  $S_2$  is stable (asymptotically stable) in  $\mathcal{K}_t^+(\Omega)$ .

**Case 2.** Let s = 3,  $F_1(\Omega, t) \equiv F_3(\Omega, t) \equiv 0$ ,  $F_2(\Theta, t) \equiv 0$ ,  $\mathcal{E}_1 = \mathcal{E}_3$  and  $W(X, t) = [V(X_2, t) - X_1, X_3 - V(X_2, t)]$ , where  $V : \mathcal{E}_2 \times [0, \infty) \to \mathcal{E}_1$  is a continuous operator function and  $\mathcal{K}_t \subset \mathcal{E}_1$  is a normal reproducing cone. If

$$F_1(V(X_2,t),t) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\leq} D_t V(X_2,t) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\leq} F_3(V(X_2,t),t), \quad F_1 \in \underline{\mathcal{F}}_1(\Omega), \quad F_3 \in \overline{\mathcal{F}}_1(\Omega), \quad (24)$$

then, for  $X_1(\tau) \in \mathcal{K}^-_{\tau}(\Omega)$  and  $X_3(\tau) \in \mathcal{K}^+_{\tau}(\Omega)$ , we have

$$X_1(\tau) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_\tau}{\leq} V(X_2(\tau), \tau) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_\tau}{\leq} X_3(\tau) \Rightarrow X_1(t) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\leq} V(X_2(t), t) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\leq} X_3(t), \quad t > \tau \ge 0.$$
(25)

It means that three systems (19) are comparable with the operator of comparison Wand cone  $W_t = \mathcal{K}_t \times \mathcal{K}_t$ . Then  $S_1$  ( $S_3$ ) is a *lower (upper) comparison system* for  $S_2$ .

**Theorem 5.3** Let V satisfy (23) and (24). Then the solution  $X_2 \equiv \Theta$  of system  $S_2$ is Lyapunov stable (asymptotically stable) if the solution  $X_1 \equiv \Omega$  of  $S_1$  and the solution  $X_3 \equiv \Omega$  of  $S_3$  are stable (asymptotically stable) in  $\mathcal{K}_t^-(\Omega)$  and  $\mathcal{K}_t^+(\Omega)$ , respectively.

**Proof** Since  $\mathcal{K}_t$  is reproducing and non-flat, we have

$$V(X_2(\tau), \tau) - \Omega = U_+ - U_-, \quad ||U_{\pm}|| \le \gamma ||V(X_2(\tau), \tau) - \Omega||, \quad U_{\pm} \in \mathcal{K}_{\tau},$$

where  $\gamma > 0$  is a universal constant. Let  $X_1(t)$  and  $X_3(t)$  be the solutions of systems  $S_1$  and  $S_3$  with the initial conditions  $X_1(\tau) = \Omega - U_- \in \mathcal{K}_{\tau}^-(\Omega)$  and  $X_3(\tau) = \Omega + U_+ \in \mathcal{K}_{\tau}^+(\Omega)$ , respectively. Then  $X_1(t) \in \mathcal{K}_t^-(\Omega)$ ,  $X_3(t) \in \mathcal{K}_t^+(\Omega)$  and

$$||X_1(\tau) - \Omega|| \le \gamma ||V(X_2(\tau), \tau) - \Omega||, ||X_3(\tau) - \Omega|| \le \gamma ||V(X_2(\tau), \tau) - \Omega||.$$

By virtue of (25) and the normality of  $\mathcal{K}_t$ , we get

$$||V(X_2(t), t) - \Omega|| \le \alpha ||X_1(t) - \Omega|| + \beta ||X_3(t) - \Omega||, \quad t \ge \tau.$$

where  $\alpha > 0$  and  $\beta > 0$  depend on the normality constant of  $\mathcal{K}_t$ .

It follows from (23) and the continuity of V(X,t) that, for any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists  $\delta_0 > 0$  such that  $||X_2(t) - \Theta|| \le \varepsilon$  whenever  $||V(X_2(t), t) - \Omega|| \le \delta_0$  for  $t \ge \tau$ .

Now we use the stability properties of the solution  $X_1 \equiv \Omega$  of  $S_1$  and the solution  $X_3 \equiv \Omega$  of  $S_3$  in  $\mathcal{K}_t^-(\Omega)$  and  $\mathcal{K}_t^+(\Omega)$ , respectively. We choose  $\delta_{\pm} > 0$  so that the inequalities  $||X_1(\tau) - \Omega|| \leq \delta_-$  and  $||X_3(\tau) - \Omega|| \leq \delta_+$  yield the corresponding inequalities  $||X_1(t) - \Omega|| \leq \delta_0/(2\alpha)$  and  $||X_3(t) - \Omega|| \leq \delta_0/(2\beta)$  for  $t \geq \tau$ .

Finally, we choose  $\delta > 0$  so that

$$||X_2(\tau) - \Theta|| \le \delta \implies ||V(X_2(\tau), \tau) - \Omega|| \le \min\{\delta_-, \delta_+\}/\gamma$$

Then, according to the arguments presented above, we get  $||X_2(t) - \Theta|| \leq \varepsilon$  for  $t > \tau$ , i.e., the solution  $X_2 \equiv \Theta$  of system  $S_2$  is Lyapunov stable. In this case,  $X_2(t) \to \Theta$  if  $X_1(t) \to \Omega$  and  $X_3(t) \to \Omega$  as  $t \to \infty$ .  $\Box$ 

The proofs of Theorems 5.2 and 5.3 are analogous.

**Case 3.** Let  $s \ge 2$ . The *arrangement* problems for systems (19) can be formulated in the form of a general comparison problem using the block operator

$$W(X,t) = \left[ V_2(X_2,t) - V_1(X_1,t), \dots, V_s(X_s,t) - V_{s-1}(X_{s-1},t) \right].$$

If  $S_i$  are comparable with  $W_t = \mathcal{K}_t \times \cdots \times \mathcal{K}_t$ , where  $\mathcal{K}_t$  is a wedge in  $\mathcal{X}_1$ , then

$$V_1(X_1(t),t) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\leq} \cdots \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\leq} V_s(X_s(t),t), \quad t > \tau \ge 0,$$

provided that this ordering takes place at an arbitrary initial time  $t = \tau$ . In particular, if  $V_i(X_i, t) = ||X_i||_{\mathcal{E}_i}$ , then the solutions of comparable systems (19) are ordered by norms:

$$\|X_1(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_1} \leq \cdots \leq \|X_s(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_s} \Rightarrow \|X_1(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_1} \leq \cdots \leq \|X_s(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_s}, \quad t > \tau \geq 0.$$

Example 5.1 Consider a set of pseudolinear systems

$$\dot{x}_i = A_i(x_i, t) x_i, \quad x_i \in \mathbb{C}^{n_i}, \quad t \ge 0, \quad i = \overline{1, s},$$
(26)

where  $A_i(x_i, t)$  are continuous  $n_i \times n_i$  matrices. We specify an operator of comparison of the systems with respect to the cone  $\mathcal{W} = \mathbb{R}^{s-1}_+$ :

$$W(X,t) = \left[ \begin{array}{ccc} x_2^* Q_2 x_2 - x_1^* Q_1 x_1, & \dots & x_s^* Q_s x_s - x_{s-1}^* Q_{s-1} x_{s-1} \end{array} \right],$$

where  $Q_i(t) = Q_i^*(t) > 0$  are Hermitian positive definite matrices. Then

$$D_t W(X,t) = \left[ \begin{array}{ccc} x_2^* H_2 x_2 - x_1^* H_1 x_1, & \dots & , x_s^* H_s x_s - x_{s-1}^* H_{s-1} x_{s-1} \end{array} \right],$$

where  $H_i(x_i, t) = A_i^*(x_i, t)Q_i(t) + Q_i(t)A_i(x_i, t) + \dot{Q}_i(t)$ ,  $i = \overline{1, s}$ . Using Theorem 5.1 and the two-sided estimations

$$\left[\lambda_{\min}(H_i - \lambda Q_i) - \alpha\right] x_i^* Q_i x_i \le x_i^* (H_i - \alpha Q_i) x_i \le \left[\lambda_{\max}(H_i - \lambda Q_i) - \alpha\right] x_i^* Q_i x_i,$$

one can establish that the solutions of (26) are ordered in the form  $x_1(t)^*Q_1(t)x_1(t) \le \cdots \le x_s(t)^*Q_s(t)x_s(t), t \ge \tau \ge 0$ , if the following relations hold:

$$\lambda_{\max}(H_i - \lambda Q_i) \le \lambda_{\min}(H_{i+1} - \lambda Q_{i+1}), \quad i = \overline{1, s-1}.$$

In particular, in the case  $Q_i \equiv I$ , the inequalities  $\lambda_{\max}(A_i^* + A_i) \leq \lambda_{\min}(A_{i+1}^* + A_{i+1})$ ,  $i = \overline{1, s-1}$ , ensure the ordering of systems (26) with respect to the Hermitian norm. Here, for matrix pencils and Hermitian matrices,  $\lambda_{\max}(\cdot)$  and  $\lambda_{\min}(\cdot)$  denote the maximum and minimum eigenvalues, respectively.

## 6 Robust Stability Analysis of Differential Systems

Consider the family of differential systems

$$\dot{X} = F(X, t), \quad F(\Theta, t) \equiv 0, \quad t \ge 0, \tag{27}$$

$$\underline{F}(X,t) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\leq} F(X,t) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\leq} \overline{F}(X,t), \quad X \in \mathcal{E}, \quad t \ge 0,$$
(28)

under the conditions of existence and uniqueness of solutions X(t),  $t > \tau \ge 0$ , in a Banach space  $\mathcal{E}$  contained a normal reproducing cone  $\mathcal{K}_t$  with a bounded normality constant. We isolate the extreme systems

$$\underline{\dot{X}} = \underline{F}(\underline{X}, t), \quad \underline{F}(\Theta, t) \equiv 0, \quad t \ge 0,$$
(29)

$$\overline{X} = \overline{F}(\overline{X}, t), \quad \overline{F}(\Theta, t) \equiv 0, \quad t \ge 0.$$
 (30)

If  $\underline{F} \in \underline{\mathcal{F}}_1(\Theta)$  and  $\overline{F} \in \overline{\mathcal{F}}_1(\Theta)$ , then, for  $\underline{X}(\tau) \in \mathcal{K}^-_{\tau}(\Theta)$ ,  $\overline{X}(\tau) \in \mathcal{K}^+_{\tau}(\Theta)$ , we have

$$\underline{X}(\tau) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_{\tau}}{\leq} X(\tau) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_{\tau}}{\leq} \overline{X}(\tau) \Rightarrow \underline{X}(t) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_{t}}{\leq} X(t) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_{t}}{\leq} \overline{X}(t), \quad t > \tau \ge 0.$$

In this case, (29) ((30)) is a lower (upper) comparison system for any system (27), (28). Assumed that  $V(X,t) \equiv X$  and  $\Theta = \Omega$  in Theorem 5.3, we have the following result.

**Theorem 6.1** Let  $\underline{F} \in \underline{\mathcal{F}}_1(\Theta)$  and  $\overline{F} \in \overline{\mathcal{F}}_1(\Theta)$ . Then the solution  $X \equiv \Theta$  of any system (27), (28) is Lyapunov stable (asymptotically stable), if the solution  $\underline{X} \equiv \Theta$  of (29) and the solution  $\overline{X} \equiv \Theta$  of (30) are stable (asymptotically stable) in  $\mathcal{K}_t^-(\Theta)$  and  $\mathcal{K}_t^+(\Theta)$ , respectively.

Now, we consider instead of (28) the conditions

$$\underline{F}(X,t) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\leq} F(X,t) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\leq} \overline{F}(X,t), \quad X \in \mathcal{K}_t^+(\Theta), \quad t \ge 0,$$
(31)

$$\underline{F}(X,t) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\leq} F(X,t) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\leq} \overline{F}(X,t), \quad X \in \mathcal{K}_t^-(\Theta), \quad t \ge 0.$$
(32)

**Theorem 6.2** Let  $\mathcal{K}_t$  be a normal solid cone satisfying (7). If (31) holds with  $\underline{F} \in \mathcal{F}_0^+(\Theta)$  and  $\overline{F} \in \mathcal{F}_2^+(\Theta)$ , then stability (asymptotic stability) in  $\mathcal{K}_t^+(\Theta)$  of the solution  $\overline{X} \equiv \Theta$  of (30) involves stability (asymptotic stability) in  $\mathcal{K}_t^+(\Theta)$  of the solution  $X \equiv \Theta$  of any system (27), (31). By analogy, if (32) holds with  $\underline{F} \in \mathcal{F}_2^-(\Theta)$  and  $\overline{F} \in \mathcal{F}_0^-(\Theta)$ , then stability (asymptotic stability) in  $\mathcal{K}_t^-(\Theta)$  of the solution  $\underline{X} \equiv \Theta$  of (29) involves stability (asymptotic stability) in  $\mathcal{K}_t^-(\Theta)$  of the solution  $X \equiv \Theta$  of any system (27), (32).

Note that under the conditions of Theorem 6.2, we have  $\Theta \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\leq} X(t) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\leq} \overline{X}(t)$  and  $\underline{X}(t) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\leq} X(t) \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\leq} \Theta$  for  $t > \tau \ge 0$  as soon as these inequalities hold at  $t = \tau$  (see Section 3). If (31) holds, then  $\underline{F} \in \mathcal{F}_0^+(\Theta)$  implies  $F \in \mathcal{F}_0^+(\Theta)$ . Similarly, if (32) holds, then  $\overline{F} \in \mathcal{F}_0^-(\Theta)$ .

Consider the pseudolinear system

$$\dot{X} = A(X, t)X, \quad t \ge 0, \tag{33}$$

with the isolated equilibrium state  $X \equiv \Theta$  under one of the following conditions:

 $\underline{A}(X,t) \trianglelefteq A(X,t) \trianglelefteq \overline{A}(X,t), \quad X \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\ge} \Theta \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\ge} 0, \quad t \ge 0,$ (34)

$$\underline{A}(X,t) \leq \underline{A}(X,t) \leq \overline{A}(X,t), \quad X \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\leq} \Theta \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_t}{\leq} 0, \quad t \geq 0.$$
(35)

The values of continuous operator functions A(X,t),  $\underline{A}(X,t)$  and  $\overline{A}(X,t)$  are linear bounded operators in  $\mathcal{E}$ . If  $X \equiv \Theta$  is an equilibrium state of the system, then either  $\Theta = 0$  or  $\Theta \neq 0$  and  $\Theta \in \ker A(\Theta, t)$  at  $t \geq 0$ . The extreme systems

$$\dot{\underline{X}} = \underline{A}(\underline{X}, t)\underline{X}, \quad t \ge 0, \tag{36}$$

$$\overline{X} = \overline{A}(\overline{X}, t)\overline{X}, \quad t \ge 0, \tag{37}$$

have the equilibrium states  $\underline{X} \equiv \Theta$  and  $\overline{X} \equiv \Theta$ , respectively. So, we formulate the corollaries of Theorem 6.2 and Lemma 3.3 using the following constraints:

$$\underline{A}(X,t) + \underline{B}_{+}(X,t) \ge \underline{\beta}_{+}(X,t)I, \quad X \in \mathcal{K}_{t}^{+}(\Theta), \quad t \ge 0,$$
(38)

$$\overline{A}(X,t) + \overline{B}_{+}(X,t) \ge \overline{\beta}_{+}(X,t)I, \quad X \in \mathcal{K}_{t}^{+}(\Theta), \quad t \ge 0,$$
(39)

$$\underline{A}(X,t) + \underline{B}_{-}(X,t) \ge \underline{\beta}_{-}(X,t)I, \quad X \in \mathcal{K}_{t}^{-}(\Theta), \quad t \ge 0,$$

$$(40)$$

$$\overline{A}(X,t) + \overline{B}_{-}(X,t) \ge \overline{\beta}_{-}(X,t)I, \quad X \in \mathcal{K}_{t}^{-}(\Theta), \quad t \ge 0,$$
(41)

where  $\underline{B}_{\pm}(X,t)H = [\underline{A}'_{\pm}(X,t)H]X$ ,  $\overline{B}_{\pm}(X,t)H = [\overline{A}'_{\pm}(X,t)H]X$ ,  $\underline{A}'_{\pm}(X,t)$  and  $\overline{A}'_{\pm}(X,t)$  are the Gâteaux (Fréchet) derivatives with respect to  $\pm \mathcal{K}_t$ ,  $\underline{\beta}_{\pm}(X,t)$  and  $\overline{\beta}_{\pm}(X,t)$  are scalar functions.

**Corollary 6.1** Let  $\mathcal{K}_t$  be a normal solid cone satisfying (7). If (38) and (39) hold, then stability (asymptotic stability) in  $\mathcal{K}_t^+(\Theta)$  of the solution  $\overline{X} \equiv \Theta$  of (37) involves stability (asymptotic stability) in  $\mathcal{K}_t^+(\Theta)$  of the solution  $X \equiv \Theta$  of any system (33), (34). By analogy, if (40) and (41) hold, then stability (asymptotic stability) in  $\mathcal{K}_t^-(\Theta)$  of the solution  $\underline{X} \equiv \Theta$  of (36) involves stability (asymptotic stability) in  $\mathcal{K}_t^-(\Theta)$  of the solution  $X \equiv \Theta$  of any system (33), (35).

Note that in Corollary 6.1, we can use the constraints

$$\underline{A}(X,t) \ge \underline{\alpha}_{+}(X,t)I, \quad \underline{A}(X,t)\Theta \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_{t}}{\geq} 0, \quad X - \Theta \in \partial \mathcal{K}_{t}, \quad t \ge 0,$$
(42)

$$\overline{A}(X,t) \ge \overline{\alpha}_{-}(X,t)I, \quad \overline{A}(X,t)\Theta \stackrel{\mathcal{K}_{t}}{\leq} 0, \quad \Theta - X \in \partial \mathcal{K}_{t}, \quad t \ge 0,$$
(43)

instead of (38) and (41), respectively.

Example 6.1 Consider the family of pseudolinear systems

$$\dot{x} = A(x,t)x, \quad \underline{A}(x,t) \leq A(x,t) \leq \overline{A}(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n_+, \quad t \geq 0,$$
(44)

where  $\underline{A}(x,t) = \underline{A}_0(t) + \sum_{j=1}^n x_j \underline{A}_j(t), \ \overline{A}(x) = \overline{A}_0 + \sum_{j=1}^n x_j \overline{A}_j, \ \underline{A}_i(t) \trianglelefteq \overline{A}_i, \ \underline{A}_i(t) = \|\underline{a}_{ks}^{(i)}(t)\|_{k,s=1}^n \text{ and } \overline{A}_i = \|\overline{a}_{ks}^{(i)}\|_{k,s=1}^n \text{ are } n \times n \text{ matrices, } i = \overline{0,n}. \text{ Here } \mathcal{K} = \mathbb{R}^n_+ \text{ is a cone of nonnegative vectors and } \trianglelefteq \text{ denotes the elementwise matrix inequality.}$ 

The Gâteaux (Fréchet) derivative of F(x,t) = A(x,t)x has the form

$$F'(x,t) = A(x,t) + B(x,t), \quad B(x,t) = \left[\left(\frac{\partial A}{\partial x_1}\right)x, \dots, \left(\frac{\partial A}{\partial x_n}\right)x\right],$$

So, for  $\underline{F}(x,t) = \underline{A}(x,t)x$  and  $\overline{F}(x) = \overline{A}(x)x$ , we have

$$\underline{F}'(x,t) = \underline{F}'_{\pm}(x,t) = \underline{A}_{0}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} x_{j} \underline{B}_{j}(t), \quad \underline{B}_{j}(t) = \|\underline{a}_{ks}^{(j)}(t) + \underline{a}_{kj}^{(s)}(t)\|_{k,s=1}^{n}, \\
\overline{F}'(x) = \overline{F}'_{\pm}(x) = \overline{A}_{0} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} x_{j} \overline{B}_{j}, \quad \overline{B}_{j} = \|\overline{a}_{ks}^{(j)} + \overline{a}_{kj}^{(s)}\|_{k,s=1}^{n}.$$

Then conditions (38) and (42) with  $\Theta = 0$  are reduced to the form

$$\underline{a}_{ks}^{(0)}(t) \ge 0, \quad \underline{a}_{ks}^{(j)}(t) + \underline{a}_{kj}^{(s)}(t) \ge 0, \quad k \neq s, \quad t \ge 0, \quad j = \overline{1, n};$$
$$\underline{a}_{ks}^{(i)}(t) \ge 0, \quad k \neq s, \quad t \ge 0, \quad i = \overline{0, n},$$

respectively. If one of these conditions holds and in addition

$$\overline{A}_0^{-1} \leq 0, \quad \overline{a}_{ks}^{(0)} \geq 0, \quad \overline{a}_{ks}^{(j)} + \overline{a}_{kj}^{(s)} \geq 0, \quad k \neq s, \quad j = \overline{1, n},$$

then according to Corollary 6.1 the zero equilibrium state of any system (44) is asymptotically stable in  $\mathcal{K}$  (see also assertion (a) of Theorem 4.1 and Corollary 4.1).

Consider the parameter family of autonomous pseudolinear systems

$$\dot{X} = A(X,p)X, \quad A(X,p) = \sum_{i=1}^{s} p_i A_i(X), \ X \in \mathcal{E}, \ t \ge 0,$$
 (45)

where  $p = [p_1, \ldots, p_s]^{\top} \in \mathbb{R}^s_+$  is a vector of nonnegative scalar parameters. The values of operator functions  $A_i(X)$  and A(X, p) are linear bounded operators in  $\mathcal{E}$ .

**Corollary 6.2** Let all the operators  $A_i(X)$  satisfy one of the off-diagonal positivity type constraints of Corollary 4.1 with a normal solid cone  $\mathcal{K}$ , and the system of cone inequalities  $H \stackrel{\mathcal{K}}{\geq} 0$  and  $A_i(0)H \stackrel{\mathcal{K}}{<} 0$  for  $i = \overline{1, s}$  is feasible. Then the zero solution  $X \equiv 0$ of any system (45) for  $p \in \mathbb{R}^s_+$  is Lyapunov asymptotically stable.

Consider the family of linear differential systems

$$\dot{X} = A(t)X, \quad \underline{A}(t) \trianglelefteq A(t) \trianglelefteq \overline{A}(t), \quad t \ge 0,$$
(46)

where the inequality  $\leq$  between linear operators is generated by a normal reproducing cone  $\mathcal{K}_t$ . In (46), we isolate the extreme systems:

$$\dot{X} = \underline{A}(t)X,\tag{47}$$

$$\dot{X} = \overline{A}(t)X. \tag{48}$$

**Theorem 6.3** Any system (46) is positive with respect to  $\mathcal{K}_t$  if

$$e^{\underline{A}(\theta)\delta}\mathcal{K}_{\tau} \subseteq \mathcal{K}_{t}, \quad t \ge \theta \ge \tau \ge 0, \quad t - \tau \ge \delta \ge 0.$$
 (49)

Moreover, if system (48) is asymptotically stable, then any positive system (46) is asymptotically stable.

**Proof** Note that  $\mathcal{K}_t$  in (49) with  $\delta = 0$  satisfies (7). The evolutional and exponential operators of system (46) are connected by [16]

$$E(t,\tau) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left[ e^{A(\vartheta_n)h_n} \dots e^{A(\vartheta_1)h_n} \right], \quad e^{A(\vartheta)h} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left[ E(\vartheta, \vartheta - h/n) \right]^n,$$

where  $\vartheta_k \in [t_k, t_{k+1}]$ ,  $t_k = \tau + kh_n$ ,  $h_n = (t - \tau)/n$ ,  $k = \overline{0, n}$ ,  $t \ge \tau$ ,  $\vartheta \ge 0$ ,  $h \ge 0$ . Therefore, (49) ensures positivity of (46). In the case of a constant cone, the inverse statement holds also. If  $A(t)\mathcal{K}_t \subseteq \mathcal{K}_t$  and (7) hold, then

$$e^{A(\vartheta)h}\mathcal{K}_{\tau} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (h^k/k!) A^k(\vartheta) \mathcal{K}_{\tau} \subseteq \mathcal{K}_t, \quad \tau \le \vartheta \le t, \quad 0 \le h \le t - \tau.$$

Let  $A(t) = A_1(t) + A_2(t)$  and  $e^{A_s(\vartheta)h} \mathcal{K}_\tau \subseteq \mathcal{K}_t$ , s = 1, 2. Then

$$e^{A(\vartheta)h} = \lim_{n \to \infty} 2^{-n} \left[ e^{A_1(\vartheta)\frac{h}{n}} e^{A_2(\vartheta)\frac{h}{n}} + e^{A_2(\vartheta)\frac{h}{n}} e^{A_1(\vartheta)\frac{h}{n}} \right]^n, \quad e^{A(\vartheta)h} \mathcal{K}_{\tau} \subseteq \mathcal{K}_t,$$

and consequently  $E(t, \tau)\mathcal{K}_{\tau} \subseteq \mathcal{K}_{t}$ . Assuming that  $A_{1}(t) = \underline{A}(t)$  and  $A_{2}(t) = A(t) - \underline{A}(t)$ , we have the positivity of any system (46) with respect to  $\mathcal{K}_{t}$ .

Let X(t) and  $\overline{X}(t)$  be the solutions of (46) and (48) with initial conditions  $X(\tau) = X_{\tau}$ and  $\overline{X}(\tau) = \overline{X}_{\tau}$ , respectively. Since  $0 \leq X_{\tau} \leq \overline{X}_{\tau}$  implies  $0 \leq X(t) \leq \overline{X}(t)$ ,  $t \geq \tau \geq 0$ , and  $\mathcal{K}_t$  is normal, the asymptotic stability of system (48) ensures the asymptotic stability in  $\pm \mathcal{K}_t$  of any positive system (46). Moreover, if  $\mathcal{K}_t$  is reproducing, then any system (46) is Lyapunov asymptotically stable.  $\Box$ 

**Remark 6.1** Note that any system (46) is positive with respect to  $\mathcal{K}_t$  if the operator inequality  $\underline{A}(t) \geq \alpha(t)I$  holds for some scalar function  $\alpha(t)$  (see Corollary 6.1 and the notation below). This inequality ensures (49) subject to (7). Indeed,

$$e^{\underline{A}(\vartheta)\delta} = e^{\alpha(\vartheta)\delta} e^{[\underline{A}(\vartheta) - \alpha(\vartheta)I]\delta}, \quad e^{\underline{A}(\vartheta)\delta} \mathcal{K}_{\tau} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (\delta^k/k!) [\underline{A}(\vartheta) - \alpha(\vartheta)I]^k \, \mathcal{K}_{\tau} \subseteq \mathcal{K}_{\vartheta} \subseteq \mathcal{K}_t.$$

**Example 6.2** Consider the family of linear systems

$$\dot{x} = A(t)x, \quad \underline{A}(t) \trianglelefteq A(t) \trianglelefteq \overline{A}, \quad \overline{A}^{-1} \trianglelefteq 0, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \quad t \ge 0,$$
 (50)

where  $\underline{A}(t)$  is a matrix function with nonnegative off-diagonal entries,  $-\overline{A}$  is an *M*-matrix and  $\leq$  denotes the elementwise matrix inequality. The system  $\dot{x} = \underline{A}(t)x$  is positive with respect to the cone  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$ , and the system  $\dot{x} = \overline{A}x$  is asymptotically stable. Thus, any system (50) is asymptotically stable and positive with respect to  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$ .

**Example 6.3** Consider the family of linear systems in a matrix space  $\mathbb{C}^{n \times n}$ 

$$\dot{X} = M(t)X, \quad \underline{M}(t) \leq M(t) \leq \overline{M}(t), \quad X \in \mathbb{C}^{n \times n}, \quad t \geq 0,$$
(51)

where  $\underline{M}(t)X = A^*(t)X + XA(t)$ ,  $\overline{M}(t)X = A^*(t)X + XA(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{s} B^*(t)XB(t)$ ,

 $\leq$  is an operator inequality generated by the cone of Hermitian positive semidefinite matrices  $\mathbb{K}_n$ . Since  $e^{\underline{M}(\vartheta)\delta}X = e^{A^*(\vartheta)\delta}Xe^{A(\vartheta)\delta}$ , the Lyapunov equation

$$\dot{X} = A^*(t)X + XA(t)$$

and any system (51) are positive with respect to  $\mathbb{K}_n$ . If the system

$$\dot{X} = A^*(t)X + XA(t) + \sum_{i=1}^s B^*(t)XB(t)$$
(52)

is asymptotically stable, then any system (51) is positive and asymptotically stable. Autonomous system of the type (52) is asymptotically stable, if the linear matrix inequality

$$A^*X + XA + \sum_{i=1}^s B^*XB < 0$$

has a solution  $X = X^* > 0$ .

Note that the matrix differential equation (52) is known as the second-moment equation for the Itô stochastic system. This equation is positive and monotone with respect to  $\mathbb{K}_n$ .

#### References

- Krasnoselskii, M. A., Lifshits, E. A. and Sobolev, A. V. Positive Linear Systems. Nauka, Moscow, 1985. [Russian]
- [2] Clement, Ph., Heijmans, H., Angenent, S., C. van Duijn, B. de Pagter, One-parameter semigroups. North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1987.
- [3] Hirsch, M. W. and Smith, H. Competitive and cooperative systems: mini-review. Positive systems. Lect. Notes Control Inform. Sci. 294 (2003) 183–190.
- [4] Kalauch, A. On positive-off-diagonal operators on ordered normed spaces. J. of Analysis and its Appl. 22 (2003) 229–238.
- [5] Damm, T. and Hinrichsen, D. Newton's method for concave operators with resolvent positive derivatives in ordered Banach spaces. *Linear Algebra and its Appl.* 363 (2003) 43–64.
- [6] Herzog, G. and Lemmert, R. One-sided estimates for quasimonotone increasing functions. Bull. Austral. Math. Soc. 67 (3) (2003) 383-392.
- Mazko, A. G. Matrix Equations, Spectral Problems and Stability of Dynamic Systems. An international book series "Stability, Oscillations and Optimization of Systems" (Eds.: A. A. Martynyuk, P. Borne and C. Cruz-Hernandez), Vol. 2, Cambridge Scientific Publishers Ltd, Cambridge, 2008.
- [8] Mazko, A. G. Cone inequalities and stability of differential systems. Ukr. Math. Journ. 60 (2008) (8) 1237–1253.
- [9] Lakshmikantham, V., Leela, S. and Martynyuk, A. A. Stability of Motion: Method of Comparison. Naukova Dumka, Kiev, 1991. [Russian]
- [10] Martynyuk, A. A. and Obolenskii, A. Yu. On stability of solutions of autonomous Wazewski systems. Diff. Uravn. 16 (8) (1980) 1392–1407. [Russian]
- [11] Martynyuk, A. A. Stability in the Models of Real World Phenomena. Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory 11 (1) (2011) 7–52.
- [12] Mazko, A. G. On stability of equilibrium states of generalized class of monotone difference systems. In: Analytical Mechanics and its Applications. (Ed.: V. V. Novits'kyi). Zb. Pr. Inst. Mat. Nats. Akad. Nauk Ukr. 5 (2) (2008) 245–259. [Russian]
- [13] Krasnoselskii, M. A. Positive Solutions of Operator Equations. Fizmatgiz, Moscow, 1962.
   [Russian]
- [14] Mazko, A. G. Positive and monotone systems in a partially ordered space. Ukr. Math. Journ.55 (2003) (2) 199-211.
- [15] Aliluiko, A. M. and Mazko, O. H. Invariant cones and stability of linear dynamical systems. Ukr. Math. Journ. 58 (11) (2006) 1635–1655.
- [16] Daletskii, Yu. L. and Krein, M. G. Stability of solutions of differential equations in Banach space. Moscow, Nauka, 1970. [Russian]

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory, 11 (3) (2011) 319-336



# Periodic and Subharmonic Solutions for a Class of Noncoercive Superquadratic Hamiltonian Systems

M. Timoumi\*

Dpt of Mathematics. Faculty of Sciences. 5000 Monastir. Tunisia

Received: September 15, 2010; Revised: July 18, 2011

**Abstract:** Some existence theorems are obtained for periodic and subharmonic solutions to noncoercive first order Hamiltonian systems and to similar second order Hamiltonian systems, when the Hamiltonian satisfies a superquadratic condition and need not satisfy the global Ambrosetti–Rabinowitz condition. For the resolution, we use minimax methods in critical point theory, especially a Local Linking Theorem and a Generalized Mountain Pass Theorem.

Keywords: Hamiltonian systems; periodic solutions; subharmonics; critical points.

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 34C25, 34A34, 37J45, 35Q40.

## 1 Introduction

Consider the nonautonomous first order Hamiltonian systems

$$J\dot{x} - u^*A(t)u(x) + u^*G'(t, u(x)) = 0, \qquad (1.1)$$

where  $u : \mathbb{R}^{2N} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^m$   $(1 \le m \le 2N)$  is a linear operator, A is a continuous T-periodic function (T > 0) from  $\mathbb{R}$  into the space of symmetric  $(m \times m)$ -matrices,  $G : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^m \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  is a continuous function, T- periodic in the first variable, differentiable with respect to the second variable and its derivative  $G'(t, x) = \frac{\partial G}{\partial x}(t, x)$  is continuous, and J is the standard symplectic matrix:

$$J = \left(\begin{array}{cc} 0 & -I \\ I & 0 \end{array}\right).$$

When A(t) = 0 for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , m = 2N and  $u = id_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}}$ , Rabinowitz has proved in [7] the existence of periodic solutions for (1.1) under some suitable conditions, in particular the following superquadratic condition:

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author: mailto:m\_timoumi@yahoo.com

<sup>© 2011</sup> InforMath Publishing Group/1562-8353 (print)/1813-7385 (online)/http://e-ndst.kiev.ua 319

#### M. TIMOUMI

There exist two constants  $\mu > 2$  and r > 0 such that for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $x \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ ,  $|x| \ge r$ 

$$0 < \mu G(t, x) \le G'(t, x) x, \tag{1.2}$$

where x.y denotes the standard inner product of x, y in  $\mathbb{R}^{2N}$  and |.| denotes the corresponding norm. Since then, condition (1.2) has been used extensively in the literature, see [2–7,9,10]. If m = 2N,  $u = id_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}}$  and G satisfies the superquadratic condition (1.2), the existence of nontrivial periodic solutions for the Hamiltonian systems (1.1), was studied by Li-Szulkin in [3] when A is a constant symmetric  $(2N \times 2N)$  matrix, and by Li-Willem when A(t) is a continuous periodic map from  $\mathbb{R}$  into the space of symmetric  $(2N \times 2N)$  matrices, not necessary constant. In [10], the author has studied the same problem as in [4] in the general case when u is not necessary the identity.

By remarking that the condition (1.2) does not cover some superquadratic nonlinearity like

$$G(t,y) = |y|^{2} \left[ ln(1+|x|^{p}) \right]^{q}, \ p,q > 1,$$
(1.3)

the author has studied, recently in [11], the existence of nontrivial periodic solution for (1.1) when the function G satisfies some superquadratic conditions which cover the cases as in (1.3). In particular, the author has assumed that the function G satisfies the two following assumptions:

there exist constants  $1 < \alpha < 2$  and a > 0 such that

$$|G'(t,y)| \le a(|y|^{\alpha} + 1), \ \forall (t,y) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^m;$$

$$(1.4)$$

there exist constants  $\beta > \frac{1}{2-\alpha}$ , b > 0 and r > 0 such that

$$G'(t,y).y - 2G(t,y) \ge b |y|^{\beta}, \ \forall t \in \mathbb{R}, \ \forall |y| \ge r.$$

$$(1.5)$$

Consider the function G defined in  $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^m$  by

$$G(t,y) = \left|\cos(\frac{2\pi}{T}t)\right| |y|^{\alpha+1} + |y|^2 \ln(1+|y|^2),$$
(1.6)

where  $\frac{3}{2} < \alpha < 2$ . A simple computation shows that G neither satisfies the condition (1.2), nor (1.5). In section 3, we will extend the ranges of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  and obtain the existence of nontrivial T- periodic solutions of (1.1) under some superquadratic conditions covering the cases as in (1.6). For the resolution, we shall use a Local Linking Theorem.

The existence of subharmonic solutions for (1.1), i.e. of distinct kT-periodic solutions of (1.1), has been investigated in [2,6,9] when A(t) = 0 for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , m = 2N,  $u = id_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}}$ and G satisfies the condition (1.2). In section 4, we are interested in the existence of infinitely many subharmonic solutions of the Hamiltonian systems (1.1) when A(t) = 0 for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , u is not necessary the identity and the function G satisfies some superquadratic conditions covering the cases as in (1.6). The main obstacle in obtaining such solutions is the fact that any T-periodic solution is also kT-periodic. For the resolution, we shall use the minimax methods in critical point theory, specially, a Generalized Mountain Pass Theorem.

## 2 Preliminaries

We will recall here some basic results needed in the proof of our next results.

## 2.1 Linking theorem [4]

Let X be a real Banach space with a direct sum decomposition

$$X = X^1 \oplus X^2.$$

Consider two sequences of subspaces

$$X_0^1 \subset X_1^1 \subset \dots \subset X^1, \ X_0^2 \subset X_1^2 \subset \dots \subset X^2$$

such that

$$X^j = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} X_n^j, \ j = 1, 2.$$

For every multi-index  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2) \in \mathbb{N}^2$ , we denote by  $X_{\alpha}$  the space

$$X_{\alpha_1}^1 \oplus X_{\alpha_2}^2.$$

Let us recall that

$$\alpha \leq \beta \Leftrightarrow \alpha_1 \leq \beta_1, \alpha_2 \leq \beta_2.$$

A sequence  $(\alpha_n) \subset \mathbb{N}^2$  is admissible if, for every  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^2$ , there exists  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  such that

$$n \ge m \Rightarrow \alpha_n \ge \alpha.$$

For every function  $f: X \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ , we denote by  $f_{\alpha}$  the function f restricted to the space  $X_{\alpha}$ .

**Definition 2.1** Let  $f \in C^1(X, \mathbb{R})$ . The function f satisfies the  $(PS)^*$  condition if every sequence  $(x_{\alpha_n})$  such that  $(\alpha_n)$  is admissible and

$$x_{\alpha_n} \in X_{\alpha_n}, \ \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} f(x_{\alpha_n}) < \infty, \ f'_{\alpha_n}(x_{\alpha_n}) \longrightarrow 0,$$

possesses a subsequence which converges to a critical point of f.

**Definition 2.2** The function  $f \in C^1(X, \mathbb{R})$  has a local linking at 0, with respect to  $(X^1, X^2)$  if, for some r > 0,

$$f(x) \ge 0, \ x \in X^1, \ ||x|| \le r,$$
  
 $f(x) \le 0, \ x \in X^2, \ ||x|| \le r.$ 

**Remark 2.1** If f has a local linking at 0, then 0 is a critical point of f.

**Theorem 2.1** Suppose that  $f \in C^1(X, \mathbb{R})$  satisfies the following assumptions a) f has a local linking at 0 and  $X^1 \neq \{0\}$ ,

- b) f satisfies the  $(PS)^*$  condition,
- c) f maps bounded sets into bounded sets,

d) for every  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $f(x) \longrightarrow -\infty$  as  $||x|| \longrightarrow +\infty$ ,  $x \in X_m^1 \oplus X^2$ .

Then f has at least two critical points.

M. TIMOUMI

## 2.2 Generalized Mountain Pass Theorem

Let X be a real Banach space. We shall say that  $f \in C^1(X, \mathbb{R})$  satisfies the Ceramicondition (C) if every sequence  $(x_n)$  in X satisfying

$$(f(x_n))$$
 is bounded and  $||f'(x_n)|| (1 + ||x_n||) \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$ 

possesses a convergent subsequence.

As shown in [1], a deformation lemma can be proved with the weaker condition (C) replacing the used (PS) condition, and it turns out that the Generalized Mountain Pass Theorem holds true under condition (C). We then have:

**Theorem 2.2** Let X be a real Hilbert space with inner product  $\langle .,. \rangle$ . Suppose  $X = X^1 \oplus X^2$  and  $f \in C^1(X, \mathbb{R})$  satisfies the Cerami-condition (C) and the following conditions:

a)  $f(x) = \frac{1}{2} < P^+x - P^-x, x > +b(x)$ , where  $P^+ : E \longrightarrow E^+$  and  $P^- : E \longrightarrow E^-$  are the orthogonal projections and b' is compact,

b) there exist constants  $m, \rho > 0$ , such that

$$f(x) \ge m, \ \forall x \in \partial B_{\rho} \cap X^1,$$

c) there exist  $e \in \partial B_1 \cap X^1$  and constants  $r_1, r_2 > 0$  such that

$$f(x) \le 0, \ \forall x \in \partial Q,$$

where

$$Q = \{se/0 \le s \le r_1\} \oplus \{x \in X^2 / ||x|| \le r_2\}.$$

Then f possesses a critical value  $c \ge m$  which can be characterized as

$$c = \inf_{h \in \Gamma} \max_{x \in Q} f(h(x)),$$

where

$$\Gamma = \left\{ h \in C(\overline{Q}, E) / h = id \text{ on } \partial Q \right\}.$$

## 3 Existence of Periodic Solutions

Let  $u: \mathbb{R}^{2N} \to \mathbb{R}^m$   $(1 \le m \le 2N)$  be a nontrivial linear operator with adjoint  $u^*$ , A be a continuous T-periodic function (T > 0) from  $\mathbb{R}$  into the space of symmetric  $(m \times m)$ matrices and  $G: \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}, (t, y) \to G(t, y)$  be a continuous function, T- periodic in the first variable, differentiable with respect to the second variable and its derivative  $G'(t, y) = \frac{\partial G}{\partial y}(t, y)$  is continuous. Consider the noncoercive Hamiltonian systems

(HS) 
$$J\dot{x} - u^*A(t)u(x) + u^*G'(t, u(x)) = 0.$$

We are interested in the existence of nontrivial T-periodic solutions for (HS). Consider the following assumptions

(G<sub>1</sub>) 
$$G(t,y) = o(|y|^2) \text{ as } |y| \to 0, \text{ uniformly in } t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

(G<sub>2</sub>) 
$$\lim_{|y|\to\infty}\frac{G(t,y)}{|y|^2} = +\infty, \text{ uniformly in } t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

 $(G_3)$  There exist constants  $\alpha > 1$  and a > 0 such that

$$|G'(t,y)| \le a(|y|^{\alpha} + 1), \ \forall \ t \in \mathbb{R}, \ \forall y \in \mathbb{R}^m.$$

 $(G_4)$  There exist constants  $\beta > \alpha$ , b > 0 and r > 0 such that

 $G'(t,y).y - 2G(t,y) \ge b \left|y\right|^{\beta}, \ \forall \ t \in \mathbb{R}, \ \forall \left|y\right| \ge r.$ 

 $(G_5)$  There exists a constant  $\delta > 0$  such that either

(i)  $G(t,y) \ge 0, \ \forall t \in \mathbb{R}, \ \forall |y| \le \delta,$ 

or

 $G(t, y) \leq 0, \ \forall t \in \mathbb{R}, \ \forall |y| \leq \delta.$ 

Our first main result in this section is the following:

**Theorem 3.1** Assume conditions  $(G_0) - (G_4)$  hold. If 0 is an eigenvalue of  $J\frac{d}{dt} - u^*Au$ , assume also  $(G_5)$ . Then the system (HS) possesses at least one nontrivial T-periodic solution.

**Example 3.1** Let p, q > 1 be two real numbers. The function

$$G(t, y) = |y|^{2} \left[ ln(1 + |x|^{p}) \right]^{q}$$

satisfies  $(G_1) - (G_5)$ . The linear map  $u : \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}^N \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^N$  defined by u(p,q) = p satisfies  $(G_0)$ . Let  $A(t) = Id_N$ . Therefore for all T > 0, the corresponding Hamiltonian system (HS) possesses at least a nontrivial T-periodic solution.

**Remark 3.1** Observe that if x is a periodic solution of (HS) then y(t) = x(-t) is a periodic solution of

$$J\dot{y}(t) + u^*A(-t)u(y) - u^*G'(-t, u(y)) = 0.$$

Hence, it is easy to see that we obtain the same result of Theorem 3.1 if we replace assumptions  $(G_2)$  and  $(G_4)$  respectively by the following ones

$$\lim_{|y|\to\infty}\frac{G(t,y)}{|y|^2} = -\infty, \text{ uniformly in } t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

There exist constants  $\beta > \alpha$ , b > 0 and r > 0 such that

$$G'(t,y).y - 2G(t,y) \le -b |y|^{\beta}, \ \forall \ t \in \mathbb{R}, \ \forall |y| \ge r.$$

#### M. TIMOUMI

Now consider the noncoercive second order Hamiltonian systems

(NS) 
$$\ddot{x} - u^* A(t)u(x) + u^* W'(t, u(x)) = 0$$

where  $u : \mathbb{R}^N \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^m$ ,  $(1 \le m \le N)$  is a linear operator with adjoint  $u^*$ , A(t) is a symmetric  $m \times m$  matrix, continuous and T-periodic,  $W : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^m \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  is a continuous function T-periodic in the first variable and continuously differentiable with respect to the second variable. Consider the following assumptions:

(W<sub>1</sub>) 
$$W(t,y) = o(|y|^2) \text{ as } |y| \to 0, \text{ uniformly in } t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

(W<sub>2</sub>) 
$$\lim_{|y|\to\infty}\frac{W(t,y)}{|y|^2} = +\infty, \ uniformly \ in \ t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

 $(W_3)$  There exist constants  $\alpha > 1$  and a > 0 such that

$$|W'(t,y)| \le a(|y|^{\alpha} + 1), \ \forall \ t \in \mathbb{R}, \ \forall y \in \mathbb{R}^m.$$

 $(W_4)$  There exist constants  $\beta > \alpha$ , b > 0 and r > 0 such that

$$W'(t,y).y - 2W(t,y) \ge b |y|^{\beta}, \ \forall t \in \mathbb{R}, \ \forall |y| \ge r.$$

 $(W_5)$  There exists a constant  $\delta > 0$  such that either

(i) 
$$W(t,y) \ge 0, \ \forall t \in \mathbb{R}, \ \forall |y| \le \delta,$$

or

(*ii*) 
$$W(t, y) \le 0, \ \forall t \in \mathbb{R}, \ \forall |y| \le \delta.$$

Our second main result in this section is the following:

**Theorem 3.2** Assume conditions  $(W_1) - (W_4)$  hold. If 0 is an eigenvalue of  $J\frac{d^2}{dt^2} - u^*Au$ , assume also  $(W_5)$ . Then the system (NS) possesses at least one non-trivial T-periodic solution.

## 3.1 Proof of Theorem 3.1

Let  $S^1 = \mathbb{R}/T\mathbb{Z}$  and  $E = H^{\frac{1}{2}}(S^1, \mathbb{R}^{2N})$  be the Sobolev space of T-periodic functions with inner product  $< ., . >_{H^{1/2}}$  and norm  $\|.\|_{H^{\frac{1}{2}}}$  defined by

$$< x, y >_{H^{\frac{1}{2}}} = \hat{x}_0 \cdot \hat{y}_0 + \pi \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} |k| \, \hat{x}_k \cdot \hat{y}_k$$

and

$$||x||_{H^{\frac{1}{2}}} = \left( |\hat{x}_0|^2 + \pi \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} |k| \, |\hat{x}_k|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

for  $x, y \in H^{\frac{1}{2}}(S^1, \mathbb{R}^{2N})$ , where

$$x(t) \cong \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} exp(J\frac{2k\pi t}{T})\hat{x}_k, \ \hat{x}_k \in \mathbb{R}^{2N},$$

and

$$y(t) \cong \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} exp(J\frac{2k\pi t}{T})\hat{y}_k, \ \hat{y}_k \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}.$$

Consider the closed subspace of  $H^{1/2}(S^1, \mathbb{R}^{2N})$ 

$$X = \left\{ x \in H^{\frac{1}{2}}(S^1, \mathbb{R}^{2N}) / x(t) \in (Ker \, u)^{\perp} \, a.e. \right\}.$$

It is well known that the space X is compactly embedded in  $L^s(S^1, \mathbb{R}^{2N})$  for every  $s \in [1, \infty[$  (see [5]) and as a consequence there exists a constant  $\gamma_s > 0$  such that

$$\|x\|_{L^{s}} \le \gamma_{s} \|x\|_{H^{\frac{1}{2}}}, \ \forall x \in X.$$
(3.1)

Define on X the bilinear form

$$B(x,y) = -\frac{1}{2} \int_0^T [J\dot{x}.y - A(t)u(x).u(y)]dt.$$

Let  $X^+$  (resp.  $X^-$ ) be the positive (resp. negative) space corresponding to the spectral decomposition of B in X and  $X^0 = \ker B$ . Then  $X = X^+ \oplus X^- \oplus X^0$ . In fact it is not difficult to check that  $X^+$ ,  $X^-$  and  $X^0$  are mutually orthogonal in  $L^2(S^1, \mathbb{R}^{2N})$ . Denote Q the quadratic form associated to B:

$$Q(x) = -\frac{1}{2} \int_0^T [J\dot{x}.x - A(t)u(x).u(x)]dt.$$

We prove (see [11]) that there exists a constant  $\nu > 0$  such that

$$Q(x) \ge \nu ||x||^2, \ \forall x \in X^+,$$
 (3.2)

$$Q(x) \le -\nu \|x\|^2, \ \forall x \in X^-.$$
 (3.3)

Now, since  $X^0$  is of finite dimension, there exists a constant  $a_1 > 0$  such that

$$\|x\|_{H^{\frac{1}{2}}} \le a_1 \, \|x\|_{L^2} \,, \forall x \in X^0.$$
(3.4)

We deduce from (3.2), (3.3) and (3.4) that the following expression

$$\|x\|^{2} = \|x^{+} + x^{-} + x^{0}\|^{2} = Q(x^{+}) - Q(x^{-}) + |x^{0}|^{2}_{L^{2}}$$
(3.5)

where  $x^i \in X^i$ , i = +, -, 0, is an equivalent norm on X, which will be considered in the following. Therefore we deduce from (3.1) that for all  $s \in [1, \infty[$ , there exists a constant  $\mu_s > 0$  such that

$$\|x\|_{L^{s}} \le \mu_{s} \, \|x\| \,, \, \forall x \in X.$$
(3.6)

If zero is not an eigenvalue of  $J\frac{d}{dt} - u^*Au$ , we take

$$X^1 = X^+, \ X^2 = X^-.$$

If zero is an eigenvalue of  $J\frac{d}{dt} - u^*Au$ , we take

$$X^1 = X^+ \oplus X^0, \ X^2 = X^-, \ if \ G(t,y) \le 0 \ for \ |y| \le \delta,$$

M. TIMOUMI

$$X^1 = X^+, \ X^2 = X^- \oplus X^0, \ if \ G(t,y) \ge 0 \ for \ |y| \le \delta.$$

In the following, we will assume that zero is an eigenvalue of  $J \frac{d}{dt} - u^* A u$  and

$$G(t,y) \le 0, \text{ for } |y| \le \delta.$$
(3.7)

The other cases are similar.

Define a functional f in X by

$$f(x) = -\frac{1}{2} \int_0^T [J\dot{x}.x - A(t)u(x).u(x)]dt - \int_0^T G(t, u(x))dt.$$

It is easy to see that there exist two constants m, M > 0 such that

$$m|x| \le |u(x)| \le M|x|, \ \forall x \in (Ker \, u)^{\perp}.$$
(3.8)

Combine this with  $(G_3)(ii)$ , there are two constants c, d > 0 such that

$$|u^*G'(t,u(x))| \le c|x|^\beta + d, \ \forall t \in \mathbb{R}, \forall x \in (Ker\,u)^\perp.$$
(3.9)

Therefore, we conclude that  $f \in C^1(X, \mathbb{R})$  and maps bounded sets into bounded sets. Now, let us choose Hilbertian basis  $(e_n)_{n \in \geq 1}$  for  $X^1$  and  $(e_n)_{n \leq -1}$  for  $X^2$ . Define

$$X_{n}^{1} = space(e_{1}, ..., e_{n}), \ n \ge 1$$
$$X_{n}^{2} = space(e_{-1}, ..., e_{-n}), \ n \ge 1$$
$$X^{j} = \overline{\bigcup_{n \ge 1} X_{n}^{j}}, \ j = 1, 2.$$

We will proceed by successive lemmas.

**Lemma 3.1** The functional f satisfies the  $(PS)^*$  condition.

**Proof** Consider a sequence  $(x_{\alpha_n})$  such that  $(\alpha_n)$  is admissible and

$$x_{\alpha_{n}} \in X_{\alpha_{n}}, \ c = \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} f(x_{\alpha_{n}}) < \infty, \ f_{\alpha_{n}}'(x_{\alpha_{n}}) \to 0 \ as \ n \to \infty.$$
(3.10)

We claim that  $(x_{\alpha_n})$  is bounded. Suppose by contradiction that  $(x_{\alpha_n})$  is not bounded, then going, if necessary, to a subsequence, we can assume that  $||x_{\alpha_n}|| \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$ . By  $(G_4)$  and (3.8) there exists a constant  $c_1 > 0$  such that for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  and for all  $x \in (Ker u)^{\perp}$ 

$$G'(t, u(x)).u(x) - 2G(t, u(x)) \ge b |x|^{\beta} - c_1.$$
(3.11)

Therefore, by noting  $x_{\alpha_n} = x_n$  and  $f_{\alpha_n} = f_n$ , we have

$$-f'_{n}(x_{n}).x_{n} + 2f(x_{n}) = \int_{0}^{T} [G'(t, u(x_{n})).u(x_{n}) - 2G(t, u(x_{n}))]dt$$
$$\geq b \int_{0}^{T} |x_{n}|^{\beta} - c_{1}T.$$
Combining this with (3.6), we obtain

$$\frac{\int_0^T |x_n|^\beta dt}{\|x_n\|} \longrightarrow 0, \text{ as } n \longrightarrow \infty.$$
(3.12)

Let  $x_n = x_n^+ + x_n^- + x_n^0 \in X^+ \oplus X^- \oplus X^0$ . By  $(G_3)$ , Hölder's inequality, (3.6) and (3.8), we have

$$f'_{n}(x_{n}).x_{n}^{+} = \left\|x_{n}^{+}\right\|^{2} - \int_{0}^{T} G'(t, u(x_{n})).u(x_{n}^{+})dt$$

$$\geq \left\|x_{n}^{+}\right\|^{2} - \int_{0}^{T} |G'(t, u(x_{n}))| \left|u(x_{n}^{+})\right| dt$$

$$\geq \left\|x_{n}^{+}\right\|^{2} - a \int_{0}^{T} (|u(x_{n})|^{\alpha} + 1) \left|u(x_{n}^{+})\right| dt$$

$$\geq \left\|x_{n}^{+}\right\|^{2} - a \int_{0}^{T} (M^{\alpha} \left|x_{n}\right|^{\alpha} + 1)M \left|x_{n}^{+}\right| dt$$

$$\geq \left\|x_{n}^{+}\right\|^{2} - aM^{\alpha+1} [\int_{0}^{T} (|x_{n}|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{\alpha}} dt]^{\frac{\alpha}{\beta}} [\int_{0}^{T} \left|x_{n}^{+}\right|^{\frac{\beta-\alpha}{\beta-\alpha}} dt]^{\frac{\beta-\alpha}{\beta}} - aM \left\|x_{n}^{+}\right\|_{L^{1}}$$

$$\geq \left\|x_{n}^{+}\right\|^{2} - aM^{\alpha+1} \mu_{\beta\beta-\alpha} \left\|x_{n}^{+}\right\|_{L^{\beta}}^{\alpha} \left\|x_{n}^{+}\right\| - aM\mu_{1} \left\|x_{n}^{+}\right\|$$

for all integer  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , which implies that

$$\|x_n^+\| \le \|f_n'(x_n)\| + c_2 \|x_n\|_{L^{\beta}}^{\alpha} + c_3, \ \forall n \in \mathbb{N},$$
(3.13)

where  $c_2, c_3$  are two constants. Since  $1 < \alpha < \beta$ , we deduce from (3.12) and (3.13) that

$$\frac{\|x_n^+\|}{\|x_n\|} \longrightarrow 0, \ as \ n \longrightarrow \infty.$$
(3.14)

Similarly

$$\frac{\|x_n^-\|}{\|x_n\|} \longrightarrow 0, \ as \ n \longrightarrow \infty.$$
(3.15)

By  $(G_4)$  and (3.8), there exist two constants  $c_4$ ,  $c_5 > 0$  such that

$$G'(t, u(y)).u(y) - 2G(t, u(y)) \ge c_4 |y| - c_5, \ \forall (t, y) \in \mathbb{R} \times (Ker \, u)^{\perp},$$
(3.16)

which implies

$$2f(x_n) - f'_n(x_n) \cdot x_n = \int_0^T [G'(t, u(x_n)) \cdot u(x_n) - 2G(t, u(x_n))]dt$$
  

$$\geq \int_0^T [c_4 |x_n| - c_5]dt$$
  

$$\geq \int_0^T [c_4 |x_n^0| - c_4 |x_n^+| - c_4 |x_n^-| - c_5]dt.$$
(3.17)

Moreover, it follows from the equivalence of the norms on the finite dimensional subspace  $X^0$  that there exists a positive constant d such that

$$\|x\| \le d \,\|x\|_{L^1}, \,\,\forall x \in X^0.$$
(3.18)

Combining (3.6), (3.17) and (3.18) we obtain

$$2f(x_n) - f'_n(x_n) \cdot x_n \ge c_4 \frac{1}{d} \|x_n^0\| - c_4 \mu_1 \|x_n^+\| - c_4 \mu_1 \|x_n^-\| - c_5 T.$$
(3.19)

Therefore, by (3.14), (3.15) and (3.19), we have

$$\frac{\|x_n^0\|}{\|x_n\|} \longrightarrow 0 \text{ as } n \longrightarrow \infty.$$
(3.20)

We deduce from (3.14), (3.15) and (3.20) that

$$1 = \frac{\|x_n\|}{\|x_n\|} \le \frac{\|x_n^0\| + \|x_n^-\| + \|x_n^+\|}{\|x_n\|} \longrightarrow 0 \text{ as } n \longrightarrow \infty,$$
(3.21)

which is a contradiction. So  $(x_n)$  must be bounded. Since the space X is closed in the reflexive space  $H^{\frac{1}{2}}(S^1, \mathbb{R}^{2N})$ , then X is also reflexive and the sequence  $(x_n)$  possesses a subsequence  $(x_{n_k})$  weakly convergent to a point x. Note that

$$Q(x_{n_k}^+ - x^+) = (f'_{n_k}(x_{n_k}) - f'(x)).(x_{n_k}^+ - x^+)$$

$$+ \int_0^T [G'(t, u(x_{n_k})) - G'(t, u(x))].[u(x_{n_k}^+) - u(x^+)]dt$$
(3.22)

which implies that  $x_{n_k}^+ \longrightarrow x^+$  in X. Similarly,  $x_{n_k}^- \longrightarrow x$  in X. It follows that  $x_{n_k} \longrightarrow x$  in X and f'(x) = 0. So f satisfies the  $(PS)^*$  condition. The proof of Lemma 3.1 is complete.

Lemma 3.2 The functional f satisfies the local linking condition at zero.

**Proof** By assumption  $(G_3)$  and (3.8), there exists a constant  $b_1 > 0$  such that

$$|G(t, u(x))| \le b_1(|x|^{\alpha+1} + |x|), \ \forall t \in \mathbb{R}, \ \forall x \in (Ker \, u)^{\perp}.$$
(3.23)

Assumption (G<sub>1</sub>) and (3.8) imply that for any  $\epsilon > 0$ , there exists a constant R > 0 such that

$$|G(t, u(x))| \le \epsilon |x|^2, \ \forall t \in \mathbb{R}, \ \forall |x| \le R.$$
(3.24)

Combining (3.23) with (3.24), we obtain

$$|G(t, u(x))| \le (\epsilon |x|^2 + M_1 |x|^{\alpha + 1}), \ \forall t \in \mathbb{R}, \ \forall x \in (Keru)^{\perp}$$
(3.25)

where  $M_1 = b_1(1 + R^{\alpha})$ . Hence we obtain by (3.6)

$$\left| \int_{0}^{T} G(t, u(x)) dt \right| \leq \epsilon \mu_{2}^{2} \left\| x \right\|^{2} + M_{1} \mu_{\alpha+1}^{\alpha+1} \left\| x \right\|^{\alpha+1}.$$
(3.26)

So for all  $x \in X^2 = X^-$ 

$$f(x) \le - \|x\|^2 + \epsilon \mu_2^2 \|x\|^2 + M_1 \mu_{\alpha+1}^{\alpha+1} \|x\|^{\alpha+1} .$$
(3.27)

Since  $\alpha>1$  and  $\epsilon$  is arbitrary, we deduce that there exists a constant r>0 small enough such that

$$f(x) \le 0, \ \forall x \in X^2, \ \|x\| \le r.$$
 (3.28)

Now, let  $\eta > 0$  be such that

$$\forall x \in (Ker \, u)^{\perp}, \ |x| \le \eta \Rightarrow |u(x)| \le \delta \tag{3.29},$$

where  $\delta$  is introduced in  $(G_5)$ . Since  $X^0$  is a finite dimensional space, there exists a constant  $\rho > 0$  such that

$$||x||_{\infty} \le \rho ||x||, \ \forall x \in X^0.$$
 (3.30)

Let  $x = x^0 + x^+ \in X^1 = X^0 \oplus X^+$  such that  $||x|| \leq \frac{\eta}{2\rho}$  and set

$$I = \left\{ t \in [0, T] / \left| x^+(t) \right| \le \frac{\eta}{2} \right\}.$$

On I, we have by (3.30)

$$|x(t)| \le |x^{0}(t)| + |x^{+}(t)| \le ||x^{0}||_{\infty} + \frac{\eta}{2} \le \eta,$$

hence, by (3.7) and (3.29)

$$\int_{0}^{T} G(t, u(x))dt \le 0.$$
(3.31)

On  $[0,T] \mid I$ , we have also by (3.30)

$$|x(t)| \le |x^{0}(t)| + |x^{+}(t)| \le \rho ||x^{0}|| + |x^{+}(t)| \le \frac{\eta}{2} + |x^{+}(t)| \le 2 |x^{+}(t)|.$$

Hence, by (3.6) and (3.25), we obtain

$$\left| \int_{[0,T]|I} G(t, u(x)) dt \right| \le 4\epsilon \mu_2^2 \left\| x^+ \right\|^2 + 2^{\alpha+1} M_1 \mu_{\alpha+1}^{\alpha+1} \left\| x^+ \right\|^{\alpha+1}.$$

Therefore, we have

$$f(x) \ge \left\|x^{+}\right\|^{2} - 4\epsilon\mu_{2}^{2}\left\|x^{+}\right\|^{2} - 2^{\alpha+1}M_{1}\mu_{\alpha+1}^{\alpha+1}\left\|x^{+}\right\|^{\alpha+1} - \int_{I} G(t, u(x))dt.$$
(3.32)

Since  $\alpha > 1$ , we deduce from (3.31) and (3.32), by taking  $\epsilon$  small enough, that there exists a constant  $0 < r < \frac{\eta}{2\rho}$  such that

$$f(x) \ge 0, \ \forall \ x \in X^1, \ \|x\| \le r.$$
 (3.33)

Properties (3.28) and (3.33) show that f satisfies the local linking condition at zero which completes the proof of Lemma 3.2.

**Lemma 3.3** For each  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $f(x) \longrightarrow -\infty$  as  $||x|| \longrightarrow \infty$ ,  $x \in X_m^1 \oplus X^2$ .

**Proof** For  $x = x^+ + x^0 + x^- \in X_m^1 \oplus X^2$ , we have

$$f(x) = \left\|x^{+}\right\|^{2} - \left\|x^{-}\right\|^{2} - \int_{0}^{T} G(t, u(x^{+} + x^{0} + x^{-}))dt.$$
(3.34)

Since  $X_m^1$  is of finite dimension, there exists a positive constant  $\gamma_1$  such that

$$\left\|x^{+} + x^{0}\right\| \leq \gamma_{1} \left\|x^{+} + x^{0}\right\|_{L^{2}}, \ \forall x = x^{+} + x^{0} \in X_{m}^{1}.$$
(3.35)

On the other hand, by assumption  $(G_2)(i)$  and (3.8), there exists a constant  $c_6 > 0$  such that

$$-G(t, u(x)) \le -2\gamma_1 |x|^2 + c_6, \ \forall \ x \in (Ker \ u)^{\perp}.$$
(3.36)

Combining (3.34), (3.35) and (3.36), we obtain for  $x = x^+ + x^0 + x^- \in X_m^1 \oplus X^2$ 

$$f(x) \le \|x^+\|^2 - \|x^-\|^2 - 2\gamma_1[\|x^+\|_{L^2}^2 + \|x^-\|_{L^2}^2 + \|x^0\|_{L^2}^2] + c_6T$$
$$\le -\|x^-\|^2 - \|x^+\|^2 - 2\|x^0\|^2 + c_6T$$

which concludes the proof of Lemma 3.3.

We deduce from the previous lemmas that the functional f satisfies all the assumptions of the Local Linking Theorem and hence the functional f possesses at least two distinct critical points on X. Therefore the Hamiltonian system (HS) has at least one non trivial T-periodic solution.

## 3.2 Proof of Theorem 3.2

We consider only the case when 0 is an eigenvalue of  $-\frac{d^2}{dt^2} + u^*Au$  and

$$W(t,y) \le 0, \ \forall t \in \mathbb{R}, \ \forall |y| \le \delta.$$
 (3.37)

The other cases are similar and simpler.

We shall apply the Local Linking Theorem to the functional

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^T [|\dot{x}|^2 + A(t)u(x).u(x)]dt - \int_0^T W(t,u(x))dt$$

defined on the following closed subspace X of  $H^1(S^1, \mathbb{R}^N)$ 

$$X=\{x\in H^1(S^1,\mathbb{R}^N)/x(t)\in (Ker\,u)^{\perp}a.e.\}$$

where  $H^1(S^1, \mathbb{R}^N)$  is the space of T- periodic absolutely continuous vector functions from  $S^1$  into  $\mathbb{R}^N$  whose first derivatives have square integrable norm. The inner product on  $H^1(S^1, \mathbb{R}^N)$  is given by

$$< u, v >_{H^1} = \int_0^T [u(t).v(t) + \dot{u}(t).\dot{v}(t)]dt.$$

The functional f is continuously differentiable on X and maps bounded sets into bounded sets. Moreover the critical points of f correspond to the T- periodic solutions of the system (NS) (see [9]).

Let  $X^+$  (resp.  $X^-$ ) be the positive (resp. negative) space corresponding to the spectral decomposition of  $-\frac{d^2}{dt^2} + u^*Au$  in X and  $X^0 = Ker(-\frac{d^2}{dt^2} + u^*Au)$ . Let  $X^2 = X^-$  and  $X^1 = X^0 \oplus X^+$  and choose a Hilbertian basis  $(e_n)_{n\geq 0}$  for  $X^1$ . Define

$$X_n^1 = span(e_0, e_1, ..., e_n), n \in \mathbb{N},$$
$$X_n^2 = X^2, n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

It is well known that  $X^0$ ,  $X^2$  are of finite dimensional.

As in the proof of Theorem 3.1, we prove by using assumptions  $(W_3)$ ,  $(W_4)$  that f

satisfies the  $(PS)^*$  condition and by using assumptions  $(W_1)$ ,  $(W_3)$  that f satisfies the local linking at zero. Assumption  $(W_2)$  implies that f satisfies assertion d) of the Local Linking Theorem. Consequently the functional f satisfies all the Local Linking Theorem assumptions and then it has at least two critical points. Therefore the system (NS) possesses a nontrivial T- periodic solution.

## 4 Subharmonic Solutions

Let  $u, u^*$  and G be defined as in Section 3, we are interested in the existence of infinitely many subharmonic solutions of the Hamiltonian systems

(HS) 
$$J\dot{x} + u^*G'(t, u(x)) = 0,$$

i.e. of distinct kT- periodic solutions of (HS). Let  $\alpha > 1$  be as in  $(G_3)$  and consider the following assumptions:  $(G'_4)$  There exist constants  $\beta > \alpha - 1$ , b > 0 and r > 0 such that

$$G'(t,y).y - 2G(t,y) \ge b |y|^{\beta}, \ \forall t \in \mathbb{R}, \ \forall \ |y| \ge r.$$

$$(G'_5) G(t,y) \ge 0, \ \forall (t,y) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^m.$$

Our main result in this section is

**Theorem 4.1** Assume  $(G_0) - (G_3)$ ,  $(G'_4)$  and  $(G'_5)$  hold. Then the Hamiltonian system (HS) possesses infinitely many subharmonic solutions.

**Example 4.1** Let  $\frac{3}{2} \le \alpha < 2$  be a real number. The function

$$G(t,y) = \left|\cos(\frac{2\pi}{T}t)\right| |y|^{\alpha+1} + |y|^2 \ln(1+|y|^2)$$

satisfies  $(G_1) - (G_3)$ ,  $(G'_4)$  and  $(G'_5)$ . The linear map  $u : \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}^N \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^N$  defined by u(p,q) = p satisfies  $(G_0)$ . Therefore the corresponding Hamiltonian system (HS) possesses infinitely many subharmonic solutions.

**Remark 4.1** We obtain the same result if we replace assumptions  $(G_2)$ ,  $(G'_4)$  and  $(G'_5)$  respectively by

$$\lim_{|y|\to\infty}\frac{G(t,y)}{|y|^2} = -\infty, \text{ uniformly in } t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

There exist constants  $\beta > \alpha - 1$ , b > 0 and r > 0 such that

$$\begin{split} G'(t,y).y - 2G(t,y) &\leq -b \, |y|^{\beta} \,, \; \forall t \in \mathbb{R}, \; \forall \; |y| \geq r, \\ G(t,y) &\leq 0, \; \forall (t,y) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{m}. \end{split}$$

**Proof of Theorem 4.1.** Choose  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . By making the change of variables  $s = k^{-1}t$ , (HS) transforms to

$$(HS_k) J\dot{y} + ku^*G'(ks, y(s)) = 0.$$

Hence, finding kT-periodic solutions of (HS) is equivalent to finding T-periodic solutions of  $(HS_k)$ . Let X be the space introduced in section 3 and consider the functional  $f_k$  defined over X by

$$f_k(y) = -\frac{1}{2} \int_0^T J\dot{y}.yds - k \int_0^T G(ks, u(y(s)))ds.$$

The assumptions of Theorem 4.1 imply that  $f_k$  is continuously differentiable in X and critical points of  $f_k$  are T-periodic solutions of  $(HS_k)$ . Let  $X^+$ ,  $X^-$  and  $X^0$  be respectively the positive, negative and null subspaces of X corresponding to the spectral decomposition of the quadratic form

$$Q(y) = -\frac{1}{2} \int_0^T J \dot{y}.y ds.$$

Then  $X = X^- \oplus X^0 \oplus X^+$  and as in Section 3, we consider the equivalent norm on X given by

$$||y||^{2} = Q(y^{+}) - Q(y^{-}) + |y^{0}|^{2},$$

where  $y = y^- + y^0 + y^+ \in X = X^- \oplus X^0 \oplus X^+$ . Then we have

$$f_k(y) = \left\| y^+ \right\|^2 - \left\| y^- \right\|^2 - k \int_0^T G(ks, u(y)) ds.$$
(4.1)

We will apply the Generalized Mountain Pass Theorem to the functional  $f_k$  over X with  $X^1 = X^+$  and  $X^2 = X^0 \oplus X^-$ . We will proceed by successive lemmas.

**Lemma 4.1** The functional  $f_k$  satisfies the Cerami's condition (C).

**Proof** Let  $(y_n)$  be a sequence such that  $(f_k(y_n))$  is bounded from above and  $||f'_k(y_n)|| (1 + ||y_n||) \longrightarrow 0$  as  $n \longrightarrow \infty$ . We claim that  $(y_n)$  is a bounded sequence in X. For otherwise, going if necessary to a subsequence, we can assume that  $||y_n|| \longrightarrow \infty$  as  $n \longrightarrow \infty$ .

By  $(G'_4)$  and (3.8), there is a constant c > 0 such that

$$G'(ks, u(y)).u(y) - 2G(ks, u(y)) \ge b |y|^{\beta} - c, \ \forall (t, y) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{m}$$

$$(4.2)$$

which implies with that

$$2f_k(y_n) - f'_k(y_n) \cdot y_n = k \int_0^T [G'(ks, u(y_n)) \cdot u(y_n) - 2G(ks, u(y_n))] ds$$
$$\geq k [b \int_0^T |y_n|^\beta \, ds - cT].$$

Hence for a given  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , we get

$$\int_0^T |y_n|^\beta \, ds \le c_1 \tag{4.3}$$

for all integer n and some positive constant  $c_1 > 0$ .

Now, let  $y_n = y_n^- + y_n^0 + y_n^+ \in X^- \oplus X^0 \oplus X^+$  and set

$$p = \frac{2\beta + 1}{2\alpha - 1} > 1 \text{ and } q = \frac{p}{p - 1} = \frac{2\beta + 1}{2\beta + 1 - \alpha}.$$
(4.4)

It follows from Höder's inequality, (3.1) and (4.3) that

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{T} |y_{n}|^{\alpha} |y_{n}^{+}| \, ds &= \int_{0}^{T} |y_{n}|^{\frac{\beta}{p}} |y_{n}|^{\alpha - \frac{\beta}{p}} |y_{n}^{+}| \, ds \\ &\leq [\int_{0}^{T} (|y_{n}|^{\frac{\beta}{p}})^{p} ds]^{\frac{1}{p}} [\int_{0}^{T} (|y_{n}|^{\alpha - \frac{\beta}{p}} |y_{n}^{+}|)^{q} ds]^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ &\leq [\int_{0}^{T} (|y_{n}|^{\beta}) ds]^{\frac{1}{p}} [\int_{0}^{T} (|y_{n}|^{\alpha - \frac{\beta}{p}})^{2q} ds]^{\frac{1}{2q}} [\int_{0}^{T} |y_{n}^{+}|^{2q} \, ds]^{\frac{1}{2q}} \\ &\leq [\int_{0}^{T} |y_{n}|^{\beta} \, ds]^{\frac{1}{p}} \|y_{n}\|_{L^{\frac{\beta + \alpha}{\beta + 1 - \alpha}}}^{\frac{\beta + \alpha}{\beta + 1 - \alpha}} \|y_{n}^{+}\|_{L^{2q}} \\ &\leq c_{1}^{\frac{1}{p}} \gamma_{\frac{\beta + \alpha}{\beta + 1 - \alpha}}^{\frac{\beta + \alpha}{2q}} \gamma_{2q} \|y_{n}\|_{2\beta + 1}^{\frac{\beta + \alpha}{\beta + 1 - \alpha}} \|y_{n}^{+}\| \end{split}$$
(4.5)

for all integer n. By  $(G_3)$ , (3.1), (3.8), (4.3) and (4.5), we have

$$\begin{aligned} f'_{k}(y_{n}).y_{n}^{+} &= \left\|y_{n}^{+}\right\|^{2} - k \int_{0}^{T} G'(ks, u(y_{n})).u(y_{n}^{+})ds \\ &\geq \left\|y_{n}^{+}\right\|^{2} - k \int_{0}^{T} |G'(ks, u(y_{n}))| \left|u(y_{n}^{+})\right| ds \\ &\geq \left\|y_{n}^{+}\right\|^{2} - ka \int_{0}^{T} (|u(y_{n}))|^{\alpha} + 1) \left|u(y_{n}^{+})\right| ds \\ &\geq \left\|y_{n}^{+}\right\|^{2} - ka M^{\alpha+1} \int_{0}^{T} (|y_{n}|^{\alpha} \left|y_{n}^{+}\right| ds - ka M \int_{0}^{T} |y_{n}^{+}| ds \\ &\left\|y_{n}^{+}\right\|^{2} - ka M^{\alpha+1} c_{1}^{\frac{1}{p}} \gamma_{\frac{\beta+\alpha}{\beta+1-\alpha}}^{\frac{\beta+\alpha}{\beta+1-\alpha}} \gamma_{2q}(\left\|y_{n}\right\|^{\frac{\beta+\alpha}{2\beta+1}} \left\|y_{n}^{+}\right\| - ka M \gamma_{1} \left\|y_{n}^{+}\right\| \end{aligned}$$

for all integer n. Noting that  $\frac{\beta+\alpha}{2\beta+1} < 1$ , one sees

$$\frac{\|y_n^+\|}{\|y_n\|} \longrightarrow 0 \quad as \quad n \longrightarrow \infty.$$
(4.6)

Similarly for  $y_n^-$ , we have

 $\geq$ 

$$\frac{\|y_n^-\|}{\|y_n\|} \longrightarrow 0 \quad as \quad n \longrightarrow \infty.$$
(4.7)

On the other hand, since  $X^0$  is of finite dimension, there exists a constant  $\gamma > 0$  such that

$$||y|| \le \gamma^2 ||y||_{L^2}, \ \forall y \in X^0.$$
 (4.8)

Therefore by Hölder's inequality, (3.1) and (4.8) we have

$$\frac{1}{\gamma^2} \left\| y_m^0 \right\|^2 \le \int_0^T \left| y_m^0 \right|^2 ds \le \int_0^T \left| y_n \right|^{\frac{\beta}{\beta+1}} \left| y_n \right|^{\frac{\beta+2}{\beta+1}} ds$$

$$\leq \left[\int_{0}^{T} |y_{n}|^{\beta} ds\right]^{\frac{1}{\beta+1}} \left[\int_{0}^{T} |y_{n}|^{\frac{\beta+2}{\beta}} ds\right]^{\frac{\beta}{\beta+1}} \\ \leq (c_{1})^{\frac{1}{\beta+1}} (\gamma_{\frac{\beta+2}{\beta}})^{\frac{\beta+2}{\beta+1}} \|y_{n}\|^{\frac{\beta+2}{\beta+1}}.$$
(4.9)

Since  $\frac{\beta+2}{\beta+1} < 2$ , we deduce from (4.9)

$$\frac{\|y_n^0\|}{\|y_n\|} \longrightarrow 0 \quad as \quad n \longrightarrow \infty.$$
(4.10)

Hence by (4.6), (4.7) and (4.10) we have

$$1 = \frac{\|y_n\|}{\|y_n\|} \le \frac{\|y_n^0\| + \|y_n^-\| + \|y_n^+\|}{\|y_n\|} \longrightarrow 0 \quad as \quad n \longrightarrow \infty,$$
(4.11)

which is a contradiction. Therefore  $(y_n)$  must be bounded. Then by a standard argument,  $(y_n)$  has a convergent subsequence, which shows that  $f_k$  satisfies the Cerami's condition.

**Lemma 4.2** There exist constants m > 0 and  $\alpha > 0$  such that

$$f_k(y) \ge m, \ \forall y \in \partial B_\rho \cap X^1.$$
 (4.12)

**Proof** As in (3.26), for all  $\epsilon > 0$ , there exists a constant  $M_1 > 0$  such that

$$\left| \int_{0}^{T} G(ks, u(y)) ds \right| \le \epsilon \gamma_{2}^{2} \left\| y \right\|^{2} + M_{1} \gamma_{\alpha+1}^{\alpha+1} \left\| y \right\|^{\alpha+1}, \forall y \in X.$$
(4.13)

Now for all  $x \in X^1 = X^+$ , we have by (4.13)

$$f_{k}(y) = \frac{1}{2} \|y\|^{2} - k \int_{0}^{T} G(ks, u(y)) ds$$
$$\geq \frac{1}{2} \|y\|^{2} - k\epsilon C^{2} \|y\|^{2} - kC^{\alpha+1}M_{1} \|y\|^{\alpha+1},$$

where  $C = sup(1, \gamma_2, \gamma_{\alpha+1})$ . So letting  $\epsilon = \frac{1}{4kC^2}$  and  $\rho = \frac{1}{8}(kM_1C^{\alpha+1})^{-\frac{1}{\alpha-1}}$ , we have

$$f_k(y) \ge \frac{1}{4}\rho^2 - kM_1(C\rho)^{\alpha+1} = \frac{1}{8}\rho^2 = m > 0$$
(4.15)

for  $y \in X^1$  with  $||y|| = \rho$ .

**Lemma 4.3** There exist  $e \in X^1$  and two constants  $r_1, r_2 > 0$  such that

(4.16) 
$$f_k(y) \le 0, \ \forall y \in \partial Q,$$

where

$$Q = \{se/0 \le s \le r_1\} \oplus \{y \in X^2 / \|y\| \le r_2\}.$$

**Proof** Let  $e \in X^1$  with ||e|| = 1. By  $(G_2)$  and (3.8), there exists a constant  $M_2 > 0$  such that

$$G(ks, u(y)) \ge \gamma^2 |y|^2 - M_2, \ \forall t \in \mathbb{R}, \ \forall y \in (Ker \, u)^\perp,$$

$$(4.17)$$

where  $\gamma$  is the constant given by (4.8). It follows from (4.8) and (4.17) that for all s > 0and  $y \in X^2 = X^0 \oplus X^-$ 

$$f_{k}(se + y) = \frac{1}{2}s^{2} - \frac{1}{2} ||y^{-}||^{2} - k \int_{0}^{T} G(ks, u(se + y))ds$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{2}(s^{2} - ||y^{-}||^{2}) - k\gamma^{2} ||se + y||_{L^{2}}^{2} + kM_{2}T$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{2}(s^{2} - ||y^{-}||^{2}) - k\gamma^{2}(s^{2} ||e||_{L^{2}}^{2} + ||-||_{L^{2}}^{2} + ||y_{0}||_{L^{2}}^{2}) + kM_{2}T$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{2}s^{2} - ks^{2} - \frac{1}{2} ||y^{-}||^{2} - ||y_{0}||_{L^{2}}^{2} + kM_{2}T.$$
(4.18)

Let

$$r_1 = \frac{\sqrt{2kM_2T}}{2k-1}, \ r_2 = \sqrt{2kM_2T},$$

it is clear from (4.18) that

$$f_k(se+y) \le 0 \text{ either } s \ge r_1 \text{ or } ||y|| \ge r_2.$$

$$(4.19)$$

Let

$$Q = \{se/0 \le s \le r_1\} \oplus \{y \in X^2 / \|y\| \le r_2\}.$$
(4.20)

Then we have  $\partial Q = Q_1 \cup Q_2 \cup Q_3$ , where

$$Q_{1} = \left\{ y \in X^{0} \oplus X^{-} / \|y\| \le r_{2} \right\}, \quad Q_{2} = r_{1}e \oplus \left\{ y \in X^{0} \oplus X^{-} / \|y\| \le r_{2} \right\},$$
$$Q_{3} = \left\{ se/0 \le s \le r_{1} \right\} \oplus \left\{ y \in X^{0} \oplus X^{-} / \|y\| = r_{2} \right\}.$$

By (4.19), one has

$$f_k(y) \le 0, \ \forall y \in Q_2 \cup Q_3$$

It follows from  $(G_5)(i)$  that  $f_k(y) \leq 0$  for all  $y \in X^0 \oplus X^-$ , which implies that

 $f_k(y) \leq 0, \ \forall y \in Q_1.$ 

Hence we obtain (4.16). The proof of Lemma 4.3 is complete.

By Lemma 4.1-3, we conclude that the functional  $f_k$  satisfies all the assumptions of the Generalized Mountain Pass Theorem. Therefore for a given  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists a critical point  $y_k \in X$  of  $f_k$  such that  $f_k(y_k) > 0$ .

Finally, we claim that the system (HS) has infinitely many subharmonic solutions. Note that  $y_1(ks)$  satisfies  $(HS_k)$ , in fact

$$\frac{d}{ds}(y_1(ks)) = k\frac{dy_1}{ds}(ks) = kJu^*G'(ks, y_1(ks)).$$

If  $y_k(s) = y_1(ks)$ , it is easy to check that

$$c_k = f_k(y_k) = k f_1(y_1) = k c_1.$$
(4.21)

Since  $c_1 = f_1(y_1) > 0$ , one has that  $c_k \longrightarrow +\infty$  as  $k \longrightarrow \infty$ . Noting that

$$c_k \le \sup_{y \in Q} f_k(y) = \sup_{y \in Q} \left[\frac{1}{2}(s^2 - \left\|y^-\right\|^2) - k \int_0^T G(ks, u(y)ds] \le \frac{1}{2}r_1^2 \le M_2 T, \quad (4.22)$$

where Q is defined as in (4.20). Combining (4.21) with (4.22) yields a contradiction as  $k \to \infty$ . Therefore the sequence  $(c_k)$  of critical values is bounded and there is a  $k_1 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $y_k(s) \neq y_1(ks)$  for all  $k \geq k_1$ .

Now, consider the *T*-periodic function  $G_1(t, x) = k_1 G(k_1 t, x)$ . By the same technicals as in the previous steps, we prove that the following Hamiltonian system

$$J\frac{dz}{ds} + jG'_{1}(js, u(z)) = 0$$
(3.23)

possesses a sequence of nonzero T-periodic solutions  $(z_j)$  such that there exists an integer  $k_2$  satisfying  $z_j(s) \neq z_1(js)$  for all  $j \geq k_2$ . Moreover, from the form of (3.23) and the corresponding variational problem we have

$$z_j(s) = y_{jk_1}(s) \text{ and } y_{jk_1}(s) \neq y_1(jk_1s) \text{ for all } j \ge k_2.$$

By repeating this reasoning infinitely, we obtain a sequence  $x_1(t) = y_1(t)$ ,  $x_{k_1}(t) = y_{k_1}(\frac{t}{k_1})$ ,  $x_{k_1k_2}(t) = y_{k_1k_2}(\frac{t}{k_1k_2})$ , ... of distincts nonzero solutions of the system (HS) with  $x_l$  is lT – periodic. The proof of Theorem 4.1 is complete.

## References

- [1] Bartolo, P., Benci, V and Fortunato, D. Abstract critical point theorems and applications to some nonlinear problems with strong resonance. *Nonlinear Analysis* 7 (9) (1983) 981–1012.
- [2] Liu, C. G. Subharmonic solutions of Hamiltonian systems. Nonlinear Analysis 42 (2000) 185–198.
- [3] Li, L. and Szulkin, A. Periodic solutions for a class of nonautonomous Hamiltonian vsystems. J. Differential Equations (1993) 226–238.
- [4] Li, S. and Willem, M. Applications of local linking to critical point theory. Seminaire Mathematiques U.C.L. Rapport No. 203 (January 1992).
- [5] Rabinowitz, P.H. Minimax Methods in critical point theory with applications to differential equations. Amer. Math. Soc. Providence R. ICBMS Reg. Conf. Ser. in Math., No 65 (1986).
- [6] Rabinowitz, P.H. On subharmonic solutions of Hamiltonian systems. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. XXXIII (1980) 609–633.
- [7] Rabinowitz, P.H. Periodic solutions of Hamiltonian systems. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 31 (2) (1978) 157–184.
- [8] Scarpello, G.M. and Ritelli, D. Nonlinear dynamics of a two-degrees of freedom Hamiltonian: bifurcations and integration. *Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory* 8 (1) (2008) 97–108.
- [9] Tianqing, A. Subharmonic solutions of Hamiltonian systems and the Maslov-type index theory. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 331 (1) (2007) 701–711.
- [10] Timoumi, M. Closed orbits for a class of Hamiltonian systems. Demonstratio Mathematica XXXI (1) (1998) 1–10.
- [11] Timoumi, M. Periodic solutions for noncoercive superquadratic Hamiltonian systems. Demonstratio Mathematica XL (2) (2007) 331–346.